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GROUP STRUCTURE

P (M) AR 2 H

CHINA RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED

59.55%*

eI A R A W]
China Resources Land Limited
(B2 1L5E Stock code: 1109. HK)

FEEEE
£
Development
Property Business

82
Cities

P A AR

Product Lines

491
Projects

| 72.29%*

REUTTE
%
Investment
Property Business

REEEHE
E 7
Asset Light
Business

66
Cities
3 ERE
Product Lines
YL
5 4 Shopping Malls
E % In Operation

By
61 Shopping Malls
FAEH In Pipeline

* EZE20214 12 A31H As of 31 December 2021

ERBEREFRRAA
China Resources Mixc Lifestyle
Services Limited

(B9 R85 Stock code ¢

1209. HK)

TREEERT
E 3
Eco-system
Elementary
Business

R EE
Urban Development and
Operation

YT AT

Urban Redevelopment

REAE
Leasing Apartment

EXME
Industrial Property

REME

Senior Housing

2 3

Cinema
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NATIONWIDE PRESENCE AND RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

2021 FEAFE
Contracted Sales in 2021

315.8

AR ¥+187T RMB Billion

2021 FEHNEIE
Contracted GFA in 2021

17.6

A& 5K Million Square Meters

2021 FEF|E
Gross Profit Margin in 2021

27.0%

EEREREMFBEZERE

Total GFA of Investment Properties in Operation

13.8

A& 77K Million Square Meters

2021 FREE WA
Total Rental Income in 2021

17.4

AR ¥+187T RMB Billion

2021 YT LEER
Retail Sales of the Group’s Malls in 2021

107.2

AR¥+4187T RMB Billion
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ERBEWE
MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B 1FmhE

No. of Brands

5,000+

hEEEMEHE

No. of Luxury Stores in China

No.




;75%
million

SEHE
No. of Membership
20

&

& ohhe
No. of Luxury Brands

30+
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As the forerunner in China’s shopping malls,
MIXc has been leading new trend of lifestyle.
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MIXc One-series Malls provide one-stop solution for
shopping, F&B, entertainment, culture and sports
services, which bring unprecedented lifestyle and
shopping experience to customers.
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SHENZHEN MIXC
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BFBA - )
Tenant Mix ﬁi%ﬁf% AHEE
(EIfRfa tk by GFA) Entertainment 1 9% Appraisal Value
- 13,313
SBOA) Ap%arel BhRES ,
Supermarket & AR HE T RMB mn
Department
Store
Hfh * (o)
Others 9 A) E2 N
Rental Income
B
F&B R REAERE 1,493

Households & 1 1 0/
Personal Care (o) ARBEHE T RMB mn

* BEfhE7IA KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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HANGZHOU MIXC

HEBMK - )
Tenant Mix %iﬁgé@e’gﬁé ST

= 1as Q
(EI#&{k L by GFA) Entertainrment 1 7% Appraisal Value

7,414

Supermarket &

PeBEIE AR E T RMB mn

Store

31 % Ei?p%arel

B13% o

Rental Income

FARBEALE 974

Households & [0)
Personal Care 12 /0 AR EHE T RMB mn

23% &

* BEfhBEIH KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.

EHBEMAR AT China Resources Land Limited 013
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SHENYANG MIXC
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HEBR
Tenant Mix
(FEIF&15 tL by GFA)

TE RIREE
Kids" &
Entertainment

14%

il WA

33 0/0 i%fa rel

HEmEBEE
Supermarket &
Department
Store

A *
Others

13%

FHEE
Appraisal Value

5,780

AREEBHEIL RMB mn

B
F&B

KA R MEAER
Households &
Personal Care

12%

* B EEI A KA 20 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.

014

—ZT - —FE#HE  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

GEL N

Rental Income

1,003

AR B EIT RMB mn




IR S 5 I
CHENGDU MIXC
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HEB I
Tenant Mix %iﬁﬁﬂﬁ )
(HE7& &t by GFA) Entertainment 15 A)

BhkAE

Supermarket &
Department (o)
Store 7 /O

26% iﬁpfarel

o 14%

S
Appraisal Value

6,070

AR BEEIT RMB mn

23% &

RAREAER
Households & (0)
Personal Care 15 A)

* BEfhBEIH KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.

GERAL N

Rental Income

643

AR®BEIL RMB mn
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NANNING MIXC
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HEBRK -
Tenant Mix %;&&g%
(ET&1h tL by GFA) Kids’ &

Entertainment

9%

23 % i&p%arel

17% &

29%

S
Appraisal Value

5,310

AR BEEIT RMB mn

BHkAE
Supermarket &
Department
Store

Hiy

Others

RAREAER
1 [0) Households &
1 /O Personal Care

11%

016

* BEfhE7IA KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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HE2 WA

Rental Income

715

ARBEBEIT RMB mn
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CHONGQING MIXC

HEER -
Tenant Mix %iw;e%
(& 15 Lt by GFA) Kids’ &

Entertainment

27% Eifarel

BhkEE
Supermarket &
Department
Store

S
Appraisal Value

5,181

AREEEHEIL RMB mn

A *
Others

22% &

12%

KA R EAER
Households &
Personal Care

11%

* BEfhBEIH KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.

GERAL N

Rental Income

529

AR® B EIT RMB mn
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XIAMEN MIXC
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2020FMAZG-208

¥iaMen China

EEFEATORE P

HEBA S ERIRE -
Tenant Mix Kids' & 16% AHE1E
(ETF& {5 L by GFA) Entertainment 6 (0) Appraisal Value

BmAkBEE
Supermarket &
Department ,

Store AREEBHEIL RMB mn

| EHfh* (o)
Others 16 /0
HE WA
Rental Income
R R AEAEE

3 2 0/0 i%fa rel

Households & (0) 559
Personal Care 8 A)

AR B EIT RMB mn

* B EEI A KA 20 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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SHENZHEN MIXC WORLD

HEEA
Tenant Mix %EES‘*% TEE
= 1as Q
(E#&E1E EL by GFA) Entertainrment 1 7% Appraisal Value
7,550
32% AREE Supermarket & /4
Apparel Department w R
Store AR BEEIT RMB mn
HAph* (o)
A Others 6 /0
HEWA
= B A A Rental Income

bersonai core 15%0 742

AR B EIT RMB mn

* BEfhBEIH KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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MALLS OPENED IN 2021

#FEBEY T O AR

No. of newly opened malls

9

TEHEARMEL

Contribution to the total retail sales

L ERIEL
Contribution to the total rental income

3%

FHEETEE

Av. operating profit margin

29%

TigHAE

Av. occupancy rate

99 %
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ERERM
Ningbo Mixc

“EF 8T H MAY 2021

HEBKE

Nanchang Mixc One

"R 8T H MAY 2021

ERFNEABRE
Chongging Dadukou Mixc One

“FE TN H JUN 2021



AT ERAM
Xi'an Mixc World

—“F—4LH JUL 2021

EaBERE

Yantai Mixc One

—F T —4JuH SEP 2021

EHBRE
Guiyang Mixc One

27 —8+"H DEC 2021

A ESRBE

HEIRERE
Nanning Wuxiang Mixc One

"R —HJuH SEP 2021

IISRE R

Shantou Mixc

—“F-—4%1+H OCT 2021

Shenzhen Qianhai Mixc

78+ H DEC 2021

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 021
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

REER
Year-on-Year
2021 2020 Growth
EEHE CONTRACTED SALES
SREESE(ARK+ET) Contracted Sales (RMB billion) 315.8 285.0 10.8%
AREEREmBE(EETEHXK) Contracted GFA (million sg.m.) 17.6 14.2 23.7%
SREETFHEB(ARE T/ FHAK) Contracted ASP (RMB/sg.m.) 17,988 20,091 -10.5%
FEHBER SELECTED FINANCIAL
(ARBEERT) INFORMATION (RMB MILLION)
X Revenue 212,108 179,587 18.1%
EH Gross Profit 57,200 55,415 32%
% 2R R 2 FE A S N ) Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company 32,401 29,810 8.7%
% SR IR AL 1%L F FE Core net profit attributable to
owners of the Company 26,596 24,136 10.2%
FTREEREREE SELECTED BALANCE
(AR®BEER) SHEET DATA (RMB MILLION)
MAE Total assets 949,804 869,041 9.3%
RITHEBRIRS Cash and bank balances 108,748 89,451 21.6%
BB Total debt 197,440 174,664 13.0%
IR 4R Total equity 292,076 256,242 14.0%
i R PG IR AN Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 226,529 203,458 11.3%
FEBKEER SELECTED FINANCIAL RATIOS
FEHE Gross profit margin 27.0% 30.9% -3.9pt
LA M NE S Core net profit margin 12.5% 13.4% -0.9pt
FIREREF - (AREIT) Basic earnings per share, (RMB) 4.54 4.18 8.7%
5 R (B 3 = Return on average equity 15.1% 15.7% -0.6pt
FEEHRALE S FK Net debt-to-equity ratio,
at the end of year 30.4% 33.3% -2.9pt
IneEFIEBAE - R Weighted average cost of
indebtedness, at the end of year 3.71% 4.08% -37 bps
T i f# LAND BANK
(BEEE BBYHEX) (GFA, MILLION SQ.M.)
FRITHEE Land bank at the end of year
— &5t — Total 68.73 68.09 -0.9%
— E1h — Attributable 48.89 48.01 1.8%
FRFIE T IEEE Land bank acquired during the year
— &k — Total 14.39 14.92 -3.6%
— 1 — Attributable 11.07 11.48 -3.6%

022 —=-——FE®HE  ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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HESI1%  HEHBERTEBABARBMIERE
JT HiEEQB% B AR R IR T SR K AYOE
FIFNEDIE ©

—E-—F hEEMETEEELEEENBRES
KT RANFAEEE - MISEBNE RIS

REBZBRBIZENLEES ﬁﬂhﬂ%

B BEBTARRAEEENERL - TR K
SESEROEEEEERBREER - 2F 88
RAEBEBARB2121ETL  HFHEE18.1%
IR EMLFRBAREN4E T RFEER
8.7%  ULRRE(INEFMARK2661(ET - EF
BRI102% - EFCERRTRAARBEHRAR
¥120770 RFEKRIS% 2 F IR B REHF
3% T # - BE_E-_—F+_A=1+—H0 &
FEEEARKIIET R-_E-_TFENFT
EFEERR11.4% -

b 5 24 5 700 28 5

—F  BEAZIEANEERRFERE
HEEBEIERES  THFMBARKE &
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RERG R - FHERH — e AT - BB
EREEMERAE  BLERERESEE
hﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁm$ FRN - AEE KR
ERESI2E+TRERTEERR] AE  BR
TEEEMNINBRENNRIEREE - FAREER
E¥BERFTHNBARE3ISSEL BEEE
10.8% ' JEFEXEFHEEIR °

777

| am pleased to present to shareholders the business review and
outlook of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

In 2021, China coped with unprecedented global changes and the
epidemic steadily, promoted a new economic growth pattern and
achieved high-quality growth. China’s GDP in 2021 exceeded
RMB100 trillion for another year, or 8.1% growth YoY. The total
retail sales of consumer goods reached RMB44.1 trillion, representing
a YoY growth of 12.5%. Chinese economy has shown its strong
vitality and resilience.

In 2021, Chinese property sector experienced profound
transformations with increasing market volatility and risks during
deleveraging process. With long-term business vision, the Group
enhanced its counter-cyclical capability and continued to fulfill its
commitment to create value for shareholders. During the year, the
Group’s core businesses delivered stable growth. Consolidated
turnover recognized an 18.1% YoY growth to RMB212.1 billion, net
profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company and core net
profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company amounted to
RMB32.4 billion and RMB26.6 billion, representing a growth of 8.7%
and 10.2% YoY respectively. The Board of the Company has
recommended a payment of final dividend of RMB1.207 per share,
increased 9.5% YoY. The dividend payout ratio for the year remained
at 37%. As of 31 December 2021, the net assets per share amounted
to RMB31.8, representing an increase of 11.4% comparing to the
year end of 2020.

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS

As regulatory policies and credit conditions tightened in 2021,
expectations for buying houses weakened and the market cooled off
rapidly in the second half of the year. Real estate companies
encountered with unprecedented challenges, and some peers were
exposed to increased liquidity risks. Amid industry dynamics, the
Group focused its footprint in the four national strategic regions with
penetration in first- and second-tier cities, while improved project
turnover and returns through optimizing development cycle
management and cost effectiveness. During the year, the Group was
granted the “National Top 10 Luxury Residential Product Line” award
for its “Rui” product line, indicating recognition of the
competitiveness and brand premium of our residential products. The
Group achieved its annual sales target with contracted sales of
RMB315.8 billion, up 10.8% YoY.

023
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SHOPPING MALLS

The Group is committed to building commercial moat with continuous
increase in both operational efficiency and asset scale, so as to
enhance its market leading position in China. In 2021, growing
middle-class population and rise of Generation Z propelled the
consumption upgrade, the Group actively strengthened its competitive
advantages in mid-to-high-end malls, continued to optimize tenant
mix and expand market share, showing that the Group is capable to
deliver sustainable growth in retail business. During the year, retail
sales of the Group’s malls reached RMB107.2 billion with 45% YoY
growth, and rental income increased by 38.1% YoY to RMB13.9
billion, outperformed the market average. During the year, the Group
consistently increased its investment in shopping malls, with 9 malls
opened as scheduled and acquired 12 new malls. As of the end of
2021, there were 54 MIXc shopping malls in operation and about 61
projects in pipeline.

OFFICES

The Group’s office business leads the industry in both scale and asset
quality, with a focus in core locations in first- and second-tier cities.
As of the end of 2021, there were 23 office buildings in operation.
During the year, the Group actively realigned its office leasing
strategies, seized the opportunities arisen from the strong leasing
demands in technology and financial industries during the economic
transformation and upgrading in China, and attracted high-quality
tenants such as the Top 500 and unicorn companies. The rental
income increased by 20% YoY to RMB1.9 billion.

HOTELS

Hotel is an important element for the Group’s urban development
complex, and the market influence of its own brand “MUMIAN" is
improving year by year. Mumian Chengdu Dong’an Lake Hotel
opened in September as an ancillary project for the 31st Universiade.
During the year, hotel revenue of the Group recovered by 43.9% YoY
to RMB1.6 billion, but it has not returned to the normal due to
epidemic. We believe that the hotel business can further enhance the
revenue growth and profitability post-pandemic.
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ASSET-LIGHT BUSINESS SERVICE PLATFORM

As the Group's asset-light business service platform, China Resources
Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (1209.HK, hereinafter referred to as
“Mixc Lifestyle”) is committed to becoming the “Top 1 Brand in
Commercial Operation and Management in China”. It has recorded
steady growth in core matrix and become a key driver for the Group’s
high-quality development. During the year, Mixc Lifestyle recognized
a 30.9% YoY growth in consolidated turnover to RMB8.9 billion and
core net profit attributable to the shareholders increased 108.5% YoY
to RMB1.7 billion. As of the end of 2021, there were 71 shopping
malls and 115 office projects in operation; the contracted area for
property management business was 196 million square meters, and
area under management was 155 million square meters.

ECO-SYSTEM ELEMENTARY BUSINESS

The eco-system elementary business is comprised of urban
construction and operation, leasing apartment, industrial property,
senior housing and cinema theatre etc., which derived from the real
estate industry. Urban construction and operation is an important
basis for the Group’s strategic position as an operator in urban
investment, development and operation. It has outstanding
advantages in the regional overall planning, the construction of large-
scale sports and cultural stadiums as well as operational guarantee of
national events. The Group actively promotes its regional overall
planning business and successfully won the bidding for providing pre-
development service to Shenzhen Huafu Street recently with a site
area of 5.75 square kilometers. It also successfully completed the
construction of the main venue for National Games and Paralympic
Games in Xi'an and guaranteed various sports events in 2021,
including the two events mentioned above. To respond to the
national policy on affordable rental housing, the Group actively
developed its leasing apartment business under the “Youtha” brand
with growing reputation. During the year, the revenue of leasing
apartment business amounted to RMB313 million, with 30 projects or
20,000 rooms in operation and 16 projects or 32,500 rooms in
pipeline.
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INVESTMENT AND LAND BANK

Under the “Two Centralization” policy, the Group adhered to a
prudent investment strategy and focused on the four national
strategic regions as well as first- and second-tier cities. During the
year, 61 new projects were acquired with attributable GFA of 11.07
million square meters. The investment in first- and second-tier cities
accounted for 90% and we focused on acquiring municipal TOD
commercial complex projects in Hangzhou, Nanjing, Chongging,
Changsha and Zhengzhou, etc. As of the end of 2021, the Group had
land bank with total GFA of 68.73 million square meters and
attributable GFA of 48.89 million square meters which can support
the Group's development for next 3 years or more, with high quality
in layout and structure.

FINANCIAL CAPABILITIES

Facing challenges of tightening credit policies and increasing liquidity
pressure in the industry in 2021, the Group consistently adopted
prudent financial management policy. We strengthened our cash flow
management, expanded financing channels and increased financial
facilities while optimizing the financial structure and enhancing
financial flexibility. Our debt ratio and financing cost were among the
lowest in the industry. During the year, Standard & Poor’s, Moody's,
and Fitch Ratings maintained the Company’s credit ratings of “BBB+/
Stable”, “Baa1/Stable”, and “BBB+/Stable”.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (ESG)

The Group is committed to enhancing ESG and achieving sustainable
development. In 2021, the Group actively responded to the national
dual-carbon strategy and established a dedicated team carrying out
research on dual-carbon goals and its implementation. Under the
national rural revitalization strategy, we completed and delivered the
Yan'an Hope Town and the Nanjiang Hope Town is also under
planning and construction. We explored green financing and
successfully obtained ESG loans of about HK$2.7 billion. During the
year, the Group’s ESG rating was upgraded to BBB by MSCI, and was
selected as a constituent stock of the Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Benchmark Index as well as the State-owned ESG50
Pioneer Index launched by the Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council.
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2022, China’s economic development will still be
under the pressures of demand contraction, supply shock and
weakening expectations. The Central Economic Work Conference put
forward the approach of “ensuring stability a top priority while
pursuing progress” with an aim to ensure that the macro-economy
maintains stable development. Although the business logic and
competition landscape of the property sector have changed
profoundly, we believe that there will be positive growth
opportunities for high-quality companies thanks to urbanization,
continuous upgrading of consumption and services as well as further
industry consolidation.

Development property business: The stable and healthy long-term
development of real estate market is supported by further in-depth
urbanization progress in China and strong demand for both end user
and upgrading purposes. But there are many risks and challenges,
too. In the long run, the industry is exposed to risks such as declining
market volume, narrowing profit margins and intensifying regional
divergence. In near term, expectations for home purchasing and
market transactions will be relatively sluggish, and some property
developers still have outstanding credit risks. The Group will continue
to strengthen sales and cash flow management and leverage its
financing advantages to seize investment opportunities. On the basis
of disciplined investment and return requirements, we will acquire
land from diversified accesses including open markets and M&A to do
precise investment, improve land quality for better sales and
sustainable high-quality growth.

Investment property business: Chinese economy is shifting
towards consumption-driven model. With steady growth in residence
income and the continuous consumption upgrading, China’s
consumer market has strong growth potential in the long term. The
Group will continue to consolidate its competitive edges in the mid-
to-high-end retail market, and take various measures to drive steady
growth in both asset value of investment portfolios and the rental
income. We will increase our market share by expanding footprints in
key commercial areas of core cities in an orderly manner. We will
review the performance of our investment portfolios, focus on value
appreciation of core assets and facilitate organic growth through
efficient renovation; for high-quality assets with stable long-term
income performance, we will proactively explore diversified
securitization channels to realize asset-recycling.
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Asset Light Business Service: In 2022, Mixc Lifestyle will maintain
high-quality development, strengthen third-party business expansion
and consolidate its position in the industry. In terms of commercial
management, it will continue to strengthen the competitive edges by
focusing on talent training, enhancing commercial products and
establishing operating capabilities in all aspects. For property
management, it will comprehensively improve the consistency of
service quality and continue to enhance core competitiveness in
managing and serving city areas by focusing on landmark projects.
Meanwhile, it will promote technology utilization and space
management, develop an integrated membership system across
business scenarios to attract customers from different segments and
drive business development.

Eco-system Elementary Business: The Group’s eco-system
elementary businesses continue to play an important role to serve the
core businesses with land access synergy and brand influence. Sticking
to asset light business model, the Group will build capability and
reputation in construction and operation, taking projects such as
government projects, large-scale stadiums, complex projects and
affordable housings based on its successful track records. Moreover,
the Group will actively grasp opportunities from increasing rental
housing land supply in the future and explore long-term sustainable
profit models and innovative financing platforms to increase
investment so as to take the first mover advantages.

Strategically positioned as “an operator in city investment,
development and operation”, the Group has laid a solid foundation
for future development after more than a decade of development. In
view of the uncertainties in the future, the Group will actively
response to industry challenges, seize opportunities and adhere to the
principle of strategic driven investment and improve its investment
quality through further penetration in first- and second-tier cities,
while maintaining healthy cash flows. We will also refine the
management of production and operation to enhance the profitability
and competitiveness of the projects. In addition, we will inspire vitality
and innovation for sustainable growth in earnings and shareholder
value.

Finally, on behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my
sincere appreciation to shareholders, customers and all related parties
for your long-term support and trust in the Group.

WANG Xiangming
Chairman
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In 2021, the Group’'s businesses maintained stable development.
During the year, the progress of sales, construction and operation of
various projects were in line with expectations, laying a solid
foundation for the 2021 annual results.

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS
1. REVIEW OF CONTRACTED SALES
In 2021, the Group achieved 10.8% YoY growth in contracted

sales to RMB315.76 billion, and 23.7% YoY growth in
contracted GFA to 17.55 million square meters.

The Group's contracted sales breakdown by region in 2021 is
set out in the table below:

EHE HEHNEE

& 35, Region Contracted Sales Contracted GFA
AR®T T % SERHK %
RMB’000 % Sgm %
ES N North China Region 53,801,542 17.0% 3,530,293 20.1%
ERAR East China Region 73,648,084 23.3% 3,170,652 18.1%
FE AR South China Region 34,900,120 11.1% 1,902,351 10.8%
FEP KR West China Region 36,883,485 11.7% 3,043,242 17.3%
ESIpN Northeast China Region 25,410,540 8.0% 2,246,233 12.8%
SN Central China Region 28,033,062 8.9% 2,031,608 11.6%
FI K= Shenzhen Region 63,078,211 20.0% 1,629,256 9.3%
ast Total 315,755,044 100.0% 17,553,635 100.0%

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 029
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2.

REVIEW OF REVENUE

In 2021, the Group achieved 17.0% YoY growth in
development property revenue to RMB183.86 billion with
41.5% YoY increase in booked GFA to 14.76 million square
meters. The gross profit margin of development property of the
Group was 23.7% in Year 2021.

RNEBR T - —FHEEEBREEKD The Group's revenue breakdown by region in 2021 is listed as
T below:
EHEXHR HEEEE
Eig Region Revenue GFA Booked
ARBT % FHK %
RMB’000 % Sqm %
FEL K& North China Region 40,937,379 22.3% 2,793,790 18.9%
= N East China Region 33,034,989 18.0% 2,405,399 16.3%
EEAR South China Region 16,992,190 9.2% 1,462,919 9.9%
EF KR West China Region 34,631,886 18.8% 3,800,281 25.7%
SN Northeast China Region 21,988,641 12.0% 2,124,655 14.4%
BN Central China Region 14,194,530 7.7% 1,188,438 8.1%
SRR = Shenzhen Region 22,081,709 12.0% 988,488 6.7%
il Total 183,861,324 100.0% 14,763,970 100.0%
HE_Z-_—F+-A=+—H0 KxEED As of 31 December 2021, the Group had unbooked contracted

%ﬁﬁa SREEFAEMECERARE
QATMVETL - BEEEEE - A ARK
TANMNETBR-ZZE-Z_FHEE AL &HE
CECCFMEEERIT T TRENER -
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sales of RMB217.1 billion that are subject to future recognition
as development property revenue, among which RMB141.1
billion will be recognized in 2022, a solid foundation for good
results in 2022.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS

SHOPPING MALL

In 2021, the revenue from shopping malls reached RMB13.94
billion, with a YoY growth of 38.1%. The occupancy rate
increased by 2.3 percentage points YoY to 97.0%. The total
carry amount of the Group’s shopping malls after asset
valuation was RMB166.42 billion with a revaluation gain of
RMB6.96 billion, accounted for 17.5% of the Group's total
assets. As at 31 December 2021, the GFA of the Group's
shopping malls in operation achieved 6.69 million square meters
and the attributable GFA was 5.61 million square meters.

OFFICE

In 2021, the revenue from office reached RMB1.92 billion, with
a YoY growth of 20.0%. The occupancy rate decreased by 2.7
percentage points YoY to 79.2%. The total carry amount of the
Group's office after asset valuation was RMB34.84 billion with a
revaluation gain of RMB1.08 billion, accounted for 3.7% of the
Group's total assets. As at 31 December 2021, the GFA of the
Group's office in operation achieved 1.29 million square meters
and attributable GFA was 1.02 million square meters.

HOTEL

In 2021, the revenue from hotel reached RMB1.57 billion, with
a YoY growth of 43.9%. The average occupancy rate decreased
by 1.7 percentage points YoY to 46.3%. The book value of the
Group's hotels in operation was RMB10.37 billion (including
land use right), accounted for 1.1% of the Group's total assets.
As at 31 December 2021, the GFA of the Group’s hotels in
operation achieved 0.67 million square meters and attributable
GFA was 0.58 million square meters.

FHEMAPR A China Resources Land Limited 031



o PR o s 5203 e
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

AREB T - FHHENTELLETHE Details of the Group's key investment properties opened in
BHEFHNT : 2021 are listed below:
REBE R LA
Interest BMEEEE BOEEERE
MEERE FRiE ™ Attributable Total  Attributable
Investment Property City to the Group GFA GFA
(FFHK) (FFFH3K)
(Sqm) (Sqm)
ERBRM B 33.339% (i) tote) 281,096 93,699
Ningbo Mixc Ningbo
Hep e [CES 159,117 53,039
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 121,979 40,660
Car Park
BEXNEOBRE BE 100.0% 88,291 88,291
Chongging Dadukou Mixc One Chongging
Hep e [GES 68,353 68,353
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 19,938 19,938
Car Park
MEERIE = 51.0% 80,445 41,027
Nanchang Mixc One Nanchang
Hep e [EES 33,747 17,211
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 46,698 23,816
Car Park
AR ERRM (g3 100.0% 78,611 78,611
Xi'an Mixc World Xi'an
Hep e [GES 78,611 78,611
Comprising: Commercial
HE A RBRIE & 51.0% 88,309 45,038
Nanning Wuxiang Mixc One Nanning
Hep: [ 57,437 29,293
Comprising: Commercial
BE5 30,872 15,745
Car Park
IISEE RN SILIEE 51.0% 243,223 124,044
Shantou Mixc Shantou
Hep e [EES 168,074 85,718
Comprising: Commercial
B85 75,149 38,326
Car Park

032 —=——4E®H%E  ANNUAL REPORT 2021



REBIFR LA
Interest HIEEEE BEEEEEE

YIEEE FrER ™ Attributable Total  Attributable
Investment Property City to the Group GFA GFA
(FFFHK) (FEFHK)
(Sqm) (Sqm)
HEBRE a 100.0% 189,448 189,448
Yantai Mixc One Yantai
Hep: [HES 122,417 122,417
Comprising: Commercial
(=E5 67,031 67,031
Car Park
BRAE el 50.0% 226,243 113,122
Qianhai Mixc Shenzhen
He: [HES 75,475 37,738
Comprising: Commercial
(= 150,768 75,384
Car Park
EGBRIE =) 100.0% 155,966 155,966
Guiyang Mixc One Guiyang
Hep: [HES 99,282 99,282
Comprising: Commercial
(= 56,684 56,684
Car Park
&t 1,431,631 929,246
Total
Hr:
Comprising:
[GES 862,513 591,662
Commercial
FES 569,118 337,584
Car Park
2 AREBERIAAE=STZ— - HEFRBMAL/)N Note: The interest attributable to the Group is one-third (rounded to the
BT o nearest two decimal places).

FHEMAPR A China Resources Land Limited 033
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ASSET LIGHT BUSINESS

In 2021, the Group’s commercial operation and property
management business “China Resources Mixc Lifestyle” recorded
stable results. As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s property
management business covered 100 cities across China, and the
contracted area for property management business was 196 million
square meters, representing an increase of 30.3% from the year end
of 2020. During the year, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle realized a
revenue of RMB8.88 billion, increased by 30.9% YoY, of which
RMB5.31 billion was from residential property management services,
and RMB3.57 billion was from commercial operation and property
management services.

ECO-SYSTEM ELEMENTARY BUSINESS

In 2021, the revenue of the Group’s eco-system elementary business
(including urban construction and operation, leasing apartment,
senior housing, cinema, etc.) was RMB16.73 billion (including the
intra-group business), of which RMB15.97 billion was from urban
construction and operation business.

SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES AND
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2021, with the good sales performance of development projects
and the improvement of operating performance of investment
properties, sales and marketing expenses accounted for 2.9% of the
revenue, representing a decrease of 0.1 percentage points as
compared with the same period last year, and general and
administrative expenses accounted for 2.8% of the revenue, the same
as last year.

SHARE OF PROFITS OF INVESTMENTS IN
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

In 2021, with the increase in the recognition scale from the associates
and joint ventures, the Group’s share of profits of investments in
associates and joint ventures totaled RMB4.30 billion, representing an
increase of 43.3% as compared with the same period last year.
During the year, the share of profits of investments in associates was
RMB1.49 billion, a YoY increase of 35.4%, and the share of profits of
investments in joint ventures was RMB2.81 billion, a YoY increase of
47.8%.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Income tax expenses include enterprise income tax (including deferred
taxation) and land appreciation tax. In 2021, the Group’s income tax
expenses were RMB22.97 billion, representing a decrease of 11.9%
as compared with the same period last year. During the year, the
enterprise income tax expenses (including deferred taxation) were
RMB13.77 billion, increased by 4.7% YoY, while the land appreciation
tax was RMB9.20 billion, decreased by 28.9% YoY.

LAND BANK

In 2021, the Group acquired 61 quality land parcels totaling 14.39
million square meters in GFA with a total land premium of
RMB148.96 billion (attributable land premium amounted to
RMB112.65 billion). As of 31 December 2021, the GFA of the Group's
land bank totaled 68.73 million square meters.

1. PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

As of 31 December 2021, the Group's land bank for property
development totaled 57.78 million square meters with
attributable GFA of 40.91 million square meters.

HMELEEE EIEEEE

Attributable

EiF Region Total GFA GFA
(EAK) (SEA3K)

(Sqm) (Sqm)

BN North China Region 8,252,659 4,188,322
ERAR East China Region 9,649,229 6,244,978
BRIy N South China Region 8,903,622 5,932,402
Bty N West China Region 8,675,378 7,871,102
Sl N Northeast China Region 6,778,933 6,300,287
BN Central China Region 9,785,722 6,676,824
YR Shenzhen Region 5,670,754 3,648,874
B Hong Kong 64,759 44,238
&5t Total 57,781,056 40,907,027

HEBEIARAF 035

China Resources Land Limited
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s land bank for investment
properties totaled 10.95 million square meters with attributable
GFA of 7.98 million square meters. Among which, the land
bank of shopping malls was 7.52 million square meters,
accounting for 68.7%, and mainly distributed in 30 core cities
such as Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Hangzhou,
Nanjing and Chengdu.

Investment properties business, shopping malls in particular, is
one of the Group'’s key businesses. Next two to three years will
continue to be the peak years for new openings of shopping
malls. The Group will further improve efficiency in construction
and operation of its investment properties to ensure stable
rental income growth and earnings sustainability.

HEEHE ESEEEE
Attributable

ER Product Total GFA GFA
(FEFHK) (FEFHK)

(Sqm) (Sqm)

RIEEEE Total GFA 10,946,384 7,980,871
Hr - YR Comprising: Shopping mall 7,523,661 5,641,070
=ETE Office 1,587,655 1,021,191

BTE Hotel 900,702 680,497

N Leasing Apartment 838,223 551,521

&5 Senior Housing 79,892 79,892

EXE Industrial Park 16,751 6,700

THRBEATEERENFEERE-—SS
BETERE - KRR AEESREXBERS
2 EREVHEREOAET - BAEWITH
BRREFRER  BEZRE[HEE B
= #AMB BEBLRELE LER
BEO  MAEHRBAMHEE WBB%
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Sufficient land bank reinforces the foundation for sustainable
growth. Looking ahead, while keeping a balance between
healthy financial position and growth pursuit, the Group will
strictly follow its financial hurdles to replenish quality land bank
on selective basis through diversified channels with further
penetration in key regions to match its development strategies
and business model, as well as continuously optimize its
investment structure in land bank structure, the investment
rhythm and the geographic exposure.
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DEBT RATIOS

As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s total debt outstanding balance
was equivalent to RMB197.4 billion while its cash and bank balance
were equivalent to RMB108.7 billion. The Group’s net interest-bearing
debt to equity (including minority interests) ratio was 30.4%.

FINANCING COST

As of 31 December 2021, the non-RMB net interest-bearing debt
exposure of the Group was 17.1%. Approximately 28% of the total
interest-bearing debt was repayable within one year while the rest
was long-term interest-bearing debt. The Group maintained its
borrowing cost at a sector-low level. The weighted average financing
cost was approximately 3.71% as at 31 December 2021, 37 basis
points lower than 4.08% as at end of 2020.

FINANCING THROUGH OPEN MARKET

To better support future growth, broaden funding channels and
further reduce funding cost, the Group raised a total of RMB20.5
billion by issuing corporate bonds, medium-term notes and
commercial mortgage backed securities (“CMBS") during the year.

Details of the Group’s funding through open market in 2021 are as
follows:

HETR/4E HE EmER &8 ESAR HBAR HR FENE
Issuer/Property Currency Product Name Amount  Value Month  Maturity Month Term Coupon Rate
(BER) (%)
(Million) (Years)
FRENERARAA N Al 1,000 2021518 204%18 3 330%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds January 2021 January 2024
MEHRERAE ARH BENERA 3000 202163R 20326124 3434343 3.90%
EEE
China Resources Building, Luohu District, Shenzhen ~ RMB CMBS March 2021 December 2032
ZREHERBRAA AE¥ b 1500 2021658  2023%5A 2 329%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes May 2021 May 2023
FREBARERAA Nt b 3000 2001858 204%5R 3 350%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes May 2021 May 2024
ZRERERERAA ARE Gk 1500 2021%58 2026454 5 3.84%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes May 2021 May 2026
ERENERERAA N Gk 2000 2021478 204%7R 3 338%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes July 2021 July 2024
ZRENERERAA AE% PR 1500 201578 2026%7A 5 3.70%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Medium-term Notes July 2021 July 2026
ERESH N BEEER 4501 2021%108 2039584 34343434343 358%
ERRRES
Chongging Mixc RMB CMBS October 2021 August 2039
FRENERBRAA Nt Al 2500 20215128 0245128 3 3.05%
China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited ~ RMB Corporate Bonds December 2021 December 2024
At 20,502
Total
EHEMAR AT China Resources Land Limited 037
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CREDIT RATINGS

In 2021, Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch maintained the
Company’s credit ratings at BBB+/stable, Baa1/stable and BBB+/stable
respectively.

ASSET PLEDGE

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total loan credit line of
RMB48.5 billion through asset pledge with tenors ranging from 2 to
25 years, and the Group’s total balance of asset-pledged loan was
RMB27.6 billion.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had principal amount of
approximately US$0.6 billion (equivalent to RMB3.83 billion) cross-
currency swap contracts to hedge exchange rate and principal amount
of approximately GBP85.8 million (equivalent to RMBO0.74 billion)
interest rate swap contracts to hedge interest rate risk. Two-way
volatility of RMB exchange rate may increase as RMB exchange
mechanism becomes more market-oriented. However, the Group's
foreign exchange risk is well under control and RMB exchange rate
fluctuations will not pose a material impact on the Group’s financial
position. The Group will closely monitor its exchange risk exposure
and make necessary adjustment based on market changes.

EMPLOYEE AND COMPENSATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had 49,478 full time employees
in Mainland China and Hong Kong (including property management
and agency subsidiaries). The Group remunerates its employees based
on their performance, working experience and market salary levels. In
addition, performance bonus is granted on a discretionary basis.
Other employee benefits include provident fund, insurance and
medical coverage.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Certain temporary guarantees were provided to banks with respect to
mortgage loans procured by some purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the
issuance of the real estate ownership certificate to the purchasers or
the receipt of mortgaged loan by the purchasers, whichever is earlier.
In the opinion of the Board, the fair value of these financial guarantee
contracts is insignificant.
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Mr. Wang Xiangming, aged 59

is the Chairman of China Resources Group, and he
was appointed as Chairman of the Board, a non-
executive Director of the Company and chairman of
Nomination Committee of the Company in December
2019. Prior to that, Mr. Wang served as the Director
and General Manager of China State Construction
Engineering Corporation, and the President and
Director of China State Construction Engineering
Corporation Limited. Mr. Wang is a professor-level
senior engineer and titled National Model Worker. He
is also an expert entitled to the special government
allowances of the State Council. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Industrial and Civil Construction
Professional at Nanjing Tech University. He joined
China Resources Group in 2019 and was the Director
and General Manager of China Resources Group.

Mr. Li Xin, aged 50

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a
Co-president of the Company in July 2016, and he
was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company in April 2017, and was appointed as the
President of the Company in December 2018. He is
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group. He is also the Chairman of the Executive
Committee and the Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee, and a member of Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. In August 2020, Mr. Li was appointed as
the Chairman and a non-executive director of China
Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (CR Mixc
Lifestyle), which is a subsidiary of the Company and
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. Li also served as the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of CR Mixc Lifestyle. Mr. Li
is also a director of a number of other subsidiaries of
the Company.

Mr. Li has a Bachelor’s degree of Management from
Dongbei University of Finance & Economics and a
Master of Science degree in Project Management
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Li has
extensive experience in property management and
corporate management. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1994, and had
worked for China Resources Property Management
Limited.
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Mr. Zhang Dawei, aged 53

joined the Company in 2006 and was appointed as a
Co-president of the Company in July 2016, and he
was appointed as an executive Director in April 2017,
and was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board
of the Company on December 2018 and was
appointed as Chief Operating Officer of the Company
and the Chairman (non-executive) of South China
region of the Company in January 2021. He is also a
member of the Executive Committee of the
Company. Mr. Zhang is also a director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhang has a Bachelor’'s degree of Structural
Engineering and a Master's degree of Earthquake
Engineering from Dalian University of Technology,
and an EMBA degree from China Europe International
Business School in China. Mr. Zhang has extensive
experience in property management and corporate
management. Mr. Zhang joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1994, and had
worked for China Resources Construction Co.,
Limited.

Mr. Xie Ji, aged 49

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President of the Company in June 2013
and an executive Director of the Company in April
2017, and was appointed as Chief Strategy Officer of
the Company in January 2021. He is responsible for
strategy and investment. He is also the Chairman
(non-executive) of the West China Region and Middle
China Region of the Company. He is also a member
of the Executive Committee and the Corporate Social
Responsibility Committee of the Company. Mr. Xie is
also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Xie has a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering
from Tongji University in China, and an EMBA degree
from China Europe International Business School in
China. Mr. Xie has extensive experience in property
management and corporate management. Mr. Xie
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
in 1993, and had worked for China Resources
Construction Co., Limited.
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Mr. Wu Bingqi, aged 50

joined the Company in 2007 and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President of the Company in October
2013, and was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company on February 2019, and was appointed
as the Chief Human Resource Officer of the Company
and the Chairman (non-executive) of North China
Region of the Company in January 2021. He is also a
member of the Executive Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wu is also a director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company.

Mr. Wu has a Bachelor’s degree of Industrial and Civil
Architecture Engineering from Tongji University in
China, and an MBA degree from the University of
South Australia in Australia. Mr. Wu has extensive
experience in property and corporate management.
Mr. Wu joined China Resources (Holding) Company
Limited in 1993, and had worked for China Resources
Property Management Limited.

Mr. Guo Shiqing, aged 52

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a
Deputy General Manager of the Northeast Region of
the Company in 2017, taking charge of the finance
department, and General Manager of Finance
Department of the Company in October 2018. He
was then appointed as an Assistant President and
Chief Financial Officer in June 2020. Mr. Guo was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company
and a member of Executive Committee of the
Company in December 2020 and was also appointed
as a non-executive director and a member of the
Audit Committee of CR Mixc Lifestyle in August
2020, which is the subsidiary of the Company and
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

Mr. Guo has a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from

Xiamen University and has extensive experience in
real estate management and finance management.
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Mr. Liu Xiaoyong, aged 58

was appointed as non-executive Director of the
Company in October 2021. Prior to that, Mr. Liu
joined China Resources Capital Holdings Company
Limited in 2015 and was appointed as the General
Manager. He was appointed as Chairman of China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. and CRC Assets
Management Limited Company in 2016, and
appointed as Chairman of China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd. in 2017. In 2019, Mr. Liu joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, appointed as
the Senior Deputy General Manager of Strategic
Management Department. Prior to that, Mr. Liu has
served for the Head Office of People’s Bank of China,
The China Banking Regulatory Commission, Shanxi
Branch of The China Banking Regulatory Commission
and etc. Mr. Liu obtained a Master’s degree in
Finance and a Doctor’s degree in Monetary Banking
from PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University, a
EMBA from Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business and a Post-Doctor degree in Applied
Economics from Guanghua School of Management
of Peking University. He has extensive experience in
finance and management. He is currently a non-
executive director of China Resources Gas Group
Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1193).

Mr. Zhang Liang, aged 59

was appointed as non-executive Director of the
Company in October 2021. Prior to that, Mr. Zhang
joined China Resources Group in 1994 and had since
then been responsible for marketing and promotional
activities. He was the Regional General Manager
(Sichuan) of China Resources Snow Breweries Limited
and the Deputy General Manager of China Resources
Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. He joined the China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited in 2013 and was
appointed as Vice President. He was then appointed
as Senior Vice President of China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited in 2014 and had served various
managerial positions including the Chief Marketing
Officer and the Regional General Manager of Hainan
and Guangdong. Mr. Zhang obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in engineering from the Dalian Institute of
Light Industry (currently known as Dalian Polytechnic
University), China in 1984. He has over 30 years of
experience in marketing and corporate management.
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Mr. Dou lJian, aged 54

was appointed as non-executive Director of the
Company in October 2021. Prior to that, Mr. Dou
joined Xuzhou China Resources Power Ltd in 1999,
was appointed as Chief Legal Consultant and Director
of Audit and Internal Control in 2010. He was then
appointed as Assistant Director of Strategic
Management Department of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 2012, appointed as
Deputy Director of Strategic Management
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 2016. Mr. Dou has a Bachelor’s degree in
Computer Science from Anhui University and a MBA
from Cardiff Business School (UK). He has extensive
experience in strategic management, legal, audit and
internal control.

Ms. Cheng Hong, aged 55

was appointed as non-executive Director of the
Company in October 2021. Prior to that, Ms. Cheng
joined Shenzhen International Trust and Investment
Corp. (Now China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.) in
1993, and was appointed as the Deputy General
Manager in 2016. She was also appointed as the
Deputy General Manager of SZITIC Commercial
Property Co., Ltd in 2004. Ms. Cheng Hong obtained
a Bachelor’s degree and a Master’s degree in Biology
from the Wuhan University, and a Master’s degree in
Law from Renmin University of China. She has
extensive experience in management, real estate
financing and commercial property management.
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Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, aged 77

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2005. He also
serves as the Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee and a member of Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Social Responsibility Committee of the Company.

Mr. Ho is a graduate from the Department of
Architecture of University of Hong Kong. He worked
in several renowned architectural practices in UK and
HK before founding hpa (previously known as Ho &
Partners Architects Engineers and Development
Consultants Limited) in 1980. He is an Authorized
Person (Architect) Hong Kong, Member of Hong
Kong Institute of Architects and of Royal Institute of
British Architects. The projects he designed can be
found in Mainland China, Hong Kong, United
Kingdom, India, South-East Asia and Middle East, he
has published a book called “Building in China”.

Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, aged 64

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2006. He also serves
as the Chairman of the Company’s Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. He is the Founding
Managing Partner of SAIF Partners. Prior to joining
SAIF Partners, he was the Managing Director and
Head of Hong Kong office of Emerging Markets
Partnership, the management company of AIG Asian
Infrastructure Funds from 1994 to 2001. From 1989
to 1994, he worked in the World Bank, the Hudson
Institute and the US Sprint International Corporation
as an Economist, Research Fellow and Director of
Strategic Planning and Business Development for the
Asia Pacific Region respectively in Washington D.C..
From 1982 to 1984, he was the Chief Engineer at the
Jianghuai Airplane Corp..

Mr. Yan received a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering
from Nanjing Aeronautic Institute (now called Nanjing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics) in 1982.
He studied in the Master Program in Department of
Sociology of Peking University from 1984 to 1986
and received a Master of Arts’ Degree from Princeton
University in International Political Economy in 1989.
He also studied advanced finance and accounting
courses at the Wharton Business School in 1995.
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Currently, Mr. Yan is a director of ATA Creativity
Global (former called ATA Inc.) (listed on Nasdaq), an
independent director of 360 DigiTech, Inc. (former
called 360 Finance Inc.) (listed on NASDAQ) and also
an independent non-executive director of China
Southern Airlines Co Ltd. (listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, Shanghai Stock
Exchange and NYSE). Besides, Mr. Yan was an
independent non-executive director of Cogobuy
Group (from 18 Jul 2014 to 1 June 2017) and China
Petroleum & Chemical Corporation (from 11 May
2012 to 14 May 2018); a non-executive director of
Ozner Water International Holding Limited (from 28
Mar 2017 to 26 Sept 2017), eSun Holdings Limited
(from 1 Sept 2011 to 7 Jan 2019), China Huiyuan
Juice Group Limited (from 28 Jul 2010 to 30 Jan
2019) and Guodian Technology & Environment Group
Corporation Limited (from 8 Jun 2012 to 6 Aug
2020), (all listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
other than that China Petroleum & Chemical
Corporation is also listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, London Stock Exchange and New York
Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan was also an independent
director of Sky Solar Holdings Limited (listed on
Nasdaq) (from 13 Nov 2014 to 1 Jun 2017), Blue
Focus Communication Group (now called BlueFocus
Intelligent Communications Group Co., Ltd) (from 27
Mar 2014 to 17 May 2020 and it is listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange — Growth Enterprise
Market), TCL Corporation (from 24 Mar 2015 to 12
Nov 2020 and it is listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange) and a director of Zhejiang Merit Interactive
Network Technology Co., Ltd (from 30 Jun 2014 to
30 May 2019 and the company listed in Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (GEM Board)on 25 Mar 2019), ATA
Online (Beijing) Education Technology Co., Ltd (from
16 Jul 2015 to 30 Aug 2018) (Its shares were
withdrawn from listing on the national Equities
Exchange and Question System in China on 10 Oct
2017) and Huize Holding Limited (from 30 Jan 2019
to 11 Feb 2020 and company listed on Nasdag on 12
Feb 2020), Shanghai Welltech Automation Co., Ltd.
(10 Jun 2019 to 12 Oct 2020 and it is listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange), Haier Smart Home Co.,
Ltd. (from 18 Jun 2019 to 2 Nov 2020 and it is listed
in the Shanghai Stock Exchange) and Shenzhen
Appotronics Corporation Ltd. (from 22 Jun 2019 to 2
Aug 2021 and it is listed in Shanghai Science and
Technology Innovation board, STAR Market).
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Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, aged 69

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2009. He also
serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wan has extensive experience in auditing and
financial management. He is a former partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong.

Mr. Wan is currently an independent non-executive
director of several companies listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, namely A-Living
Smart City Services Co., Ltd., Haitong International
Securities Group Limited, Fairwood Holdings Limited
and KFM Kingdom Holdings Limited. Mr. Wan is also
an independent director of China World Trade Center
Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange). Besides, he was an independent non-
executive director of Dalian Port (PDA) Company
Limited until 28 June 2017, S. Culture International
Holding Limited until 10 July 2017, Kerry Logistics
Network Limited until 31 May 2019, Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Company Limited until 27
June 2019, Huaneng Renewables Corporation Limited
until 28 June 2019, Harbin Bank Company Limited
until 8 October 2019 (all listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Wan is a Fellow of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Accountants, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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Mr. Zhong Wei, aged 53

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2017. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Social Responsibility Committee of the Company. Mr.
Zhong has been a professor at the Department of
Economics at Beijing Normal University since 2003.
Prior to that, Mr. Zhong had served as an associate
professor at Department of Economics at Beijing
Normal University from 1999 to 2003. Mr. Zhong
worked as a lecturer at the Business School of
Jiangnan University from July 1994 to July 1997. Mr.
Zhong also served as an assistant engineer at Wuxi
Alarm Devices Factory from July 1990 to July 1992.

Mr. Zhong graduated from Nanjing University in 1990
majoring in applied physics and from Southeast
University in 1994 majoring in industrial economics
management. Mr. Zhong received his Doctor’s degree
in 1999 from Beijing Normal University majoring in
international economics. Between September 2001
and July 2004, Mr. Zhong engaged in postdoctoral
research in management science at Tongji University.
Mr. Zhong was an independent director of Dongxing
Securities Company Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Currently, Mr.
Zhong also serves as an independent non-executive
director of Future Land Development Holdings Limited
and China Jinmao Holdings Group Limited, the shares
of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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Mr. Sun Zhe, aged 56

was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2017. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee of the Company. Mr. Sun is currently the
co-director of China Program and senior visiting
scholar at the School of International and Public
Affairs of Columbia University. He is the founding
director of the Center for U.S.-China Relations at
Tsinghua University and was a professor of
International Affairs and doctoral supervisor of
Tsinghua University from 2006 to 2016. Prior to that,
he was a professor and deputy director of the Center
for American Studies at Fudan University from 2000
to 2006. Professor Sun has taught at the East Asian
Institute, Columbia University and Ramapo College,
New Jersey. He is the author and editor of twenty-
three books on comparative politics and U.S.-China
relations.

Mr. Sun obtained a Bachelor’s and a Master’s degree
in law from Fudan University in 1987 and 1989
respectively and obtained a Doctor’s degree in
political science from Columbia University in 2000. He
also obtained a Master of Art degree majoring in
political science from Indiana State University in 1992.
Mr. Sun served as an independent non-executive
director of MGM China Holdings Limited until 27 May
2021, the shares of which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Mr. Shen Tongdong, aged 54

joined the Company in 2005, and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer of
the Company in July 2016, and is responsible for
intelligence and informatization and resigned as Chief
Information Officer of the Company in January 2022.
He was appointed as executive Director and a member
of the Executive Committee of the Company on
December 2018, and resigned as executive Director
and member of Executive Committee of the Company
in January 2021. He is also a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company. Mr. Shen is also a
director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Shen has a Bachelor’s degree of Accounting from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and a
MBA degree from the University of San Francisco in
the United States. Mr. Shen joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1991, and had
worked in its Audit Department and China Resources
(Shenzhen) Company Limited.

Mr. Kong Xiaokai, aged 53

joined the Company in 2005, and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President of the Company in July 2016,
and was appointed as the Chairman (non-executive)
of the East China Region and North-east China
Region of the Company in January 2021. He was
appointed as Chief Information Officer of the
Company in January 2022. Mr. Kong holds the
double Bachelor’s degree in Construction
Management Engineering and Computer Science and
Technology from Tsinghua University in China, and
also a Master’s degree in Construction Economics and
Management from the Department of Civil
Engineering of Tsinghua University in China. Mr.
Kong has experience in real estate management and
corporate management. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 2000, and had
worked for China Resources (Shenzhen) Co., Limited
and China Resources Sun Hung Kai Properties
(Hangzhou) Limited.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company and the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) are committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company recognizes the importance of
maintaining high standards of corporate governance to the long-term
stable development of the Group. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company has complied with the code provisions that were in
force as set out in CG Code for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities transactions
of the directors of the Company (“Directors”). The Company, having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
regarding their securities transactions during 2021.



G
EEgCEfR

EX2RBHFRIARAINEE - BREREBTE
BB MIEHIARBNEBE T - EERMBERE
WHEEENRBERBRERF  UERER
ARBZEBEERR - IS BEEENAEKAR
AZEEERERNEKT EFARRELAR
A2 ARBFEMIEHT A AR B HKEMNDE
ZIRTE °

REFSIEFEMEERENBEFEMNE  EF
SUERTHEEERTBRENBETEER
WL R AETT RIRGUBMAIES] - AR BRE B
HHIBEFSRBEITHRBENE ) - EEEE
HeH R ARRZERER CERE 2
BRRF - BEHT TRHEEREEE - 8%
TEEFZEENRHE RENFN X&) -

SEeRABTENROERERAIEARREE
B® ITEFRFATESNFEARERY
REREZSENBE RS AICEFSELBERD
B - EFTEMEFREENMARAEBH
ARERREEESHEEIBH S D AEREN
KRBT - Mz KT eRPIMEMEA

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies, objectives
and business plans for the Company, and to supervise and control the
implementation of strategies of the Company and its operations and
financial performance, and formulation of appropriate risk control
policies and procedures to ensure the achievement of the Company’s
strategic objectives. In addition, the Board is also responsible for
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance of the
Company. The Directors are accountable for promoting the success of
the Company and making decisions objectively in the best interests of
the Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility
and swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when
necessary, may delegate its managing and administrative powers to
the management, and provide clear guidance regarding such
delegation so as to avoid seriously impeding or undermining the
overall capabilities of the Board in exercising its powers. The
management meets regularly to review the strategic goals, corporate
structure, operating procedures, budget implementation, major
projects and business plans of the Company. Duties and authorities
delegated to the various board committees are described in the
respective sessions below.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced
composition of executive directors and non-executive directors helps
to ensure the independence of the Board and enables the Board to
make independent judgments effectively. The operation and
management of the Board and the day-to-day management of the
Company’s business should be clearly divided at the Board level to
ensure that there is a balance of power and authority and that power
will not be concentrated in any one individual.
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Ethnicity
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Year of Service

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2021, the Board comprised 15 Directors, including
5 non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiangming (Chairman),
Mr. Liu Xiaoyong, Mr. Zhang Liang, Mr. Dou Jian and Ms. Cheng
Hong; 5 executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Xin (President), Mr. Zhang
Dawei (Vice Chairman), Mr. Xie Ji, Mr. Wu Bingqgi and Mr. Guo
Shiging; and 5 independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr.
Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe. Members of the Board are not related to
each other, including financial, business, family or other material
relationship. The number of independent non-executive Directors
represents one third of the Board as required under Rule 3.10(A) of
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.
Members of the Board and their biographical details are set out in the
biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Company section on pages 39 to 49 of this report.

As at 31 December 2021, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:
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As at 23 August 2013, the Company established “China Resources
Land Limited Board Diversity Policy” for diversity of the Board (“Board
Diversity Policy”), and the Company revised the Board Diversity Policy
on 4 December 2018 pursuant to updated Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules, which was effective from 1 January 2019.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and professional
development program for the Directors.

During Year 2021, all Directors have been provided with monthly
updates on the Group’s business operation, position and prospects to
enable the Board and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has sent reading materials to Directors on regulatory
updates or information relevant to the Company or its business.
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In 2021, the Company provided all Directors monthly reports with
latest information on the business operation, status and prospects of
the Group, and provided two training opportunities to all Directors,
topics of which were “Real Estate Market and Policy Outlook under
New Urbanization” and “Carbon Peaking & Carbon Neutrality and
Real Estate”. Details of records of all Directors’ continuous
professional development trainings during the year are set out in
below table:

information relevant
to the Company or

BEERER2ER
Type of continuous professional development
BEAEALT
FHEB ZRH BEZEER
EEEMRESR EEREEI
Reading regulatory Taking trainings
updates or on regulatory

development
and directors’

its business duties

F+EH7 Wang Xiangming v/ 2/2
BB (R4 Liu Xiaoyong (Appointed on

‘1’)51)\5?1%?1{) 8 October 2021) v/ 0/0
ik 2E(RZT=—F Zhang Liang (Appointed on

+ANBEZT) 8 October 2021) v/ 0/0
E B(R=ZZT=——%F Dou Jian (Appointed on

+ANEB Z%%E) 8 October 2021) v 0/0
B am=—Z=——% Cheng Hong (Appointed on

+TANBEZE) 8 October 2021) v 0/0
ZF R Li Xin v 212
wARA Zhang Dawei 4 2/2
Eii Xie Ji v/ 2/2
RRH Wu Binggi v 2/2
ZhhE Guo Shiging v/ 2/2
F R Wan Kam To, Peter v 2/2
=74 Andrew Y. Yan v 2/2
EFEEL Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco v/ 2/2
& F Zhong Wei v 2/2
7 ' Sun Zhe v 2/2
B BN ——F Yan Biao (Resigned on

+ANE %%E) 8 October 2021) v 2/2
R EBR=ZZE=—%F Chen Ying (Resigned on

+TANE ﬁﬂf) 8 October 2021) v 212
T EMWZZE=_—F Wang Yan (Resigned on

+ANBEHME) 8 October 2021) v 22
R R(RZZEZ—%F Chen Rong (Resigned on

+ANBEE) 8 October 2021) v/ 2/2
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BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS

K —KH&E  Seven Board meetings and one annual general meeting (“AGM") of

the Company were held during Year 2021. The attendance of each

N Director at the meetings is set out as follows:
EEgg: BRBFKE
EEKS Name of Director Board Meeting AGM
IERTEE Non-Executive Directors
F#RH Wang Xiangming 717 1/1
s (RN —F Liu Xiaoyong' (Appointed on
+TANE Z%;E) 8 October 2021) 2/2 0/0
ik 2 (RZE=—F Zhang Liang’ (Appointed on
+ANR Z%;E) 8 October 2021) 2/2 0/0
B R (R —F Dou Jian' (Appointed on
TANBEZE) 8 October 2021) 2/2 0/0
B a4(R=ZE2=—%F Cheng Hong' (Appointed on
TANBEZT) 8 October 2021) 2/2 0/0
B (RN _Z=——4F Yan Biao? (Resigned on
+AN\BEE) 8 October 2021) 5/5 01
bR E2(R=ZE=_—F Chen Ying? (Resigned on
+ANBEHME) 8 October 2021) 2/5 0/1
T E2(R=E=_—F Wang Yan? (Resigned on
+ANBEE) 8 October 2021) 4/5 0/1
R R2(PNZZE——F Chen Rong? (Resigned on
+ANBEE) 8 October 2021) 4/5 0/1
HITEFE Executive Directors
F R Li Xin 717 171
RAE Zhang Dawei 717 11
i Xie Ji 717 171
RFRHA Wu Binggqi 6/7 11
ZhitE Guo Shiging 717 11
BUHHITESE Independent Non-Executive Directors
FIRH Wan Kam To, Peter 717 11
G Andrew Y. Yan 6/7 01
A ZEHR Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 717 11
i E Zhong Wei 6/7 11
7 B Sun Zhe 717 11
! ZEETARBITIZRESSLE L There were two board meetings held during the tenure of the Director;
2 ZEFTARBITARETEER L XREEAF 2 There were five board meetings and one AGM held during the tenure of the

g -

Director.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. Wang Xiangming is the Chairman of the Board, a non-executive
Director of the Company, and is responsible for leading the Board and
formulating the strategies and policies of the Group. During the year,
Mr. Li Xin, the President and an executive Director of the Company,
was responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Company.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, the Chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors. One
meeting between the Chairman and the independent non-executive
Directors was held during Year 2021. The attendance of each Director
at the meetings is set out as follows:

Attendance
EEFerE Chairman of the Board
B Wang Xiangming 1/1
BUIRITEE Independent Non-Executive Directors
FiH Wan Kam To, Peter 11
o Andrew Y. Yan 11
(EEEE Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 11
B F Zhong Wei Al
%= B Sun Zhe 11

REERH - BEFAWEUL - REES (FFHR
FRNTER)WESTSFLARER - LRERAT
EXHFNTES CHAERERENEER A2
AT tFRREY[BERZ]  ERBL
FNTEFHSAERAEBRETHNTS -
“E-FT-AThB BIUFRTEFER
REERBEBE | ZEET TN [LHEE )
RERBE o

T EBERER

EREFCHARFTLEAZERN - EHH
=F WERBARRZABERMAE 116105 -
ROB=FHANKRRBFAE LHARFKE
EE-R-REEENREBREE  MABRRE
FRELERAUNARNZBILRZRIESL - WE
FeHRTER ARAREZZEGUNESSR
ANREEREAN BEHBRTIXREZEE
ERRD -
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To promote a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive Directors in particular and
ensuring constructive relations between executive and non-executive
Directors, from 2017, the Company started to held “INED Forum”
each year to establish a communication platform between
independent non-executive Directors and senior management team.
On 19 November 2021, Mr. Zhong Wei being an Independent Non-
executive Director and a guest of “INED Forum” gave a lecture about
“Macro and Property”.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

All Directors entered into formal letters of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years and they are subject to re-election
by shareholders of the Company at AGM and at least once every
three years on a rotation basis in accordance with Article 116 of the
articles of association of the Company. A retiring Director is eligible
for re-election and re-election of retiring Directors at AGMs is dealt
with by separate individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at the
Board, candidates are proposed and put forward to the Board by the
nomination committee of the Company as more fully explained below
under the section on nomination committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 4 September 1998. As at 31 December 2021, all
members of the Audit Committee were independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter is the Chairman of the Committee
and other members include Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Zhong Wei and
Mr. Sun Zhe, being the independent non-executive Directors, while
Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter hold accounting-related professional
qualifications.

The Company revised terms of reference for Audit Committee on 4
December 2018, effective from 1 January 2019. The revised major
duties of the Audit Committee include:

(1)  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of its resignation or dismissal;

(2)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards, to discuss with the
external auditor before the audit commences, the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations, and to ensure co-
ordination where more than one audit firm is involved;

(3) to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services (for this purpose, “external
auditor” includes any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant
information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally), and to report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed,;
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(10)

to monitor integrity of the Company'’s financial statements and
annual report and accounts, interim report and quarterly
financial highlights (or quarterly reports when required by the
Listing Rules or when deemed appropriate by the Company),
and to review quarterly (as the case may be) significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them;

to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems, and evaluate every year
whether such systems are effective, sufficient and suitable. This
evaluation should include but not limited to all important
aspects of internal controls (including strategy, financial,
operational, information technology, risk management, legal
and compliance controls etc.), the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of
the group’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its
own initiative and the management’s response to these
findings;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of controls and management’s
response;

to review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit
function, to ensure co-ordination between the internal and
external auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Company;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure coordination
between the internal and external auditors, and to ensure that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and
monitor its effectiveness;
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to review the group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters and to
ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate
follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company's relationship with the external auditor; etc. The Audit
Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
perform its duties. The updated terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two
meetings and had reviewed the interim and annual results of the
Group, discussed and approved the relevant financial reports; it had
also reviewed the Group’s internal control system, risk assessment
result and internal audit activities.

EREZEEREN S —F72HBLENT ¢ Attendance of members of the Audit Committee in 2021 is set out as
follows:
ZEERE Committee Members Attendance
BUIHTESE Independent Non-Executive Directors
FiFH(ZEE2LE) Wan Kam To, Peter (Committee chairman) 2/2
B Andrew Y. Yan 2/2
E # Zhong Wei 2/2
% 7 Sun Zhe 2/2
FERTTEE Non-Executive Directors
T EMRZZ=—%F Wang Yan (Resigned on
+AN\BEE) 8 October 2021) 112
R R(HRZZ=—%F Chen Rong (Resigned on
+AN\BEE) 8 October 2021) 0/2
FHEMAPR A China Resources Land Limited 059
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 7 April 2005. As at 31 December

2021,

all the members of the Remuneration Committee were

independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive
Director Mr. Andrew Y. Yan is the Chairman and other members
include Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Zhong
Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, all being independent non-executive Directors.

Major duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

(M

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors’ and the senior
management remuneration, and the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Company’s corporate goals and
objectives;

to review and approve compensation payable to the executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors; and

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration, details of which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The total remuneration of executive Directors and senior management
comprises three key components, namely basic salary, bonus and the
mid-to-long term incentive scheme. The Company sets its strategic
and performance targets on an annual and long-term basis. Based on
the Company’s overall performance targets, the Company assigns
responsibilities and sets performance benchmarks and evaluation
methods for each executive Director and members of the senior
management team. To promote the achievement of annual
performance goals, actual performance is assessed against annual
performance targets in order to determine the bonus. To align the
interests of owners and management team of the Company and
promote healthy development of the Company, the mid-to-long term
incentive scheme is correlated with mid-to-long term strategic targets
of the Company and determined by evaluating the performance in
corresponding strategical period.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the policy for the remuneration of executive Directors,
assessed performance of executive Directors and senior management
and the incentive mechanism of the Company. There was one
meeting held by the Remuneration Committee to approve the
increase in salaries, bonus and the vesting plan of the mid-to-long
term incentive scheme to executive Directors and senior management
during the year. In this regard, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management of the Group
for final adoption. The attendance at this meeting is as follows:

ZEERE Committee Members Attendance
BIIRTES Independent Non-Executive Directors

B w(ZEEeFxE) Andrew Y. Yan (Committee chairman) 11
FiRE Wan Kam To, Peter 1/1
(EEE Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 1/1
& & Zhong Wei 11
7w & Sun Zhe 1/1
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REZE-_ZT-—F+-_A=+—RHILFEE 58 For the year ended 31 December 2021, the details of the

BEEBABZKERNHHAMAMAT - remuneration of the members of the senior management were as
follows:
(AR®T )
(RMB’000)
e REMEF Salaries and other benefits 65,627.59
RIREFIETEIHE R Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 1,388.45

Bitat - Notes:

a FEEEREABREARRNTESNEMSEE 4 The above members of senior management included the executive Directors
BAE: and other members of senior management of the Company;

b TEEEBABPEINR_T_—F+=-A—H b Included in the above members of senior management, there is one member
WARRRBE - LABIBERBEZATR T =—F who resigned effective from 1 December 2021. The above figures only
—RB—REZZ_—F+A—HHOHM - included his remuneration from 1 January 2021 to 1 December 2021.

=EERABZKERBEE D 2 FH W5 The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band

N is set out below:

AE
£ EX | Remuneration band Number of persons
& AR ¥ 7,000,001 TLE 9,000,0007T  RMB7,000,001 to RMB9,000,000 per annum 7
&4 AR # 9,000,001 7LE 11,000,0007c  RMB9,000,001 to RMB11,000,000 per annum 1

BREFMeROERSHFALZEZFHE 2 Further particulars regarding the Directors’ emoluments and the five

R EMBRBIMEE TN ZREREE - WHAMBEH  highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to

E LRV K Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 30 March 2007. As at 31 December
2021, a majority of the members of Nomination Committee were
independent non-executive Directors. Non-executive Director Mr.
Wang Xiangming is the Chairman, other members include executive
Director Mr. Li Xin and independent non-executive Directors Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco and Mr. Zhong Wei.

The Company revised the terms of reference for Nomination
Committee on 4 December 2018, effective from 1 January 2019. The
revised major duties of the Nomination Committee include:

(M

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and to make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to develop and maintain a nomination policy for the board of
Directors, including the nomination procedures and the process
and criteria adopted by the Committee to identify, select and
recommend candidates to become a director of the Company,
and to review regularly and disclose in the Company’s corporate
governance report the policy and progress towards achieving
the objectives under the policy. The Committee should ensure
that the selection process is transparent and fair, and that it
considers a wide range of candidates who are outside of the
Board’s circle and in accordance with the Company’s diversity

policy;

to develop and maintain a diversity policy for the board of
Directors, to review regularly the implementation of the
measurable objectives under the policy, and to disclose the
diversity policy (or a summary thereof), the measurable
objectives and the progress towards achieving those objectives
in the Company'’s corporate governance report;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, assess the suitability and qualification of the
candidates for directorship (including the perspectives, skills and
experiences that the individual can bring to the Board and how
the individual can promote the diversity of the Board), report to
the Board on the assessment results, and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships;
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(5) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, having regard to the requirements under the Listing
Rules;

(6) when identifying and nominating individuals to become
independent non-executive Directors, to assess whether and
why such individuals can devote sufficient time to the Board if
he/she will be holding his/her seventh or more listed company
directorships; and

(7)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular, the chairman and the chief executive/
managing Director. Details relating to terms of references of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Company revised the Board Diversity Policy on 4 December 2018,
effective from 1 January 2019. Pursuant to the updated Board
Diversity Policy, with a view to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company regards increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, ethnicity and length of service, to assess whether the
skills, experiences and diverse perspectives as well as the contribution
that the candidate can bring to the Board. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. Nomination Committee of the Company will
maintain the Board's diversity policy, regularly review the
implementation of the measurable objectives under this diversity
policy to ensure the effectiveness of such policy. The Board Diversity
Policy is available on the website of the Company.
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The Company developed and adopted Director Nomination Policy on
4 December 2018, effective from 1 January 2019. Pursuant to the
Director Nomination Policy, Directors are appointed through formal,
considered and transparent procedures. The Nomination Committee
will evaluate, select and recommend candidate(s) for directorships to
the Board by giving due consideration to criteria including but not
limited to: (1) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service; (2) Qualifications, including
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries the
Company’s business is involved in and other professional
qualifications; (3) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in
respect of available time and relevant interest; (4) Reputation for
character and integrity; (5) Contribution that the candidate(s) can
potentially bring to the Board; and (6) Plan(s) in place for the orderly
succession of the Board. When evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment, the Nomination
Committee will further give due consideration to the overall
contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to the Company,
including but not limited to the attendance of the meetings of the
Board and/or its committees and general meetings where applicable,
in addition to the level of participation and performance on the Board
and/or its committees. Besides, the Nomination Committee will
evaluate and recommend candidate(s) for the position(s) of the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company by giving due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to those set out
in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules (as amended from time
to time). The Director Nomination Policy is available on the website of
the Company.

During 2021, one meeting was held by the Nomination Committee at
which Mr. Liu Xiaoyong, Mr. Zhang Liang, Mr. Dou Jian and Ms.
Cheng Hong were recommended to the Board to be appointed as
non-executive Director. The attendance of the meeting is as follows:

ZEERE Committee Members Attendance

FERTTEE Non-Executive Director

FTHRE(ZEE=2EE) Wang Xiangming (Committee chairman) 11

HITEE Executive Director

* M) Li Xin 11

BHHITEE Independent Non-Executive Directors

B Ak Andrew Y. Yan 0/1

(EEEE Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 11

= # Zhong Wei 11
FHEMAPR A China Resources Land Limited 065
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The corporate governance committee of the Company (the “CG
Committee”) was established on 9 March 2012. As at 31 December
2021, a majority of the members of CG Committee was independent
non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive Director Mr.
Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco is the Chairman of the CG Committee and other
members include Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, all
being independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Li Xin, being
executive Director.

Major duties of the CG Committee include: (1) to develop and review
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
make recommendations to the Board; (2) to review and monitor the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; (3) to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(4) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and (5) to review the Company’s compliance
with the regular practice set out in the “Corporate Governance Code”
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report, details of which
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During 2021, one meeting was held by the CG Committee to review
and monitor training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management as well as reviewing compliance
with CG Code by the Company and disclosure in CG Report. The
attendance of the meeting is as follows:

ZEERE Committee Members Attendance
BUIFNTEE Independent Non-Executive Directors

MR (ZEESEL/E) Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco (Committee chairman) 11
FI8H Wan Kam To, Peter 1/1
=74 Andrew Y. Yan 1/1
HITEE Executive Director

* M Li Xin 11
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The executive committee of the Company (the “Executive
Committee”) was established on 18 April 2017. As at 31 December
2021, all members of Executive Committee are executive Directors.
Mr. Li Xin is the Chairman of the Executive Committee and other
members include Mr. Zhang Dawei, Mr. Xie Ji, Mr. Wu Binggi and Mr.
Guo Shiging.

Major duties of the Executive Committee are listed as follows:

(M

within an aggregate cap of annual investment budget approved
by the Board, the Committee shall approve the following
transactions (other than a connected transaction) with a single
transaction amount representing 10% or below of the market
value of the Company and authorizing one or more Members to
sign the relevant documents and affix the common seal of the
Company in connection with the transaction:

(@)  acquisition or disposal of assets (including land acquisition
by way of tender);

(b)  granting, accepting, transferring, exercising or terminating
an option in respect of acquiring or disposing of assets or
subscribing for securities;

(©) entering into or establishing Joint Venture Companies
(whether by way of partnership, corporation or
otherwise);

(d) providing indemnities, guarantees, financial assistance or
financing arrangement under US$2 billion;

approving any connected transactions, which is governed by
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but is not required to be
announced under the Listing Rules;

approving the Company to make the following relevant
announcement and authorizing any one Member to make
appropriate amendments to such announcement and arrange
its publication:

(@ announcement in respect of the transaction as set out in
item (1) of this clause which constitutes a discloseable
transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules;
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announcement in respect of the loan agreement which is
subject to due performance of specific conditions by the
controlling shareholder as stipulated under Rule 13.18 of
the Listing Rules;

voluntary business update announcements, including
announcements on the update on land acquisitions, and
operational data, etc.;

other routine announcements made pursuant to the
Listing Rules, including monthly returns, and
announcements of board meeting dates and poll results
for general meetings.

formulating the Company’s strategic and operational planning
and proposals such as strategic planning, business planning, etc.

executing any other specific matters delegated to the
Committee by the Board.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee held two
hundred and thirty eight meetings for the purpose of effective and
timely management of the Company’s day-to-day operation.

WMHPTEEEREB/N - ITEEEKEN -ZF  Committee Chairman reported to the Board on a quarterly basis and
T F 7 MELEINT the resolutions were passed by the Executive Committee through
physical meeting or written document. Attendance of members of the
Executive Committee in 2021 is set out as follows:
ZEERNE Committee Members Attendance
HiTEE Executive Directors
T MZEZFEE) Li Xin (Committee chairman) 237/238
RAR Zhang Dawei 211/238
i Xie Ji 238/238
RERH Wu Binggji 212/238
BEF Guo Shiging 238/238
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
COMMITTEE

To further enhance the Company’s corporate governance, improve
the governance structure and refine the division of responsibilities of
the Board, a corporate social responsibility (“CSR") committee was
formed by the Company on 26 March 2019, to assist the Board in
providing direction on and overseeing the development and
implementation of the CSR initiatives of the Group. As at 31
December 2021, a majority of the members of CSR Committee are
independent non-executive Directors. executive Director Mr. Li Xin is
the Chairman, other members include Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr.
Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, all being independent non-executive
Directors and Mr. Xie Ji, being executive Director. Key responsibilities
of the CSR committee include:

(@)  corporate sustainability initiatives;
(b)  environmental protection initiatives; and

(c)  philanthropic and community investment initiatives.

RoT-—F pEHEEHEEZEEHE/TT —)K  During 2021, one meeting was held by the CSR Committee to review
e BT LAERAEFRERELREELEHEE  and monitor the development and implementation of the CSR
EIVE xRz HELELT initiatives of the Group. The attendance of the meeting is as follows:
ZEERE Committee Members Attendance
HiTEE Executive Directors
= M(ZESEE) Li Xin (Committee chairman) 11
w B Xie Ji 01
BIIFRTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
EIF=E Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 1/1
&E & Zhong Wei 11
7 ' Sun Zhe 11
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the annual reports, interim reports and financial statements of the
Company to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair
presentation in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards. The statement by the independent auditor about its
reporting responsibilities relating to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 117 to 127.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board highly values and has the overall responsibility for
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems to safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholders’
interests, as well as for reviewing the effectiveness of the systems. To
fulfill its responsibility, the Board oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems to ensure the effectiveness of such systems through
well-established organizational structure, appropriate policies and
procedures in place, as well as clearly defined lines of authority and
responsibility.

The Board oversees the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis. The Company amended the
terms of reference of the Audit Committee in 2015 to further
enhance the risk management and internal control functions of the
Company. The Board assesses the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems through the reviews
performed by the Audit Committee, executive management, internal
audit department (“Internal Audit Department”) and external
auditors. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems including financial, operational and compliance controls, and
confirmed that the management had performed their duties to
maintain effective risk management and internal control systems, and
had ensured the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experiences, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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The Company’s Internal Audit Department is responsible to execute
the risk management and internal control functions, including but not
limited to: (1) organizing and guiding the Group's all departments,
regions and business units to establish and improve the systems of
risk management and internal control, and carry on various work
under such systems; (2) supervising and inspecting implementation of
risk management and internal control systems in the Group’s all
departments, regions and business units, suggesting rectification
measures and monitoring the implementation of such measures on an
on-going basis; (3) establishing internal evaluation mechanism,
assessing the Group’s risk management and internal control,
formulating an impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its
findings to the Audit Committee, the Chairman and the senior
management concerned as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.

Features of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
include the following:

o internal audit is independent from operational management;

o internal auditor is fully authorized with access to all operational
and financial data of the Group;

o internal auditors are sufficient in team size, equipped with
strong expertise and professional experience;

o implement real-time dynamic process risk management on areas
with significant risks including procurement and sales, with fully
coverage on operational procedures and business units of the
Group; and

o target to identify and eliminate material risk of the Company,
business oriented risk screen process, whilst proactively promote
system-risk prevention to build effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board is responsible for handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure the market and stakeholders are
timely and fully informed about the material developments in the
Company’s business, the Board has adopted the Inside Information
Disclosure Policy regarding the procedures of proper information
disclosure. All staff members of the Company must ensure that inside
information is not communicated to any external parties unless with
approval from the Board. As such, staff members of the Company
shall not respond to market speculation and rumours unless they are
authorized. In addition, all external presentation materials or
publications must be pre-vetted before release.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control systems and
procedures are designed to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses or fraud.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
receives each year the letter from the independent auditor confirming
their independence and objectivity and holds meetings with
representatives of the independent auditor to consider the scope of
its audit, approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-
audit services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also
makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
retention of the independent auditor.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Disclosure of the fees of Messrs. Ernst & Young is shown in Note 12
to the financial statements. In the year ended 31 December 2021, a
provision of RMB5.10 million was made in the financial statements for
the annual audit fee payable to Messrs. Ernst & Young of the
Company. In addition, the Group paid RMBO0.75 million, and RMBO0.11
million as service fees for review of 2021 interim financial statements,
and issuance of special corporate bonds for housing lease.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company’s company secretary (“Company Secretary”), Mr. Lo
Chi Lik, Peter, is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Although the
Company Secretary is not a full time employee of the Company, he
reports to the Board and in his capacity as Company Secretary advises
the Board on governance matters. The primary contact person of the
Company with the Company Secretary was Mr. Guo Shiging,
executive Director of the Company. The Company Secretary has
confirmed that he has attended at least 15 hours of professional
development in 2021.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
(“EGM") AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM. General
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two
or more members of the Company deposited at the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists hold as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Article 120 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of
the intention to propose that person for election as a director and
notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall
have been given to the Company provided that the minimum length
of the period, during which such notices are given, shall be at least
seven days. The period for lodgment of such notices shall commence
no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior to
the date of such meeting.
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Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a
person to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the Company
Secretary at the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
within the period specified in Article 120 of the Articles of Association
of the Company, namely (1) his/her notice of intention to propose a
resolution to elect a nominated candidate as a Director at the general
meeting which must include the name of the nominating shareholder
of the Company, his/her contact details and the number of the
Company’s ordinary shares held by the nominating shareholder; (2) a
notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s information
as required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules;
and (4) the nominated candidate’s written consent to the publication
of his/her personal data.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s
website.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company developed and adopted Dividend Policy on 4 December
2018, effective from 1 January 2019, aiming to provide shareholders
of the Company with an annual dividend payout of not less than 20%
of the Group's profit attributable to shareholders in any financial year,
subject to the criteria set out below. Such declaration and payment of
dividends shall remain to be determined at the absolute discretion of
the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including
without limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and payment)
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company.
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In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including: (1) the Group’s actual and
expected financial performance; (2) shareholders’ interests; (3) general
business strategies; (4) retained earnings and distributable reserves of
the Company and each of the other members of the Group; (5) the
Group’s indebtedness level, key financial ratios (such as the Group’s
debt to equity ratio and return on equity) and any financial covenants
to which the Group is subject; (6) the Group’s expected working
capital requirements and future expansion plans; (7) liquidity position
and future commitments at the time of declaration of dividend; (8)
taxation considerations, and legal and regulatory restrictions; (9)
possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness; (10) general
economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's business and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company; and (11) other
factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends subject to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Articles of Association of the Company. Except in the case of
interim dividend, any dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders at an annual
general meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by
the Board. Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares
subject to and in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and the Articles of Association of the Company. The Company
will regularly review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its
sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.
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PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS’
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders of the Company may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the investor
relations team of the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Resources Land Limited

46th Floor, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: ir@crland.com.cn

Tel: 852-2877 2330

Fax: 852-2877 9068

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to establishing and maintaining good
investor relations, and continuously improves investor relations
management through expanding communication channels, increasing
information transparency and enhancing market feedbacks to
management. In 2021, the Company proactively created various
opportunities for investor communication, updated investors with the
latest business development as well as the long-term strategy of the
Company on a timely manner, so as to establish smooth and positive
interaction with investors and to enhance the Company’s credibility in
the capital market.

During 2021, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

The principle and vision of the Company’s investor relations function
is to communicate operational performance and the outlook of the
Company with its investors and potential investors via precise and
efficient disclosure in compliance with the relevant rules in order to
enhance capital market’s recognition to the Company. It also reports
to senior management of the Company the market trend and
feedbacks from the investors to promote management improvement
and corporate governance, to build up positive interactions between
investment community and the Company, and to enhance the market
capitalization of the Company on a continuous basis.
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As at 31 December 2021, details of shareholders by type, aggregate
shareholding and public float capitalization are set out as follows:

BERE HRWE

Aggregate
shareholding Capitalization
BETET
IR R A Shareholder type HKD billion
z2H(KE)ERAA China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited 4,246,618,418 139.29
NRFER Public Float 2,884,321,161 94.61

BRABRERRAER POLL RESULTS OF AGM

RAF F—REESHA-_T - —FRFAE K The last shareholders’ meeting of the Company is the 2021 AGM of
e - e@RN S ANLBEEBETEE  the Company, the meeting was held at 46th floor, China Resources
é_Jr/\’iJifE/Fﬂjif%ﬁﬁ + & s EE  Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on 9 June 2021.

FHEARBERARNFBIRAT

Details of major items discussed and voting particulars are set out as

follows:

RERBFEAGLEEZZ Ordinary Resolutions proposed =Y %

ZEABR at the AGM Number of votes %

BH °¢:)
For Against

1. HERERHE-_Z-ZF+=-F 1. To receive and consider the audited 6,460,736,668 10,826,224
== EIJJ:EEE%*ZZEH%#&% Financial Statements and the Directors’ 99.83% 0.17%
HEESRE KB IIZEERE o Report and the Independent Auditor’s

Report for the year ended 31 December
2020.
2. EHNZE-—F+EBNBREE 2. Todeclare a final dividend of HK$1.312 per  6,471,562,887 5
E_T_TF+-_R=F+—HIF share for the year ended 31 December 2020 99.99% 0.01%
EzRBBREGRER13127T payable on 9 July 2021 to shareholders
HwY_ZE-_—FA-+-HEE whose names appear on the register of
RRAIRRBMAERL 2 RE © members of the Company on 22 June 2021.
3. (1) EFERREERES - 3. (1) Tore-elect Mr. Chen Rong as 5,941,584,456 529,978,436
Director. 91.81% 8.19%

2 EBEEFELEERES- (2)  Tore-elect Mr. Wang Yan as Director.  5,743,722,318 727,840,574
88.75% 11.25%

) BEEFMALERE=Z- (3)  To re-elect Mr. Li Xin as Director. 6,226,247,684 244,155,208
96.23% 3.77%

@) EERIEFEEREE - (4)  Tore-elect Mr. Guo Shiging as 6,364,571,623 106,991,269
Director. 98.35% 1.65%

(55 EBEREFRELEAES- (5)  To re-elect Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter as  5,277,253,891 1,193,149,001
Director. 81.56% 18.44%

ZEHEM AP AF  China Resources Land Limited
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RBRREFAELREZ Ordinary Resolutions proposed =%
EBARR at the AGM Number of votes %
=921 5]
For Against
6) BREMEERES- (6)  Tore-elect Mr. Yan Y. Andrew as 5,806,803,903 663,598,989
Director. 89.74% 10.26%
(7) EBrEzE-—Z=-—-%+=A (7)  To fix the remuneration of the 6,435,227,983 36,334,909
“T—HUEFEZEZHS Directors for the year ending 31 99.44% 0.56%
REMHTEERIFNTE December 2021 at the rate of
EEFBEL A EBLERE HK$160,000 for each executive and
BIUFNTEETEAE non-executive Director and
M+&mE- EEFERE HK$400,000 for each independent
£ RRTE  BREL A non-executive Director, except Mr.
TERE BRRELE EM Wang Xiangming, Mr. Yan Biao, Mr.
T RRRELE  HEX Chen Ying, Mr. Wang Yan, Mr. Chen
£ RRBEAERSHF L Rong, Mr. Li Xin, Mr. Zhang Dawei,
ETWRARAME - Mr. Xie Ji, Mr. Wu Binggji and Mr.
Guo Shiging, who will not receive
remuneration from the Company.

4,  BEZKSFEMEEARNDR% To re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as the  6,461,993,130 9,569,762

R EEESETAMS - auditor of the Company and to authorise 99.85% 0.15%
the board of directors to fix their
remuneration.

5. HBTEECBREARRARGOZ—R To give a general mandate to the Directors  6,456,549,917 15,012,975
B EHEMEHRARETRG to repurchase shares of the Company not 99.77% 0.23%
BAZt e exceeding 10% of the issued shares.

6. WTEFSRIRRAFRGOZ— To give a general mandate to the Directors ~ 4,642,837,057  1,828,725,835
e EHETSRBBE TR to issue new shares of the Company not 71.74% 28.26%
MARZZT - exceeding 20% of the issued shares.

7. BENARERARRRELMESR To extend the general mandate to be given ~ 4,673,274,280 1,798,288,112
BATEL DA  WEAES to the Directors to issue shares by the 72.21% 27.79%
SEITRD 2 —RIXHE - addition of the shares repurchased by the

Company under Item No.5 above.
DA ERZEAHDERIAASLTIFEIRERE - All the resolutions were duly passed as ordinary resolutions.
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ARB N —HREFENRREESREA AN

T Company is set out as follows:

BE-Z-_—F+-HA=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December 2021

The important shareholders’ dates in the coming financial year of the

T FERERMRERIRE _T - —FRAKRR

Announcement of 2021 annual results and proposal of 2021 final dividend
TR FEEESITEME

2021 annual results analyst meetlng

TR FFEREE  RRAFASBEHIRAREZERBEN
Dispatch of 2021 Annual Report, AGM Circular and Proxy Form
RERBEFAENHEEIBFBH

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for Annual General Meeting
NN Rk =1

Record Date for AGM

BRIATHERRAFAGITNE CRENEREEIERDBS FERH

Closure of Register of Members for Voting in Annual General Meeting
RERBEFRE

Annual General Meeting

—E-—FREAKEKRER

Ex-dividend date for proposed 2021 final dividend
“E--FRBRENKEEIBF B

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for 2021 final dividend
—E--FREREMREEH

Record Date for 2021 final dividend

HRAIWI - T - —FRERENEREERERN B FEHH

Closure of Register of Members for 2021 final dividend

kB =T = —FRERE A H

Payment date for proposed 2021 final dividend

—E-__F=R=+H
30 March 2022
—E--F=RA=+—H
31 March 2022
—E__FWAZ-+ANA
29 April 2022
—E-FRAER
THME=
4:30 p.m. 7 June 2022
—EFXANAB
8 June 2022
R FRNANB-
~NA+HRHB
8 June-15 June 2022
—E--FATHAA
15 June 2022
—E-FRNAZTH
20 June 2022
—T-HXA=+—H
THFARE=1T5
4:30 p.m. 21 June 2022
—E-FRAZ+=H
22 June 2022
—E__FXAZ+Z=H
22 June 2022
—ZE__#N7\AT+H
10 August 2022

EHEMERAR
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BEZE-ZFXA=tHLXEA
Six months ended 30 June 2022

—ECFRHXEABEERIKE T —FHhERE

Announcement of 2022 interim results and proposal of 2022 interim dividend
R _FRHRXBESNEERE

2022 interim results analyst meeting

—E__FRHRERER

Ex-dividend date for proposed 2022 interim dividend

R _FhHRENKEEILAFB S

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for 2022 interim dividend
R _FhEBREHRE RS
Record Date for 2022 interim dividend
RAWR—Z - —FHHARENERGEHERMDBPFEEH
Closure of Register of Members for 2022 interim dividend
R _FRHAREEEN
Dispatch of 2022 Interim Report
IREE — T = — SR AR S H A
Payment date for proposed 2022 interim dividend

—E-__FA\R=+H
30 August 2022
—ZE__FAA=+—H
31 August 2022

—ZE__FHAATHEAB
14 September 2022
—E-_FhATHEH

TR =15
4:30 p.m. 15 September 2022
—E__FHAA+RE
16 September 2022
—T_FhAtARAE
16 September 2022
—E__FHhA=+H
30 September 2022
—EC_F+HA=t—H
31 October 2022
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RIZ-—F ARAREBTEESHAORLEE
RERROE - MR B AN - BB - BT - AR BUM
FHWREEN ALK EES  EREELRR

IS ©

BEAN - RRABREFERERESINT 22358 EXR
BREERE  NAHEXEFERSTPALER
HREMBEEREELTHMERITER A
REYREERNE2BARIERSE -

ATRARR —ZE-_—FRATEREERELD -

INVESTOR RELATIONS ACTIVITIES

In 2021, the Company arranged on-line roadshows for investors in
mainland China, Hong Kong, Singapore and Europe covering topics
from its financial results to its business strategies and outlook.

In addition, the Company attended 22 major virtual investor forums,
held physical meetings and telephone conferences with the investors
globally and analysts from both buy-side and sell-side; and arranged
on-site visits for investors during the year.

The following table sets out the major investor relations events of the
Company in 2021:

B
Month SEE Events
—H EBI B R RIT IR M RiE BNP Paribas Asia Property Forum
January 2021 FEHERKZ Investment Strategy Forum 2021
2021 Fin iR AT FEimiE UBS Greater China Conference (GCC) 2021
EER A ER A A J.P. Morgan Property Corporate Day
R AAZE EATE Morgan Stanley Virtual China Cyclicals Corporate Day
= A 2020 FFEEELE Announcement of 2020 Annual Result
March mEEmNE Press Release
BB MAITEGHRE Briefing with Analysts and Fund Managers
AR Virtual Post Results Roadshow
~A eI ERE GS-Asia Spotlight Forum
June EER KBRS J.P. Morgan China Investor Conference

RBEIEE 2021 EEME MENREB  Haitong International Property & Property

Management Corporate Day 2021

FeETEEME ME EHHE China 6th Annual Property & Property Management

IR EERIE

Virtual Conference
BOCI Investor Conference

RENA2021 THERERBE CICC Strategy Forum 2H21

HERB R EERIE
b /NG I=!
2021 FiEEE MR EE S &

CMBI Investor Conference
CS Corporate day
Citi's Asia Pacific Property Conference 2021

2021 FhEmTP RS RMER Jefferies China Finance & Property Virtual Corporate Access

NGILS!
hEKREES

Days 2021
China Investor Conference

EHBEMAR AT China Resources Land Limited 081
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A3
Month SEE Events
+A 2021 FiniRE A E M ERE UBS HK/China Property Conference 2021
July F28EFEERERIREERE 28th Annual CITIC CLSA Flagship Investors’ Forum
NA A 2021 FHEZEE Announcement of 2021 Interim Annual Result
August R mE Press Release
EegBMomEMSRE Briefing with Analysts and Fund Managers

B ERERE Virtual Post Results Roadshow
+—A =B B AR GS China Conference
November 2021 FIEEREER ; Citi China Investor Conference 2021

EIRFEH 2021 FHmiE
2021 FHRE A RIRE HIE

BofA Securities 2021 China Conference
CICC Investment Conference 2021

AEBRMEH NN HERTERREENE

B ARBEEAETSHRE THARER RN
IEARIEREERER HMMEERAERR -
NI BEIRARANTER - BRI REAKER

U -

082 -=-
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Looking ahead, we will continue to improve the communication with
investors and provide them with more opportunities to understand
the business of the Company as well as to enhance the mutual
understanding and recognition between the senior management and
the investment community, with an aim to refine the internal
management, profitability and governance of the Company.
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RHEE

FEEK
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“E--FREBREBAEE (B DR SIKE
FTERR  BRIEBRREBEAARETAREDR
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to
submit to the shareholders its report and audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereafter referred to as “the
Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
detailed activities of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are shown on pages 267 to 278 of this annual report.

The segment information of the Group is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group's prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group,
relationships with its key stakeholders and environmental policy are
provided in the Chairman Statement on pages 23 to 28, Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 29 to 38 and Corporate Governance
Report on pages 50 to 82 of this annual report. Description of key risk
factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing is provided in
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 38 and note 49 to the
consolidated financial statements while the financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group can be found in note 50 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated income statement set out on page 128 shows the
Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommended a final dividend (“2021 Final Dividend”) of
HK$1.484 per share for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$1.312) payable on Wednesday, 10 August 2022 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Wednesday, 22 June 2022.

The 2021 Final Dividend will be payable in cash to each shareholder in
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD") unless an election is made to receive the
same in Renminbi (“RMB").

083
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fEREEZZEZBEEI10THEARK08134
T ER(EE T —F=A=+HA @
XHFEARBITAMABEL ARBEFHRE
ER)AEUARBUMEHRIT, T _—F K
HIRR B o MR ERERBUARBIWIR T - —FXK
IR B, BIRZ R B LAER AR 1.207 TR T
fE - BRIEREMBEEBIELRHRE K
RAEZREEBRERK (RETEREZAEUE
CTE I FARAREEFNMNTHABR T
NAZTZH%  ZERXBEFTRERAITERLT
ERR-ZZEZ_FANATHTFETRE) UELSE
MiER THREBEEAR-_Z-__FtA-Z+HTF4
B30 DRI EART 2B BEEL D EEERZ
EERAA - it ARBE2FANBRISIFEAM
5448 o

BEEREUARE L ZWM 25 18/ 5K
RHEIE ((BEEERFESEEEENRITE
F o UFWEREMARBETZEA LI« Ka)H
TMRBEARBELZEREBHEENBERFEBNR
TEEMERKARE S ZEHNEBHEIINLE
BBFE T EZEBAR_ZE-_—_FNAAT+HUER
BEHFAGTETHBARE  BRRERBKESTT
HHE o

W —E - —Ft A -+H FF4RE300 81 AR
AR MBFELETEKEEBZRENEY
I B EEBIZERE - BEAKRRAS BB KR
ZE I FXRPRE - -FBAEABREBRZZ
—=—FNA+AMEEFRIRS °

HMEREBABESRAABEERM —_ZT—_—F K
iR - RIBAELEINMTE -

BRAKBRNBENRBELE  REAER
FHRBBERSREXER -
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Shareholders will be given the option to elect to receive all or part of
the 2021 Final Dividend in RMB at the exchange rate of
HKD1.0:RMB0.8134, being the average benchmark exchange rate of
HKD to RMB as published by the People’s Bank of China during the
five business days immediately before 30 March 2022. If shareholders
elect to receive the 2021 Final Dividend in RMB, such dividend will be
paid to shareholders at RMB1.207 per share. Unless a permanent
election on dividend currency had been made by shareholders,
shareholders should complete the dividend currency election form
which is expected to be dispatched to shareholders in late June 2022
as soon as practicable after the record date of 22 June 2022 to
determine shareholders’ entitlement to the 2021 Final Dividend, and
lodge it to Branch Share Registrar of the Company, Tricor Standard
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 20 July 2022.

Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all or part of their
dividends in RMB by cheques should note that (i) they should ensure
that they have an appropriate bank account to which the RMB
cheques for dividend can be presented for payment; and (i) there is
no assurance that RMB cheques can be cleared without material
handling charges or delay in Hong Kong or that RMB cheques will be
honored for payment upon presentation outside Hong Kong. The
cheques are expected to be posted to the relevant shareholders by
ordinary post on 10 August 2022 at the shareholders’ own risk.

If no duly completed dividend currency election form in respect of
that shareholder is received by the branch share registrar of the
Company by 4:30 p.m. on 20 July 2022, such shareholder will
automatically receive the 2021 Final Dividend in HKD. All dividend
payments in HKD will be made in the usual ways on 10 August 2022.

If shareholders wish to receive the 2021 Final Dividend in HKD in the
usual way, no additional action is required.

Shareholders should seek professional advice with their own tax
advisers regarding the possible tax implications of the dividend
payment.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set
out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES

Summary of the principal properties of the Group is set out on pages
297 to 311.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES AT THE
COMPANY

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium and retained profits. Under the Companies Act (Revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
Shareholders subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company and provided that immediately
following the distribution or dividend, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Reserves of the Company available for distribution to Shareholders as
at 31 December 2021 amounted to RMB39,015,424,000 (2020:
RMB35,909,112,000).
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i DIRECTORS
KEERNURARFREEZERZARATESE([E The directors of the Company (“Directors”) who held office during
EDWT - the year and at the date of this report are:
FHITES NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

FHEASL A Mr. Wang Xiangming

B (N2 —F+A/\BEZTE) Mr. Liu Xiaoyong (Appointed on 8 October 2021)
Rk EX4AWZE_—F+AN\BEZMT) Mr. Zhang Liang (Appointed on 8 October 2021)
' ORELE(R-ZE-—F+A)\BHEZME) Mr. Dou Jian (Appointed on 8 October 2021)

B aAzt(R—TE-—F+AN\BEEZHE) Ms. Cheng Hong (Appointed on 8 October 2021)
B OEEAE(R-ZE-—E+AN\BET) Mr. Yan Biao (Resigned on 8 October 2021)

[ EhEE(R-_ZE-—F+F\BHETE) Mr. Chen Ying (Resigned on 8 October 2021)

F EH4ER-_E——F+A/\BEF) Mr. Wang Yan (Resigned on 8 October 2021)

R EELE(R-ZT-—F+A/)\BEIT) Mr. Chen Rong (Resigned on 8 October 2021)
HITES EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

F &AL Mr. Li Xin

RRBEAE Mr. Zhang Dawei

A A Mr. Xie Ji

REHEE Mr. Wu Bingaqi

PE LA Mr. Guo Shiging

BYFHITES INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
BT E Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco

B A Mr. Andrew Y. Yan

FIRELE Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter

E EEAE Mr. Zhong Wei

7 BEE Mr. Sun Zhe

RARERQH BIBEALATALSIZMAIE  As at the date of this report, pursuant to Articles 99 and 116 of the
N NIER——7R & BIEEES4E - R854~ Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. Liu Xiaoyong, Mr. Zhang
EfEsE  RAI &t BB A RFBEA . Liang, Mr. Dou Jian, Ms. Cheng Hong, Mr. Xie Ji, Mr. Wu Binggi, Mr.

EERLE BELEMBETLEBRERE  Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe shall retire from
AFRGREWEERERBT - office at the upcoming annual general meeting and shall be eligible

for re-election.

HREEEEMA B bR BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEEEEAEBMETEHNEIOEEFEA9H Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 39 to 49.
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METAEZETESFR SHNEESFA]) ([1EESF
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(F) RARBEBRITEBREAABROTHEEDN

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), including interests and short positions
which the Directors and chief executive of the Company are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, which are required
to be recorded in the register maintained pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise required to be notified to Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (“Model Code"”) contained
in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(@) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of the

R Company:
ZERRAEE HiGEZFILLO
HEIKE Number of Approximate
i Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest
F ) e 40,000 0.00056
Li Xin Long position
Bzt Notes:

(1) RS REARA BN RAEREE GO BZRN
TR H+ A=+ BHARREHETK
BB DL °

Q) LEXFRENMERGZASEEUAESHEAA
F0RE -

(2) RARBIMBAREBERLEERRLAA
(FEBERLRE ] EBITE AR SBERN
REA R

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares and underlying shares of the Company to the total issued
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021.

2) The above disclosed interests were held by director as beneficial
owner.

(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (“CR Mixc
Lifestyle”), the subsidiary of the Company:

ZBERBROHE HihEZE DO
HRIRE Number of Approximate
i Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest
Kk 2 TR 20,000 0.00088
Zhang Liang Long position
Hizt - Notes:

(1) BEARMPRNEBERAE RAARRN B2
WIBE-—F+-A=t+—HEEHEEREE
EETROEENANLL -

Q) LEXFARENMERGRERNEGEEAY
MFA °

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares and underlying shares of CR Mixc Lifestyle to the total issued
shares of CR Mixc Lifestyle as at 31 December 2021.

2) The above disclosed interests were held by the director as beneficial
owners.
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(R) MARBREEEE — FEEE (R AR
~wE ([EERE ) B 3T B R AERN
A et

() Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“China
Resources Beer"”), an associated corporation of the Company:

EERROBE HEEZFILO

BEI%R Number of Approximate
i Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest
k = ge 20,000 0.00062
Zhang Liang Long position

e -

(1) BITERTH REEE MR RS KA EE
RZEZ—F+ZA=+—RAEEEIRES %
TRHBEOE DL ©

Q) EXFERENMERSAEFENESHEEAY
DFA °

(T) RAATIAREE — T EERHABRA
A (TR |) B 347 EmAR RATBRR (5 o
BB

Notes:

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares and underlying shares of China Resources Beer to the total
issued shares of China Resources Beer as at 31 December 2021.

(2) The above disclosed interests were held by the director as beneficial
owner.

(d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Company Limited (“CR
Jiangzhong"), an associated corporation of the Company:

EERROBE HEEZFILEO

HEIRE Number of Approximate
i Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest
SpitE 1A 51,700 0.00821
Guo Shiging Long position

EE

(1) IEFEFTS RAETET P IRG RAEREAR D B
RZEZ—F+ZA=+—RAEEHIFEH
TRHBEOE DL ©

() BEBLEAWRBHAEHEMS 251,700 R
Pz o

o 5 2 T It Oy o AR W 1)
%X [EEBH5ER] —BRAREN - 0
ARAEANBELR  ARHMBART RESA

ARFABE2EEMRYE  REESUEBA
AR RRE MR B Z B SR E MR A a5
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Notes:

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares and underlying shares of CR Jiangzhong to the total issued
shares of CR Jiangzhong as at 31 December 2021.

2) Mr. Guo Shiging was deemed to be interested in 51,700 shares
through interest of his spouse.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO
SUBSCRIBE FOR SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in the section “Director’s Interests in
Securities”, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries
or its parent company was not a party to any arrangement which
enables the Directors to benefit from a purchase of the shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate during the
year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2021.

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors had any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual independence confirmation from
all independent Non-Executive Directors pursuant to rule 3.13, and
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
connection with business of the Company, to which the Company, its
parent company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries were a party and
in which any Director of the Company or his connected entity had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director of the Company should be entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director, in defending any proceedings, whether
civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favor, or in which he
is acquitted.

The Company maintains a directors’ liability insurance policy against
potential legal liabilities and related expenses that may be incurred by
the Directors in the event of any litigation.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”,
the “Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Equity-Linked
Agreement” as set out in this report, there were no other contracts of
significance between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, or any contracts of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS

F+ZA=+—H W FAL(AKRAQF Asat31 December 2021, the following persons (not being a Director

BERITHEHBIN R RATIHIRG RABER?D  or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
hHARB(EERBEBRAIYEXVEIE2RE3  the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to

HBRE

&1

/

—

BANATIREN N ER(ES LA be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Division 2 and 3

B E 336 IEMEFOELMAERS AR of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register

maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

®2021%

128318k

R Es

BEARBET

ROHED L

Percentage of

the aggregate

long position

in shares to

EERRGEE the issued

HEI%E Number of shares of

RREH & ERME Long position/ ordinary the Company

Name of Shareholders Capacity Nature of interest  short position shares  asat 31/12/2021

CRH (Land) Limited (" CRHL") BRfAA EqiEn e 4,243,783.418 59.51%
Beneficial owner Beneficial owner Long position

ZH(EE)BRAF ((ZREE])D SR AER NalEs e 4,246,618,418 59.55%
China Resources (Holdings) Company Controlled company'sinterest  Corporation interest  Long position

Limited ("CRH")"

CRC Bluesky Limited (*Bluesky” )" RS ArER NS 5 4,246,618,418 59.55%
Controlled company'sinterest  Corporation interest  Long position

EEROARARATEHRA O eI NGIL 323 e 4,246,618,418 59.55%
China Resources Inc. ("CRC")" Controlled company'sinterest  Corporation interest  Long position

PEEEERAR (PEER))O EE VNG 3 Gl 3 e 4,46,618,418 59.55%

China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL")"

Controlled company'sinterest  Corporation interest  Long position

Btet - Note:

(1) CRHL A K Commotra Company Limited 75 Bl & #4545 (1) CRHL and Commotra Company Limited directly held 4,243,788,418 shares
KA 7)4,243,788,418 i% DA 522,830,000 1% - E B &= and 2,830,000 shares of the Company, respectively. CRH is the sole
% /5 CRHL LA & Commotra Company Limited 2 i — & shareholder of CRHL and Commotra Company Limited. Moreover, CRH is a
R MZE S EZBluesky F 2 B M B A & * Bluesky wholly-owned subsidiary of Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRC.
EEBRHHNSENB AT MEBEMGE2H HE CRC is wholly-owned by CRCL. Thus, CRH, Bluesky, CRC and CRCL are
BERE2EMBAR - FHitt - FHEE - Bluesky « #EH deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 4,246,618,418 shares in the
&1 ~ BRI R A% A AN F)4,246,618,418 Company.
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Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2021, no other person had any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES

Particulars regarding principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are set out in note 48 on pages 267 to 278 of the
consolidated financial statements.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Certain loan agreements and bond terms of the Group include a
condition that imposes one or more of the following specific
performance obligations on the Company’s controlling Shareholder:

(i)  CRH remains the single largest Shareholder of the Company
which has an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly or
indirectly) of not less than 35% or 50% (as the case may be);

(i) CRH maintains the direct or indirect ownership of at least 35%
of the shares of the Company;

(i) CRH remains the single largest Shareholder (whether directly or
indirectly through its subsidiaries) of the Company;

(iv)  CRH remains to be beneficially owned as to more than 50%
shareholding by the central government of the PRC;

(v)  CRH retains the ability from a practical perspective to control
the appointment by the Company’s Shareholders of Directors to
the Board.

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate reserved facility subject to
the above conditions were HK$75,529,147,283 (equivalent to
RMB61,752,730,611). Such reserved facility will expire on no later
than 28 October 2029.
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HUIZHOU PROJECT JOINT VENTURE

On 21 January 2021 (after trading hours), Shenzhen Runtou
Advisory Company Limited (“SZ Runtou”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
Supplemental Agreement with, among others, Huizhou Runhao
Property Company Limited (“JV"), Huizhou Zhenghao
Investment Company Limited (“Zhenghao”), Huizhou Huiyang
Jinxiang Company Limited (“Huiyang Jinxiang”), China
Resources Shenguotou Trust Company Limited (“CR Trust”) and
China Resources Runxin No. 6 Investment Limited Partnership
("New JV Partner”) in relation to the proposed transfer of the
equity interest of 49% in the JV held by Zhenghao to the New
JV Partner in a cash consideration of RMB199,920,000 (the
“Proposed Equity Transfer”) and the management of the JV
thereafter.

As at the date of the announcement, the JV is owned as to
51% by SZ Runtou and 49% by Zhenghao, respectively. Upon
the Proposed Equity Transfer, the JV will be a joint venture
formed between SZ Runtou and the New JV Partner as to 51%
and 49% respectively, and will continue to be a subsidiary of
the Company.

The JV was established in September 2020 by SZ Runtou and
Zhenghao, which was then an independent third party of the
Company, for purpose of acquiring the land plot at the Daya
Bay District of Huizhou City, the PRC and the proposed
development of the project.

As Zhenghao is intending to transfer its interest in the JV to the
New JV Partner, the Board is of the view that it is necessary for
SZ Runtou to enter into the Supplemental Agreement to set out
the future operation and governance of the JV in connection
with the Proposed Equity Transfer. The Board is of the view that
the entering of the Supplemental Agreement can enhance
certainty in terms of the rights and obligations of the SZ Runtou
and the New JV Partner and the operation and governance of
the JV as a result of the Proposed Equity Transfer but did not
impose any material additional commitment by SZ Runtou or
lead to reduction of control or the interest held by SZ Runtou in
the JV. Furthermore, the Board also believes that the formation
of a joint venture with the New JV Partner can broaden the
shareholder base of the JV and hence enhancing its diversity
and potentially its financing capability, which is beneficial to the
future operation of the JV.



EXES(BRENTER)RR  #RAH
BEOERBATEIE BRIV HAHEIR
—REEGET  XTFEARTRBERY

BRI -

BHRFHEEBH I RERERLRTER
RERALE(ARER) ((BRERE) (B
BARBZEEBRRTEEBRZMBAR)
FA30% a2 XEF AR (ERR LEMR
AIETMAR)  REBERL BREER
MAaLBEHSERTEERNBEA it
RARBHREAL - RIF EHARRIE T
AE - FIIBRET LR B RBR AR AR

EXFE R BFTERARFR =
—AZ+—ATENEER S RE

v

() BEXSE — (1) RESFIHZR ; (2

BREGRE  RQREERBEEE

KRB —F-A-+-RXRZRRE)
AQTEEFEE () BRAR ([FEE
BEBEZENEENBARRKILEE
RAIMERRTE A (F i A R ER K%
FHERE(FEDERAR(TEBHSE])
BAEN=BRFZITRERBER - 5EA
AR BT ERRARANMBRF - 5
S R B EAAR AR ([RIITE
R RERSEWE(FE)REBRAA
(TEHSERE D BEUNEERRARRO SN
RERKREEAREERSERZDEER
KRB EMERZ

(m

The Board (including the independent non-executive Directors)
is of the view that terms of the Supplemental Agreement are
fair and reasonable, and the entering into of the Supplemental
Agreement is conducted on normal commercial terms and in
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

As the New JV Partner is a 30%-controlled company (as defined
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) of CR Trust and
Shenzhen Runzhan Investment Advisory Company (Limited
Partnership) (“Runzhan Investment”) (both are subsidiaries of
CRCL, a controlling shareholder of the Company), each of CR
Trust, Runzhan Investment and the New JV Partner is an
associate of CRCL and thus a connected person of the
Company. The entering into of the Supplemental Agreement by
SZ Runtou constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the aforesaid transaction are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 21 January
2021.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS — (1) JV
AGREEMENT; (2) RELOCATION COMPENSATION
AGREEMENT; AND (3) CONSTRUCTION
AGREEMENT

On 22 January 2021 (after trading hours), the Company and
China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR Beer”),
through their respective wholly-owned subsidiaries, have
entered into the JV Agreement for the purpose of establishing
the JV and the Construction Agreement in relation to the
construction and development of three parcels of land owned
by China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. (“CR
Snow"). The JV would not become a subsidiary of the Company
upon its establishment. In addition, in the capacity as the
shareholders of the JV, Shenzhen Runtou Consulting Company
Limited (“SZ Runtou”) and China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Investment Co., Ltd. (“CR Snow Investment”) have
entered into the Relocation Compensation Agreement for and
on behalf of the JV with CR Snow in relation to the
redevelopment and transfer of the property.
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According to the JV Agreement, both Shenzhen Runtau and CR
Snow Investment agreed to establish the JV, whose equity
interest will be held as to 50% by Shenzhen Runtau and as to
50% by CR Snow Investment. The JV would not become a
subsidiary of the Company upon its establishment, and its
financial results would not be consolidated into the Group's
consolidated financial statements. The JV will be primarily
engaged in the development and management of real estate,
and it would be responsible for the target project. The JV land
would be redeveloped into a complex comprising offices,
commercial properties, factories, recreational facilities,
supermarkets, restaurants and bars, etc.. The total registered
capital of the JV is RMB1,000,000,000, of which Shenzhen
Runtau and CR Snow Investment shall each contribute
RMB500,000,000 (representing 50% of the registered capital of
the JV) respectively.

The land is strategically located on the development axis of the
east coast of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area,
which is a frontline region undergoing outflow of resources in
Qianhai and Nanshan Hi-Tech Industrial Park of Shenzhen and
has strategic location conditions. The redevelopment will have a
sizeable scale and diversified business segments after demolition
and reconstruction, which is likely to become a complex project
with regional influence. The formation of the JV with CR Beer
Group can create synergies between the Company and CR Beer
Group, to which CR Beer Group can bring in its expertise
knowledge and experience of the beer industry and the
Company can contribute its extensive experience in real estate
and property development. Therefore, the redevelopment of the
land will further enhance the profitability of the Company. The
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
believe that the terms of the transactions contemplated under
the above agreements are fair and reasonable and are normal
commercial terms, which although are not conducted during
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company, are
in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

As CRCL is the controlling shareholder of both the Company
and CR Beer, CR Beer is an associate of the Company’s
connected person under the Listing Rules. Therefore, the above
agreements and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constitute connected transactions of the Group under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 22 January
2021.
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(1) CONNECTED TRANSACTION — FORMATION OF

HUBEI PROJECT JOINT VENTURE

On 21 April 2021 (after trading hours), China Resources Land
Holdings Company Limited (“CR Land Holdings”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
Supplemental Agreement with China Resources Shenguotou
Trust Company Limited (“CR Trust”), Shenzhen Yunxiang
Industrial Development Company Limited (“SZ Yunxiang”),
Shenzhen Shengji Technology Company Limited (”SZ Shengji”),
Shenzhen Hubei Shunrun Investment Company Limited (“JV")
and China Resources Land (Shenzhen) Development Company
Limited (“Project Company”) in relation to the proposed transfer
and the management of the JV thereafter. As at the date of the
announcement, the JV is owned as to 60% by CR Land
Holdings, 20% by SZ Yunxiang and 20% by SZ Shengji.
Immediately after the proposed transfer, the JV will be a joint
venture formed between CR Land Holdings, SZ Yunxiang and
CR Trust as to 60%, 20% and 20% respectively.

The JV was established in January 2020 by CR Land Holdings, SZ
Yunxiang and SZ Shengji for the purpose of acquiring the
project. As SZ Shengji intends to transfer its interest in the JV to
CR Trust, the Board is of the view that it is necessary for the
Company to enter into the Supplemental Agreement with CR
Trust, SZ Yunxiang, SZ Shengji, the JV and the Project Company,
to set out the framework for future operation and governance
of the JV in connection with the proposed transfer. The Board is
of the view that the entering of the Supplemental Agreement
can enhance certainty in terms of the rights and obligations of
CR Land Holdings and the other parties to the Supplemental
Agreement and the operation and governance of the JV as a
result of the proposed transfer but did not impose any
significant additional commitment by the Group or lead to
reduction of control or the interest held by the Group in the JV.
Furthermore, the Board also believes that the formation of a
joint venture with CR Trust can broaden the shareholder base of
the JV and hence enhancing its diversity and potentially its
financing capability, which is beneficial to the future operation
of the JV.
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(V)

The Board (including the independent non-executive Directors)
is of the view that terms of the Supplemental Agreement are
fair and reasonable, and the entering into of the Supplemental
Agreement is on normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

As CR Trust is a subsidiary of CRCL, a controlling shareholder of
the Company, CR Trust is an associate of CRCL and thus a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the entering
into of the Supplemental Agreement by CR Land Holdings and
the JV constitutes a connected transaction of the Company and
is subject to requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 21 April
2021.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION — COLLABORATION
AGREEMENT

On 8 June 2021 (after trading hours), Zhuhai Rundi Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (“Zhuhai Rundi”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the Agreement with Zhuhai
China Resources Bank Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank"”) in relation to the
proposed collaboration arrangement for the bidding of the land
located at the Hi-Tech Industrial Development District of Zhuhai,
the PRC by Zhuhai Rundi and the sale and purchase of the
target properties, for a total consideration of
RMB1,261,520,000 (subject to adjustment), in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Agreement.

The Company views that upon the successful bidding of the
land in accordance with the Agreement, the Group can lay a
strong root and foundation at the core development area in the
Hi-Tech Industrial Development District in Zhuhai which is
beneficial for any possible subsequent acquisition and
development around the area by the Group and to strengthen
the understanding of the Zhuhai High-tech Zone. The Company
believes that with the expertise of the Group in real estate
development and the extensive experience and network in the
banking industry of CR Bank, the entry and presence of CR
Bank on the land can further synergistically develop brand
influence to promote high-quality development of industrial
clusters in the area. The transactions can also alleviate the
upfront financial pressure of the Group for the development on
the land and enhance certainty in the future planning of the
land by the Group.
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The Board (including the independent non-executive Directors)
is of the view that terms of the Agreement are fair and
reasonable, and the entering into of the Agreement is
conducted on normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

As CR Bank is a 30%-controlled company (as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) of CRC, a controlling
shareholder of the Company, CR Bank is an associate of CRC
and thus a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
entering into of the Agreement by Zhuhai Rundi constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 8 June 2021.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION — FORMATION OF
JOINT INVESTMENT COMPANY WITH BEUJING
XIULING RUNRUI INFORMATION CONSULTING
CENTER (LIMITED PARTNERSHIP)* FOR THE
WENZHOU PROJECT

On 20 October 2021, Shanghai Hongzhe Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Hongzhe") (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Beijing Xiuling Runrui
Information Consulting Center (Limited Partnership) (“Beijing
Xiuling Runrui”) entered into the Cooperation Agreement,
pursuant to which the parties agreed to the following (a) if
Beijing Xiuling Runrui is selected as the ultimate investor of
Wenzhou Runmao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
("Wenzhou Runmao”), it shall increase the share capital of
Wenzhou Runmao, pursuant to which Shanghai Hongzhe and
Beijing Xiuling Runrui will hold Wenzhou Runmao at the equity
interest ratio of 51% and 49% respectively for the purpose of
investing into the Wenzhou Project; and (b) the Cooperation
Agreement shall regulate their respective rights and obligations
in Wenzhou Runmao.

097

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited



ol

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

098

tRFEERERERRNOMB AR - mE
R R R R AR AR » EIE - b
FEBERARANBEAL - RIELETR
AIF14AE - RERXZHBERARBHHEER
5 o

BINERTERIGER - RNEEAFEMEAR
1518 = A R %2 400,000,000 7T ( #4748 & 7
2,904,000,000 7 7T ) 3 B & M 15 B AR A 5
BAEFESBREINEROIEL G HE
PuNNE

. g EkEE AR ¥ 1,174,000,000 7T (49
HE 7 1,420,540,000 7 7T)

o  IRFBEHEARY1,127,960,784.31
7T (KM A 1,364,832,549.02 7 7T)

ARBRBRBR D EAEEEARESE
B ERXFBEEETER &R R
K B S AREAH - RMNIBR TFEAR
AIEFREEHTAE BREARARFTE
MEEERHENEE -

FE(REBUINTES)RE  BHRS
TR A TR ALE B H R
EHBRPREFHERRTY - BHERS
MERBATAE  BHARARRERE
BRI -

Ef=2

o

EXFERBFHBFERARRTN T - —F
TAZTBRNENEERSNE

—ZT - —FE#HE  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Beijing Xiuling Runrui is a subsidiary of CRC, which is in turn a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, Beijing
Xiuling Runrui is a connected person of the Company and the
proposed transaction constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

After completion of the increase of the registered capital of
Wenzhou Runmao, the registered capital of Wenzhou Runmao
shall be increased to RMB2,400,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately to HK$2,904,000,000), which shall be
contributed by the equity interest holders of Wenzhou Runmao
in proportion to their respective equity interests in Wenzhou
Runmao as follows:

° Shanghai Hongzhe RMB1,174,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately to HK$1,420,540,000)

° Beijing Xiuling Runrui RMB1,127,960,784.31 (equivalent
to approximately to HK$1,364,832,549.02)

The Company believes that the proposed transaction will benefit
the Group by minimizing the burden of capital commitment on
the Group and the risks associated with real estate projects in
the PRC. The Wenzhou Project will also allow the Company and
CR Trust to jointly cooperate and expand the asset management
reach and reputation of the Company in the PRC.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) consider that the proposed transaction is in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on normal
commercial terms after arm’s length negotiations between the
parties, and the terms of the proposed transaction are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 20 October
2021.
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(V1) CONNECTED TRANSACTION — ENTERING INTO

AGREEMENT OF INTENT IN RELATION TO THE
SALE AND PURCHASE OF PROPERTY

On 22 November 2021, China Resources (Shenzhen) Co, Ltd.
("China Resources Shenzhen"),as the vendor and an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and China Resources
Cement Investments Limited (“CR Cement Investments”) ,as the
purchaser and an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), entered
into the Agreement of Intent pursuant to which China
Resources Shenzhen agreed to sell, and CR Cement Investments
agreed to purchase, property at the consideration of
RMB809,571,680 (equivalent to approximately to
HK$987,677,450). The property is intended to be used as office
premises of CR Cement Investments and some of its
subsidiaries.

As at the date of the announcement, China Resources Shenzhen
is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, whose
controlling shareholder is China Resources (Holdings), which is
in turn a controlling shareholder of CR Cement and CR Cement
Investments is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CR
Cement. Accordingly, the Company and CR Cement are
connected persons of each other, and the proposed transaction
constitutes a connected transaction of each of the Company
and CR Cement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Amongst the continuous oversupply of commercial offices in
the current market, the proposed transaction is expected to be
one of the few successful cases of high profile transactions in
the Shenzhen market this year, further enhancing the market
image of the Group. As well, the use of the property by CR
Cement Investments as its headquarters will also strengthen the
cooperative relationship between the Group and the local
government of the Luohu District and is expected to boost sales
of other projects in the area.

=B AR AR China Resources Land Limited 099



B

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ARBEENEHNEESR (BEKEFSRA
EZemBEUIFNTER)ORE  BERAH
BN ER DR ERA XSRS BAFA
12 ML ERHpEEENEERERBKE
SESEMAEEBTETINEASKE
FRNOERBMKFE BRREBEN L -

EXFERBFBENARAR_-F
T—AZ+-BTIENEERSRE -

B A2 5
FHEEARESHE

RZZE—NAF+-_AhB  ARAREFEBEH]
VHEZE - —_F+-_A=+—HI=ZAFERE
IMEREZRBHELER( T —HLFBIMERE
RipE]) c BE_T—NWERIMERERHZ
ARAFLREFMRE - ZE—NFBIMERE R
FHIERALA BETH A (BB IER R BIR S B E(A
BER)NWBARBELEE ARELKETLE
FoABERAR

(@) FHEE: UK

b) FEBRLTRABAMRBEARAR-_FT—IF
TZANBNFERER S ([ ZFERER
HNREZEBR)UREEARE-Z—N
FHRIMERE K% R KL AR RETAI 7 (2
NERER P BRI A B8R A K BT
RERB)BMBAT -

100

- —FEHRE ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Both the Directors of the Company and the CR Cement
directors (including the independent non-executive directors of
their respective boards of directors) are of the view that the
terms of the Agreement of Intent are on normal commercial
terms which are fair and reasonable and the entering into of the
Agreement of Intent is in the ordinary and usual course of
business of each of the Group and CR Cement Group and in
the interests of each of the Group, the CR Cement Group and
their respective shareholders as a whole.

Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 22 November
2021.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

INTRA-GROUP LENDING BETWEEN MEMBERS OF THE
CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

On 9 December 2019, the Company and CRH entered into offshore
framework loan agreement and guarantee for three years ending 31
December 2022 (“Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019").
Pursuant to Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019, the
Company and any of its subsidiaries which has become a party to
Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019 by acceding to its terms,
but excluding any entity which is established in the PRC could make
loans denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars,
whereas, Borrowers were:

(@) CRH; and

(b) any China Resources Group listed company as defined in the
continuing connected transactions announcement of the
Company dated 9 December 2019 (the “CCT Announcement”)
and any of their subsidiaries, which has become a party to the
Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019 by acceding to its
terms, but excluding any entity which is established in the PRC
and any member of the Group.



FAA ARFREEFRNIVBEE-_FT_—
T A=+ —ALE=AFENRRNERERGHH
([ZZ2-NFREAEREFBH]) (ZT—NFR
SMERERBHE L —T - NERANERER DA
R - NFERERWR] - RE-F—H
FIRAERE R MR - AR R B HY E A
AR =T - NFRAEREK R ERALK ST
MM ERRSIFLARBER  BERARE
B ARBRERRNDIERR LM ARRF
BERIHERRE - NFRAERERHH
FRRILAK DT T H B AR - BENBIEIKEE
BIRITR D BR AR (TEBIRT)) - FHARER
SREERAR([ERBERD RARRHEMH B A
g o

Y- NFERERBAER/AATRTES
Bt BEEEEERKRESER  BFARAH
BETREMBARZBNAESKREER  ETH
fEERAT (BRFEBERN REFER)

HREEARD AEBEEZEBREER - MEHE
BRAEARB IR ERD - WEERD RERE
BARRRZEEAL(EER LA  Eit -
R ETRAY . —E-NFERERBIBKE

—E-NFERBZNFFERNZTEWERS

o

>N
Iff

On the same date, the Company and CRC also entered into an
onshore framework loan agreement for the three years ending 31
December 2022 (“Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019")
(Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019 and Onshore Framework
Loan Agreement 2019 shall collectively be referred to as the
“Framework Loan Agreements 2019"). Pursuant to the Onshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2019, any subsidiary of the Group
established in the PRC which has become a party to Onshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2019 by acceding to its terms can make
loans denominated in Renminbi. Borrowers were CRC, and any PRC
established subsidiary of CRC or a China Resources Group listed
company, which has become a party to the Onshore Framework Loan
Agreement 2019 by acceding to its terms, but excluding Zhuhai China
Resources Bank Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank"”), China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust”) and any subsidiary of the Company.

The Company has been provided with higher flexibility through the
entering of the Framework Loan Agreements 2019, with respect to its
management of surplus cash resources and it was permitted to lend
its own surplus cash resources and part of its subsidiaries’ to other
members of China Resources Group (including CRC and CRH).

By virtue of CRC being the controlling shareholder of CRH which in
turn holds the controlling interest of the Company, CRC and CRH are
the connected persons of the Company within the meaning of the
Listing Rules. As such, Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Framework
Loan Agreements 2019 constituted continuing connected
transactions.

Details of the Framework Loan Agreements 2019 are set out in the
CCT Announcement.
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The proposed annual lending caps for the Group for the term of the
Framework Loan Agreements 2019 are as follows:

BET-_A=T-HLFENZFESHERLR

Daily lending cap for the year ending 31 December

2020 2021 2022
AREEETT AREEERT ARBEET
RMB million RMB million RMB million
4,000 4,000 4,000
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no loan lent to
connected persons by the Group pursuant to the Framework Loan
Agreements 2019.

STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS BETWEEN
MEMBERS OF THE CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

On 9 December 2019, the Company and CR Bank entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement for the three years ending 31
December 2022 (”CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019"),
pursuant to which, any deposit made with CR Bank under these
arrangements will bear the same interest and be on the same terms
and conditions as would apply to a similar deposit made by any other
customer of the bank, which rates are determined with reference to
such other more preferential rates. Pursuant to CR Bank Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2019, other than deposit services, from time
to time, the Group may use the commercial banking services of CR
Bank including, but not limited to, letter of credit, letter of guarantee,
granting of loans with collaterals, bill acceptance and discount
services, account receivable factoring services, RMB and foreign
currency settlements, provision of loans and security, wealth and cash
management services, financial consulting service and other financial
services as agreed by the parties. These services will be provided on
normal commercial terms which apply to other customers of CR Bank.
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On the same day, the Company and CR Trust entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2022
("CR Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019”, together with
CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019 referred to as
“Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019"), pursuant to which, from
time to time, the Group may use services provided by CR Trust
including, but not limited to, cash management, asset management,
custodian trust loan services, equity cooperation, account receivable
factoring services, buying and resale services consulting services and
other trust services. These services will be provided on normal
commercial terms and will be charged at a rate no less favorable as
would apply to similar services provided to any of CR Trust's other
clients.

The proposed annual caps for financial services under both of the
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019 have been determined after
taking into account of the Group’s liquidity, business needs and the
expected level of services to be received from CR Bank and CR Trust
under the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019.

The Group is permitted to use the deposit services and other financial
services of CR bank and CR Trust as a result of the entering of the
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019, which, under normal
commercial terms, supported the internal development of CRH in a
scale not causing resource exposure to the Group and not
jeopardizing the relationship between Group and other financial
institutions.

By virtue of CRC being the controlling shareholder of CRH which in
turn holds the controlling interest of the Company, CRC and CRH are
connected persons of the Company within the meaning of the Listing
Rules. CRC held 70.28% and 51% of the registered capital in CR
Bank and CR Trust respectively. As such, CR Bank and CR Trust are
connected persons of the Company and the above arrangements
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company,
details of which were set out in the CCT Announcement.
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The proposed maximum daily deposit amount, inclusive of interest
payable, placed by the Group with CR Bank for the term of CR Bank
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019 is set out as follows:

BET-A=T-HLFENSHERSHELR
Maximum daily deposit amount
for the year ending 31 December

2020 2021 2022
ARBEERT ARBEERT AR®EER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
#=HIRTT CR Bank 3,500 3,500 3,500
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the highest daily deposit
amount by the Group with CR Bank was approximately
RMB3,322,688,000, total Interest income received from the deposit
amounted to approximately RMB25,982,000.

Besides, the proposed maximum daily amount of financial services
and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to the Group for the
term of Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019:

BE+t-A=+-HLFEZSREHELR
Maximum daily amount
for the year ending December

2020 2021 2022

ARBEERT AR®EER AR®EER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

FHIRTT NEB SR Financial services and products 5,000 5,000 5,000

AEERHERRE

REM and CR Trust

provided to the Group by CR Bank
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BT NFEEEIERE 2GR TRHEBRTR
EHEARASEREHERRELREREHES
& E A AREHA475,000,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the maximum daily amount of
financial services and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to
the Group was approximately RMB475,000,000 under the terms of
the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019.
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PROVISION OF CONSTRUCTION, DECORATION AND
FURNITURE SERVICES AND SALES OF CONSTRUCTION
MATERIAL FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Group has been, during the normal course of its businesses,
providing construction and decoration services and selling furniture
and construction material to members of the CRH Group and
associates of CRH. Construction services provided by the Group
include building construction, mechanical and electrical engineering
and installation as well as urban utilities. Decoration services provided
by the Group include interior design, decoration and furnishing of
offices, commercial and residential properties. Furniture services
provided by the Group include furniture manufacturing and sale.

On 9 December 2019, the Company and CRH, entered into the
Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and Furniture
Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework Agreement
2019 (“Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and
Furniture Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework
Agreement 2019") to govern the principal terms of the provision of
construction and decoration services and furniture manufacturing and
sale services as well as the sales of construction material in the PRC by
the Group to the members of the CRH Group (namely CRH and its
subsidiaries, excluding the Group) and associates of CRH for the three
financial years ending 31 December 2022.

Each contract of construction, decoration or furniture services or sales
of construction material will be entered into on normal commercial
terms and the prices will be either at market prices or at prices no less
favorable to the Group than those available from independent third
parties.

The annual caps are determined taking into account the business
needs of members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH and the
expected level of services to be provided by the Group under the
Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and Furniture
Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework Agreement
2019.
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The proposed annual caps for the Provision of Construction Services,
Decoration Services and Furniture Services and Sales of Construction
Material Framework Agreement 2019 for the three years ending 31
December 2022 are as follows:

BE+-—A=1+—HLEE

For the year ending 31 December

2020 2021 2022

ARBEERT ARBEERT ARB®EER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

B PR The Construction Caps 1,800 1,800 1,800
& FR The Decoration Caps 650 650 650
B R ER The Construction Material Caps 1,000 1,000 1,000
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As CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company, the members
of the CRH Group and associates of CRH are the connected persons
of the Company as defined under the Listing Rules. Such transactions
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company and
details of which are set out in the CCT Announcement.

The caps and the actual amount of the above continuing connected
transactions in 2021 are shown as follows:

2021FE LR 20215 ERXZSH

IH5 Annual caps  Actual transaction
No.  ¥%E5I Business Type in 2021 amounts in 2021
AREBEER ARMEBEER

RMB million RMB million

iR Construction 1,800 657

£ Decoration 650 189
EEMEHEE Sales of Construction Material 1,000 40
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PROPERTY LEASING AND CONCESSIONAIRE
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Group has been, during the normal course of its businesses,
entering into leasing and concessionaire arrangements regarding its
property portfolio where members of the Group lease premises to
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH. On 9 December
2019, the Company and CRH entered into the Leasing and
Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2019 (“the Leasing and
Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2019”) to govern the principal
terms of the leasing and concessionaire arrangements.
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Subject to further definitive written agreements, from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive), the Group will enter into
new leasing agreements or new concessionaire agreements with
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH in the ordinary
and usual course of business on the following terms:

(@) each of the leasing or concessionaire arrangements to be
entered into by a member of the Group with a member of the
CRH Group or an associate of CRH will be documented in a
separate written agreement; and

(b) each leasing or concessionaire arrangement will be entered into
on normal commercial terms with the rents, management fees
and other charges received by the Group from any members of
the CRH Group or associates of CRH being either at market
prices or at prices no less favorable to the Group than those
available from independent third parties.

As the usage of the leasing and concessionaire arrangements by
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH is anticipated to
exceed the original projection, the original annual caps for the leasing
and concessionaire arrangements for the financial years ending 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2022 are expected to be
insufficient. Accordingly, on 25 August 2021, the Board resolved to
revise the annual caps for the leasing and concessionaire
arrangements for the financial years ending 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2022 and to re-comply with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save for the revision of the annual
caps for the leasing and concessionaire arrangements with members
of the CRH Group and associates of CRH, all terms and conditions of
the Leasing and Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2019 remain
unchanged.
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According to the Leasing and Concessionaire Framework Agreement
2019 and the board resolution of the Company dated on 25 August
2021, the proposed annual caps for the three years ending 31

LU December 2022 are as follows:
BE+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ending 31 December
2020 2021 2022
ARBEERT AR¥EBEEBRT AR®EBEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
MERTHALR The Leasing and Concessionaire Caps 650 850 850
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The annual cap and actual transaction amount in 2021 of the above

BEONR - continuing connected transaction are set out below:
2021FE LR 20215 ERRZ SR
Annual caps  Actual transaction
E3 0% Business Type in 2021 amounts in 2021
ARBEETRT ARBEETRT
RMB million RMB million
MERTHALR The Leasing and Concessionaire Caps 850 520
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CRH owns the controlling interest of the Company. Therefore,
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH are the connected
persons of the Company, as defined in the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the above arrangements constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company.
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THE FACTORING SERVICES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
AND THE LEASE FINANCING FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

On 27 August 2021, the Company entered into (i) the Factoring
Services Framework Agreement with RUNXIN Commercial Factoring
Co. Ltd. (“the Factoring Company”), pursuant to which the Factoring
Company has agreed to provide the Group with general commercial
factoring and related consultation services, for a term effective from
27 August 2021 to 31 December 2022 and (ii) the Lease Financing
Framework Agreement with China Resources Leasing Co., Ltd. (“the
Lease Financing Company”), pursuant to which the Lease Financing
Company has agreed to provide the Group with general financial
leasing and related consultation services, for a term effective from 27
August 2021 to 31 December 2022.

Each of the Factoring Company and the Lease Financing Company are
members of the CRH Group. As CRH is a controlling Shareholder of
the Company, members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH are
connected persons of the Company and the New Connected
Transaction Agreements with members of the CRH Group and
associates of CRH constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company.

(1) THE FACTORING SERVICES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

Under the Factoring Services Framework Agreement, the scope
of services and principle of the provision of services are as
follows.

Scope of services: The Factoring Company will provide general
commercial factoring and related consultation services to the
Group in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Factoring Services Framework Agreement, including factoring
financing, sales (sub-account) management, collection of
accounts receivables, non-commercial bad debt guarantees,
customer credit investigations and evaluations, and consultation
services related to commercial factoring. For the specific terms
(including types of services, interest rates, service fees, payment
terms, rights and obligations of the parties) with respect to each
specific commercial factoring service under the Factoring
Services Framework Agreement, the Factoring Company and
the Group will enter into separate agreements in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Factoring Services
Framework Agreement.
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Principle of the provision of services: Under the Factoring
Services Framework Agreement, the Factoring Company has
undertaken to: (i) provide quality and effective financial services
and products to the Group and promptly take into consideration
the opinions of the Group in relation to such services and
products; and (i) actively support the operations of the Group,
prioritize the approval of the financing applications of the
Group, and based on the business circumstances, enable the
green channel for important customers (if applicable).

According to the Factoring Services Framework Agreement, the
proposed annual caps for the two years ending 31 December
2022 are as follows.

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

For the year ending 31 December

2021 2022

ARBEER ARBBEER

RMB million RMB million

RIEBRIFR Ze 58 Factoring services transaction amount 3,000 3,000

EIZSEYNSIF-ENEoRRSN Interest and service fees paid by the 200 200
RRGE Group to the Factoring Company

ERRFERAER SN S —FELREE

The annual cap and actual transaction amount in 2021 of the

BRefEIT - above continuing connected transaction are set out below:
2021FE LR 202156BERXZEE
Annual caps  Actual transaction
ES %Vl Business Type in 2021 amounts in 2021
ARBEET ARBEETR
RMB million RMB million
RERBRHEE Factoring services transaction 3,000 0
amount
FRIER A HFLE Interest and service fees 200 0
PV E= paid by the Group to the
Factoring Company
110 —=——4E#%% ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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THE LEASE FINANCING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

Under the Lease Financing Framework Agreement, the scope of
services and the principle of the provision of services are as
follows.

Scope of services: The Lease Financing Company will provide
general financial leasing and related consultation services to the
Group in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Lease
Financing Framework Agreement, including operating lease
financing and financial leasing. For the specific terms (including
lease principal, interest rates, service fees, payment terms, rights
and obligations of the parties) with respect to each specific
financial leasing service under the Lease Financing Framework
Agreement, the Lease Financing Company and the Group will
enter into separate agreements in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Lease Financing Framework Agreement.

Principle of the provision of services: Under the Lease Financing
Framework Agreement, the Lease Financing Company has
undertaken to: (i) provide quality and effective financial services
and products to the Group and promptly take into consideration
the opinions of the Group in relation to such services and
products; and (ii) actively support the operations of the Group,
prioritize the approval of the financing applications of the
Group, and based on the business circumstances, enable the
green channel for important customers (if applicable).

The execution of the Factoring Services Framework Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder would help the
Group to optimise its asset structure, accelerate the efficiency of
asset turnover, save costs, improve the efficiency of capital
utilisation, broaden its financing channels and reduce its
financing costs. The transactions are in line with the Company’s
overall development strategy and in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

The execution of the Lease Financing Framework Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder would enable
the Group to expand its financing channels and optimize its
financial structure. The transactions are in line with the
Company's overall development strategy and in the interests of
the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.
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BEHEREELR G BE-ZT_= According to the Lease Financing Framework Agreement, the
+ o A=+ BHMEAFEZEZFELREH proposed annual caps for the two years ending 31 December
T 2022 are as follows.

BZE+-—A=+—HLEE

For the year ending 31 December

2021 2022

AREBETR ARBEETRT

RMB million RMB million

mAERE AR Amount of lease principal payments 1,000 1,000

HEAS SR

AAERE A BT
ME -~ BEREAE

to be made by the Group to
the Lease Financing Company
Interest, fees and commissions paid 70 70
by the Group to the Lease
Financing Company

BB SN S —FEEREE The annual cap and actual transaction amount in 2021 of the
BRemaT above continuing connected transaction are set out below:

2021FE LR 20215 BRXZLHE
Annual caps  Actual transaction

ES 3ol Business Type in 2021 amounts in 2021

ARBEER ARMEER

RMB million RMB million

M ERVE A A Amount of lease principal payments 1,000 0
HEXEEH to be made by the Group

to the Lease Financing Company

MEERE QRS Interest, fees and commissions paid 70 0

ME - BREERAR by the Group to the Lease

Financing Company

XTI Z GEBEHNARRRN T —F Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the connected
NAZHEBTIENBEERSHAE - transaction announcement of the Company dated 27 August
2021.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the abovementioned continuing
connected transactions, and confirmed that:

1. these transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

2. these transactions have been entered into on normal
commercial terms or better; and

3. these transactions have been entered into according to the
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interest of the Company’s shareholders as
a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued his letter containing his findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group on pages 100 to 112 (the "Disclosed CCTs")
in accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56:

a.  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to
believe that the Disclosed CCTs have not been approved by the
Board.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that
causes him to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group.

C. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions.

d.  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to
believe that the Disclosed CCTs have exceeded the annual caps
set by the Company.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
Stock Exchange.
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The related party transactions except those with joint ventures and
associates as disclosed in paragraph (A) in note 47 to the consolidated
financial statements also fall under the definition of connected
transaction or continuing connected transactions within the meaning
of the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

MODEL CODE REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY THE DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in the Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors of the Company. Having made specific
enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the year under review.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there are sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the Group'’s five largest suppliers and
five largest customers together accounted for less than 30% of the
Groups purchases and sales respectively.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

Pursuant to the placing, underwriting and subscription agreement
dated 22 October 2019, total of 200,000,000 shares with a nominal
value of HK$20,000,000 were issued upon completion of the
subscription on 1 November 2019.

Details of the use of net proceeds are as follows:

REB-BE+A=1-8 R-B=-E+=fA=+-B
HEBRLE EBALE WNEREBALE ABALE EHBARER
Amount intended Amount utilized Amount utilized Amount unutilized Expected timeline
fERENETRE Intended use of net proceeds to be utilized as at 31/12/2020 during the year asat 31/12/2021 of utilization
BT ARBFT BT ARBTT R8T ARBTT BT ARBTR
HK$000 RMB'000 HK$'000 RMB'000 HK$'000 RMB'000 HK$'000 RMB'000
BERRREASERR Acquisiion and development of the 6,050,000 5,506,125 4275716 4012821 1,774,284 1,493,304 0 0 o ili
BN [and in relation to the projects of NA
the Group
—REEES General working capitl of the Group 670,000 609,769 670,000 609,769 0 0 0 0 B
NA
@ Total 6,720,000 6,115,894 4,945,716 4,622,590 1,774,284 1,493,304 0 0

i 5% 43 84 o ik
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements have
been entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

CHARITABLE DONATION

In 2021, the Group's charitable donation amounted to approximately
RMB45.99 million.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 312 of this annual
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Avrticles of Association and there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws in the Cayman Islands.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the audit committee comprises Mr. Wan
Kam To, Peter (Committee Chairman), Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Zhong
Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, all members of the audit committee are
independent non-executive Directors of the Company. The audit
committee has reviewed, together with the management and the
Company'’s auditor, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, risk management, internal
control and financial reporting matters including the consolidated
financial statements for the year.

AUDITORS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2018,
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the auditor of the
Company and Messrs. Ernst & Young was appointed as the
independent auditor of the Company. At the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 9 June 2021, Messrs. Ernst & Young was re-
appointed as the auditor of the Company.

Messrs. Ernst & Young will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming
annual general meeting and is eligible to stand for reappointment.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Xiangming
Chairman

China, 30 March 2022
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Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of China Resources Land Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 128 to 296, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

117

EHEMARAT  China Resources Land Limited



33 7 A% BB oy

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

[5H 3¢ 7% 4% T IH

AREZSFEERERFINFEXAE - RREHA
HESEEMBEHRENBELRREENTE - &5
ZERNEMEREBRGAMBBRRLLARRE
EITRE MEMTEHZSFFHREHREBNE
ReBTXEEREME - HPI2EZNAEIER
REZZRNAANZBAATHEME -

BPMERITARSE [RHMAF LA S BFHRX
FAEMEE] —EMANEE  BRENEER
Mz BE - HEM - RANEXTIERERT
BB ENEGEE P IBEHRRENERR AR
RATMBEZRERF - RPIATEZRFNER B
RREBTHRERAATORF - SRS T
BRERBIBRIEHEE -

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

HREZEE Bz ERNTEEBRERSR
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
REYFEI1E1E

Valuation of investment properties

BABREYELERTESEREZTE  HRZHRER

BAERREMFEENRF 8

HFAMBHRRZBRBEAULBEAFERELEXR

18 -

o  FHMEMERMNERE e N RZFEM AR T B EERD
TrREEE :

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined
with the significant judgements associated with determining
the fair value.
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the investment
properties included:

o Assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuers; as well as obtained an understanding of
the Valuers' scope of work;
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Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EfzEsanAEERARERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REYRAE1E (&)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

EEEZREMEDUNTEAM - FERRE R=F
4+ _A=1+—HiMERARK217,53088 T B
EEERIREMEARKE160312B8T - EREREME
AR¥S1,167TBEETREAEEEARK6,051AET
HER BEEER-_ZE-_—F+-A=+—HREEYN
22.9% - WEMHE N THEEB RS ARK7,79588TER
BHE_ T —F+_A=1T—BLFEZHFENRER®E
The investment properties of the Group were located in the
Mainland China, Hong Kong and the United Kingdom (the
“UK") and carried at RMB217,530 million as at 31
December 2021, including completed investment properties
of RMB160,312 million, investment properties under
construction of RMB51,167 million and right-of-use assets
of RMB6,051 million, which represented approximately
22.9% of the Group's total assets as at 31 December 2021.
A gain on changes in fair value of investment properties of
RMB7,795 million was recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2021.

o HMWAMEERERZERBGERFFEGET AN
K BEREEEERGEMARAEATTEREA
BB AR RBB AR 2 BRI - TR ER
BERZENMRARNES HENELEYEZ AR
BRARRPIEFEHETEZANE - R

o Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the significant unobservable inputs
and the accuracy of the source data adopted by
management of the Group and the Valuers by
comparing them, on a sample basis, to existing tenancy
profiles, publicly available information of similar
comparable properties and our knowledge of the real
estate industry; and
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BH s A% R JH (4) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
BEREREE BMzERZNREEREREE
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REYRAEE (&)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

BEXEENZREMERBBEUEEAERMEEN ( [H o FAEGUBBRRAREVEMEZREEHRER
BE] ) ETHNRERAFEETIR - EERKREDE R °
MEERFETEETIERBARENE - BRERENL

MERFENRTTSES - EEREMENBEDORR

BAREF=E - SHEMRITHMHHEE RMEFTREBAFE

R EEEHREMELNTEIHEHEGMEBEAX -

RERERBRER ELEXHE RIS -

BRRBEINGEAMBEHRRMES [T ESHEH MG
st RfEE16 [REME] -

All of the Group's investment properties were stated at fair e Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures of the
value based on valuations carried out by independent and valuations of investment properties in the consolidated
professionally qualified valuers (the “Valuers”). The financial statements.

valuations of the completed investment properties were

dependent on certain significant unobservable inputs,

including the capitalisation rate and assessed prevailing

market rents. The valuations of investment properties under

construction were dependent on the capitalisation rate,

assessed prevailing market rents and estimated developer’s

profit margin. Management'’s assessment on the fair value

of investment properties was significant to the audit

because this process requires significant judgements and

estimates.

Related disclosures are included in note 5 “Significant
accounting judgements and estimates” and note 16
“Investment properties” to the consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BREREE BMzEZNRERAREREE
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
TR E R 2 MY

Accuracy of land appreciation tax calculations

mARfER EREREYEZERAR KN ZHE LR
ER ( [DHEER] ) SRFRAELEAAE - B
THIRERGTE < R TEE RAREZEE -

BRI E R RBERUAR E £ B LS ED - KB
E-T-—FT-A=T-RLEE  REARERER
IEERARK 19EMT - Y BEETEBEX -
AR HE S MR FTB IR RIS - R Lt
186 3 OB TS BB R AR AL - 130
R{ES B EHEMEOF SRR TIRAL (2
EL AR RIS AMNEEROMY) B -

BRARBEHNREMBRRWMES [ EZ S5 H 8 R
st RMEN TFREHEX] -

We identified the accuracy of land appreciation tax (“LAT")
calculations in the PRC as a key audit matter since
significant judgement was required in estimating the
amount of LAT to be paid by the Group for each of the
property development projects.

LAT arises in the PRC when properties are delivered to the
buyers and revenue is recognised. LAT recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2021 was RMB9, 199 million, which was material
to the Group. Significant judgement was required in
estimating the amounts of land appreciation and the
applicable LAT rate due to the uncertainty of proceeds of
sales of properties and deductible expenditures. The
amount of the land appreciation was determined with
reference to proceeds of the sales of properties less the
estimated deductible expenditures, including the cost of
land use rights and all relevant property development
expenditures.

Related disclosures are included in note 5 “Significant
accounting judgements and estimates” and note 11
“Income tax expenses” to the consolidated financial
statements.

BB IR ERGT B BT BT R
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R LB E R AT & T A 2 a3 E WA K ABRE AT 4
WER AN
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BB 2 TR ES T E B R BRI
BEHERFBERHEEDAM 2 LG ER R R ETT
L& - A ERRIBE TR 2 THIEERHRE 2 &
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o BEREEENBEFEMEMGTRERGRURLA
FEZAHETLEER - FHEEEBNMEFT LB ES
BN IR ER R R R AT A 2 FIER

Our procedures in relation to the accuracy of LAT calculations
included:

o Evaluated the reasonableness of the estimated sales
revenue and the related deductible amounts used in
the LAT calculation with reference to the market prices
and development costs of similar properties of the
Group;

o Involved our internal tax specialists in the PRC to assess
the accuracy of the land appreciation amount
calculations for development projects, on a sample
basis, and to assess the appropriateness of the LAT rate
used for property development projects, on a sample
basis, by comparing it to the LAT rate announced by
the State Administration of Taxation in the PRC; and

o Evaluated the judgements applied by the management
in estimating the land appreciation amount and LAT
rate by comparing their past estimates made in
previous years to the actual results as well as the
current year’s estimates.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BEREREE BMzERZNREEREREE
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HEYREER YA

Revenue recognised from sales of properties

HE_T-—F+-_A=1t—HIFE RE-EBEBHZEX
—BREHEERNYEEERAS I AEARK151,58288
TR ARE32,280E & T °

WARYEZFIREERER PRER - RFA 0GR KE
ARENZBER - MEEHIRAIR —EREREIRE K
REHER - i EREBEQOREEY BEREAEEAH
EMEE - BEXREARFNTERERESCEOED
MR - AR HIRER —BREREE - SYRITEHIE
RIS ER -

For the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue recognised
from sales of properties at a point in time and over time
were RMB151,582 million and RMB32,280 million,
respectively.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the
properties is transferred to customers. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the relevant laws that apply to
the contract, control of the properties may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the properties is
transferred over time if the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, otherwise, control of the
properties is transferred at a point in time.
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from sales
of properties included:

. Obtained and reviewed the terms of sales contracts,
relevant local laws and supporting legal cases, internal
policies of the Group, etc. to assess the enforceability
of the right to payment for each type of sales contracts;

3 Reviewed legal advices and evaluated the basis used to
support legal opinion;

° Checked whether the sales contracts were properly
classified and whether the Group applied appropriate
revenue recognition policy;
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RREREE

Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EfzEsanAEERARERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEYFEZZRA (H)

Revenue recognised from sales of properties (continued)

HREHRS - WER—REBRAE - AW - KGR
B R R BT TR (BURRIEE A QIR R A HERE
RORE)  FRELEXYE - BERECEFHSOK
R AREHEARREMEERENERLDNEEZR
5 BHEEANIBERAIRARBINKIAITENEL -
e & P A B B I A BERR ISR ©

AR —BEERERNEENE ZBANE - BEEEER
HBERHBROEEMNERERERRA - ERERRDE
R EEH B AN B DLLETE -

ERARBHENGREMBRRMES [T EG5HE K
it] RMiEEe [DEER] -

The properties have generally no alternative use due to
contractual restrictions. However, to assess the
enforceability of right to payment which depends on the
terms of the sales contract and the interpretation of the
laws applicable to the contract, a significant judgement is
required. The Group has reviewed the terms of the
contracts, the relevant local laws, the local regulators’ view
and obtained legal advice, to classify sales contracts into
those with an enforceable right to payment and those
without, and therefore has applied different revenue
recognition policy.

For revenue from sales of properties recognised over time,
the Group recognised revenue by measuring the progress
towards satisfaction of the performance obligation at the
reporting date, which was measured by the percentage of
the contract costs incurred to the total estimated cost.

Related disclosures are included in note 5 “Significant
accounting judgements and estimates” and note 6
“Segment information” to the consolidated financial
statements.

o BR-BERERNEAMS  FEEEEETRR
= A HR R EE TR 2 B e E PR U A R A
RZEREN - R

o  ENFAMBMERAZERMEE -

. For revenue recognised over time, assessed the
estimates used by management to determine the
progress towards completion at the reporting date and
checked the accuracy of revenue and costs recognised;
and

. Reviewed the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Law Kwok Kee.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

BE+-A=+T—RHILFE

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

BaE AR®T T ARETIT
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
Wz Revenue 6 212,108,358 179,587,269
HER A Cost of sales (154,908,702) (124,172,054)
EF Gross profit 57,199,656 55,415,215
WEYE 2 N HEZEEIWREE Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties 16 7,794,642 8,884,264
AT EFAEBZZE/IE  Net gain on changes in fair value of
2R EEES R FRE financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL") 42,710 59,888
Hipdg A~ Eible s M EE Other income, other gains and losses 7 4,394,285 4,536,310
HENTMSHEESY H Selling and marketing expenses (6,093,808) (5,351,916)
— R RITH General and administrative expenses (5.871,565) (5,087,244)
JBIEREECEREZFE Share of profits of investments
in joint ventures 2,808,150 1,899,799
JEME R E N EIRE 2 F)E Share of profits of investments
in associates 1,488,915 1,099,806
MBER Finance costs 10 (1,397,227) (1,284,073)
B A& A Profit before taxation 60,365,758 60,172,049
e Income tax expenses 1M1 (22,970,370) (26,081,775)
F R F Profit for the year 12 37,395,388 34,090,274
AT ATEEF AR Profit for the year attributable to:
KAREEA A Owners of the Company 32,401,239 29,809,959
KEBEEBARTEHEAA Owners of perpetual capital instruments - 220,569
AR Non-controlling interests 4,994,149 4,059,746
37,395,388 34,090,274
RAREEERTTE ARG EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
FRREF| ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF AR AR
THE COMPANY RMB RMB
AR Basic
— FAZmAH — For profit for the year 14 4.54 418
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HETZ-A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31 December

AR¥T T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB'000
F 1R ) Profit for the year 37,395,388 34,090,274
Hith 2 E W Other comprehensive income
HEnfEESHE BmiAH Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
NHEER IR REH Fair value hedges and cash flow hedges:
FRELENE P TAEAFE Changes in fair value of hedging
FEYR R D A E D instruments due to forward elements
and effective portion arising
during the year (75,756) 232,423
WEEINETSFIEL ZEHZE  Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (231,532) 39,894
REBEFErENEEZERN Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that
Hib2mE (E518) Wt F5E may be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent years (307,288) 272,317
HE BT e ES R T B m A Items that will not be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
BERBEBEMEEES Loss on changes in fair value of equity
BRATHEYRZIRATAR instruments designated at fair value
2 AN HEZEEE through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI") (11,775) (10,420)
RNEBEEEITEENAETEZA  Net other comprehensive loss that will
Hib 2 H/BEFRE not be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent years (11,775) (10,420)
FREME2E (EBE), IS Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (319,063) 261,897
FRPEW BT Total comprehensive income for the year 37,076,325 34,352,171
AT ATEEEE AR Total comprehensive income attributable to:
ViN/NEIEZ 2SN Owners of the Company 32,153,983 30,058,329
KEEBRTEFEB A Owners of perpetual capital instruments = 220,569
I s Non-controlling interests 4,922,342 4,073,273
37,076,325 34,352,171
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—E2-—F —ETHF
+t=A=+—-BH +t=A=t+—H
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
BfaE ARMT T ARBT T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS

ME - B NERE Property, plant and equipment 15 15,427,154 14,095,322
EREEE Right-of-use assets 17 6,239,461 5,816,935
B Investment properties 16 217,530,118 187,379,425
BILEE Intangible assets 18 76,356 40,913
Bk Goodwill 11,544 11,544
REBEIRE Investments in joint ventures 19 40,940,180 35,586,348
/N s Investments in associates 20 21,059,848 17,848,954

EERSBREMEERE Equity instruments designated at

BRATEIERZRATA FVOC| 21 1,100,462 1,116,163
A ERTABZRZ Financial assets at FVPL

TREE 22 152,374 150,124
FHIER Time deposits 23 2,474,608 -
ERENEE 2B FIA Prepayments for non-current assets 25 1,525,343 2,121,759
EEFIEEE Deferred taxation assets 26 11,214,154 10,306,764
JE U B RS 5 0B Amounts due from related parties 30 11,992,508 14,297,323
JE U ST AR 25 50 TE Amounts due from non-controlling

interests 30 4,787,416 6,216,637
334,531,526 294,988,211
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
e 2 Properties for sale 27 402,563,432 376,161,525
HFEE Other inventories 463,065 928,754
FEUARER - Efh R ULERIE Trade receivables, other receivables,

AR RENET S prepayments and deposits 28 48,461,358 49,163,844
BREE Contract assets 29 1,547,444 1,388,227
AT ETAEBRE ZSBEE  Financial assets at FVPL 22 1,237,439 4,783,678
JrE s AR 5 SR IE Amounts due from related parties 30 25,921,325 30,073,498
FEMIEIE AR HE 2 FRIE Amounts due from non-controlling

interests 30 14,801,388 10,654,057

TR Prepaid taxation 11,529,164 11,449,061
ZIRH| R T IR Restricted bank deposits 31 1,975,335 1,916,369
WENIRTEF Cash and bank balances 31 106,772,788 87,534,176
615,272,738 574,053,189
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31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Fo5E AR¥T T AREFIT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
REAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FETBR N N L fh FE (T BR1E Trade and other payables 32 131,692,790 117,898,821
HEEE Lease liabilities 17 1,044,306 187,785
ARG Contract liabilities 33 212,719,073 232,584,967
BATEFABRZ Financial liability at FVPL
EHBE 22 3,510 -
e REEE 5 I8 Amounts due to related parties 34 25,928,254 21,460,541
FERT IR AR I 2 RIE Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 34 9,187,825 5,311,492
FERHFRIE Taxation payable 29,507,461 30,863,640
RITRAEMBEST — Bank and other borrowings — due
—FREIE within one year 35 49,321,902 25,721,787
FHARIE — Medium-term notes — due
—FNEIH within one year 37 5,222,066 9,821,573
464,627,187 443,850,606
MEEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 150,645,551 130,202,583
EERERRBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 485,177,077 425,190,794
R EQUITY
(&N Share capital 38 673,829 673,829
B Reserves 225,855,441 202,784,299
NAEEA AR Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 226,529,270 203,458,128
AR = Non-controlling interests 65,546,704 52,784,050
292,075,974 256,242,178
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31 December 31 December

2021 2020
BfaE ARMT T ARBT T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
FERBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
RITREMBEE — Bank and other borrowings — due
—F1%ZI|H after one year 35 90,746,848 102,232,609
BRER — —F1458 Senior notes — due after one year 36 12,575,147 12,878,137
FHARIR — — &2 H Medium-term notes — due
after one year 37 22,108,888 14,330,869
HEBE Lease liabilities 17 4,757,826 5,256,522
BATERT AEZE Financial liability at FVPL
ZEeMBE 22 - 15,789
FET RS 5 7kE Amounts due to related parties 34 21,694,690 6,733,100
e FEPR AR A 2 5 E Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 34 11,686,927 2,823,148
RHEBFE 8 Long-term payables 126,278 111,379
TTESmTE Derivative financial instruments 24 251,575 100,262
BEEFIEAE Deferred taxation liabilities 26 29,152,924 24,466,801
193,101,103 168,948,616
ERAERFRBEE TOTAL OF EQUITY AND
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 485,177,077 425,190,794

HRNE 1282906 B VX BRI ENR T =
FZAZt+HHESFSH AERRETZE  WHA

TALTRERRE :

WANG XIANGMING
EX

DIRECTOR

EZE

March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

LI XIN

EJ0A
DIRECTOR

EF
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The consolidated financial statements on pages 128 to 296 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-F-_—FT-A=T—RLFE For the year ended 31 December 2021

ARREEARLE

Attributable to owners of the Company

R | b3 b= REER EATR #
Perpetual Perpetual

Share Share Hedging ~ Translation Other Retained capital apital  controlling
capital premium feserve feserve Teserves profits instrument Total  instruments nterests

ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETRT ARETR ARETR
RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RWBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD

(Htska) (Br3kb) (B3 39)
(note a) (note b) (note 39)
RZZ-NE At 31 December 2019
+-A=t+-H 673829 58,529,724 (6,559) (847,688)  (3,517,396) 113,679,046 7381436 175892392 10,000,000 49898438 235,790,830
ERET Profit for the year - - - - - 29809959 - 29809959 220,569 4059746 34090274
EREEMERIA Changes in fair value of hedging
APERHNEESS instruments due to forward elements
REREHS and effective portion during the year - - 23483 - - - - 23043 - - 230433
REGNERFEL,  bichange diferences on translation of
EizR foreign operations - - - 26,367 - - - 26,367 - 13527 39,894
HEARBEM2AUE  Losson changes n fai value of
RATEIR 2 RA equity instruments designated
TEZATEESEE  athOC - - - - (10420) - - (10420) - - (10420
FREENGEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 232423 26,367 (10420) 29,809,959 - 30058329 220,569 4073273 343521
REMEEATA Redemption of perpetual capital
instruments - - - - - - - - (10,000,000) - (10,000,000)
RERRER Appropriation of retained profits - - - - 3ImE (3178632 - - - - -
WEMHBAR(ME43)  Acoisiion of subsidiaries (Note 43) - - - - - - - - - 7318 mIs
EEHBARES Acaquisition of additional interest in
subsidiaries - - - - 153113 - - 153,113 - (788,627) (635,514)
WEZEREHR Acquisttion of subsidiaries under
HEAR common control - - - - (2,604000) - - (2,604,000) - - (2,604000)
HEMBARBMERT  Partal isposal of subsidiares without
TEEEEHEIE)  lossof control (Note - - - - 798603 - - 7986035 - 365443 11640458
BELENBAT Deemed disposal of subsidiaries
(Mita2) (Note 42) - - - - - - - - - @mser)  @7sor)
FERERLE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 2,103,907 2,103,907
HAEERTEEAA  Distibution to the owners of
etz 2 perpetual capital instruments - - - - - (268,320) - (2683200 (220,569) - (483,889)
BRFEERERRE Dividend paid to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - (191241)  (1912,421)
St E Interim dividend for 2020 - - - - - (1069641 o (1.069641) . o (1068641)
SE-NERERE  Findl dvidend for 2019 - - - - - (6689780 - (668978 - - (6689780
R-E-%% At31 December 2020
T-A=t-R 673829 58,529,724 225,864 (821,321) 5185964 132,282,632 7381436 203,458,128 - 52,784,050 256,242,178

FHEMAPR A China Resources Land Limited 133



B 0 I AS S B 4
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

ARARAAEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

Ra  ROEE  HAEE  EXRE  BMEE  REEW KERAIR i FERER

Perpetual Non-

Share Share Hedging  Translation Other Retained capital controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserves profits  instrument [EEY

ARBTR  ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR  ARMTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

(Hzka) (&)
(note a) (note b)
W_Z-%F At 31 December 2020 673829 58,529,724 225,864 (821,321) 5185964 132,282,632 7381436 203,458,128 52,784,050 256,242,178
tZf=t-8
ERET Proftfor the year = = = = - 0139 - DAY 4994149 37,395388
EREENEHTE  Changesin fair value of hedging
ANFELHNHEADS  instruments due to forward
RERHBA elements and effective portion
during the year - - (75,756) - - - - (75,756) - (75,756)
BEENEBFESL,  Exchange differences on translation
EfzR of foreign operations - - - (159,725) - - - (159,725) (11.807)  (231532)
ETABBEMZEUNE Losson changes in fair value of
BATEFIR 2 RA equity instruments designated
IEZAVEZYEE  athOC - - - - (11,775) - - (11,775) - (11,775)
FRLARGEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - (75,756) (159,725) (11,775) 32,401,239 - 32,153,983 4922342 37,076,325
REETER Appropriation of retained profits - - - - 2831001 (2:831,001) = = = =
BENBAER Acquisition of additional interest
in a subsidiary - - - - 68,403 - - 68,403 (1,622,555  (1,554,152)
HE-HBARSR  Partial disposal of a subsidiary without
BERMUEXEREE  loss of control - - - - 5,750 - - 5,750 (5,750) -
FERERLE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 1138395 11,383,956
MAEERTEGEAA  Distribution to the owners of
etz 2k perpetual capital instrument - - - - - (251,854) - (251,854) - (251,854)
DFFHARERRE  Dividend paid to non-controling
interests - - - - - - - - (1,915339)  (1,915339)
—ZT--E0HRE Interim dividend for 2021 - - - - - (124211) - (1224211) - (12421)
“Z-FERERE Final dividend for 2020 - - - - - (7,680,929) - (7,680,929) - (7,680,929)
A —S At 31 December 2021
+-A=f-H 673829 58,529,724 150,108 (981,046) 8,079,343 152,695,876 7381436 226,529,270 65,546,704 292,075,974
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(a)

(b)

(@)

HitFEIEREREARE  —REE  FiRE

BOHFEE WX BELREERERENERZE
B Mg BB B E b 2 E SR A FET R Z R
ATARFEZE -

RIERE AR KB ([ E ) BEEG &
- KEIZEPIBH%

KRBT
RIZBRBRIFRZEF10%

1ER—RFEE  EE—REFBEERMNE A R Z T
EAR50% R - ZREBETREGHENBARZ

B NAMERIAR - AR RFHE R SIE N

5 ) o M o L B PR BB R P A T 3 R SR R
BEAZ £ - HEENHERREENBHEMEA
Rl Z EfE RS 2 B2 AR ZEER ©

WKEEATARARABMIEARRNBLRRET -
BRKEEART A ZFBWENHEE39 -

AEER=_Z—NF+-_A=+—B2Z2EHBRQ
%f‘i%%iﬁﬁﬁ& A (TBREE DR _7_§¢
+ZANBERAHERSMARAR ([ HBHR
Fr)ERET - RAHBE @ BRAEFUNEREK22.307T
3838 A B3 & 397 550,000,000 A% M {& 4 0.00001 3
TZ2EBRITARAEE]) BESRERER
12,265,000,0007T e RZE_TF+_A=+=H "
ESETEREBH T EHRIASRE 2230 T
EE &%éfﬁ 82,500,000 A& {& /4 0.00001 %7521%,\
HNERD © AR S KRB AB1,839,750,000 7T AR
BnE &%Eﬁl\a TERE - AEBBIFHE 100% BRE
SEZIRHE  BEE A ET72.29% RHE o kR 5 BRIE
EEMBA RSB S M EREIESEZRS - I
ERESKCAZRSHER ARBREMESREFE =2
EE%{'@%{%%WU °©

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Other reserves mainly comprise capital reserve, general reserve, special
reserve, merger reserve, revaluation gain of property, plant and equipment
when transferred to investment properties and changes in fair value of equity
instruments designated at FVOCI.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC shall set aside 10%
of their profit after taxation for the general reserve until the general reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the respective subsidiaries. The
reserve can only be used, upon approval by the board of directors of the PRC
subsidiaries and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or
increase capital.

The special reserve represents amounts arising from the acquisition or
disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries without loss of control. It
represented the difference between the consideration paid or received and
the adjustment to the non-controlling interests of the relevant subsidiaries.

This perpetual capital instrument was issued by the Company other than
subsidiaries of the Company. Detailed information of perpetual capital
instruments are disclosed in note 39.

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (“China Resources Mixc
Lifestyle”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group as at 31 December 2019,
has listed its shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) with effect from 9 December
2020. On the same date, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle issued 550,000,000
ordinary shares with a par value US$0.00001 at HK$22.30 per share for a
total cash consideration of HK$12,265,000,000 by way of public offering
(“Share Offer”). On 23 December 2020, upon its listing on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle over allotmented and issued
82,500,000 additional shares with a par value US$0.00001 at HK$22.30 per
share for a total cash consideration of HK$1,839,750,000. The Group's
percentage of equity interest in China Resources Mixc Lifestyle was then
diluted from 100.00% to 72.29% after completion of the Share Offer and
over-allotment. The transaction was regarded as a deemed partial disposal of
a subsidiary without loss of control, and the difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the net proceeds
from Share Offer was recognised in other reserves.
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maBemak
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE+T-A=1+—RHItFE

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

FieE AREF T ARETT

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
EEEBMEHFRE Net cash generated from operating
activities
EEREMERS Cash generated from operating
activities 41 27,606,051 42,744,107
ST Income tax paid (20,577,788) (20,416,377)
7,028,263 22,327,730
BRETBFAREFHE Net cash used in investing activities
VI - BB M ERER R Payment for property,
plant and equipment (2,187,394) (2,892,583)
HEWME - BERRXESHRIE Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 220,353 185,221
BEEENK Payment for intangible assets (45,126) (9,432)
HEREEEMSHIE Proceeds from disposal of
intangible assets 5,400 -
REMERZ Payment for investment properties (27,399,738)  (14,060,310)
HEREYEMSHIE Proceeds from disposal of
investment properties 92,062 4,460
WEIERSEEZBE e Deposits paid for acquisition of
non-current assets - (324,381)
AAETETE Capital injection to joint ventures (2,836,974) (7,273,494)
MEtZNBEE Capital injection to associates (3,207,042) (1,430,454)
DA EDERE Dividend received from joint ventures 363,212 664,481
RGN 95N Dividend received from associates 1,485,063 467,262
BEa B Repayment from related parties 7,033,619 296,796
BT I RS Advances to non-controlling interests (4,272,262) (4,596,355)
2 U FI B Interest received 1,818,692 1,991,923
HEKBRAKES, (BRE)Z Net cash and bank balances acquired/
Be RBTHETFSR (disposed) upon disposal of
subsidiaries 42 9,067 (28,105)
FRWEMBATENEENERE  Acquisition of assets and liabilities
through acquisition of subsidiaries 43 - (2,282,428)
HE—BIETAEBEMEEUE  Proceeds from disposal of an equity
BATEFIRZRATEASFIA  instrument designated at FVOC] - 1,000
BERATES A ABEE&®ERE  Acquisition of financial assets at FVPL (18,176,000) (4,926,608)
BETHEN Acquisition of time deposits (2,400,000) -
PERNFEAANIERZZSREE  Proceeds from disposal of
8 ZI8 financial assets at FVPL 21,753,291 780,020
(), RIZ R HIRITIE R (Placement)/withdrawal of
restricted bank deposits (58,965) 588,160

(27,802,742) (32,844,827)
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For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

i ARBT T AREFT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000
MEEHAERFHE Net cash generated from financing
activities
RITREMEEMRERE Proceeds from bank and other
borrowings 74,793,383 88,640,881
BiBRITIEE Repayments of bank borrowings (62,071,677) (54,367,917)
TR H R S IR SR Net proceeds from issuance of
medium-term notes 13,000,000 5,500,000
BEhEEg Repayments of medium-term notes (9,500,000) (3,800,000)
fEOKEEARTA Redemption of perpetual capital
instruments 39 - (10,000,000)
MKEEARTEEB A MNMEH ZHJE  Distribution to the owners of
perpetual capital instruments (251,854) (488,889)
TNEEaEAREEHD Payment for principal portion of
lease liabilities (533,186) (353,162)
S EERA Finance costs paid (8,150,541) (7,414,706)
l=tct=l ks Advances from related parties 19,608,704 17,590,143
BEE (B T) Iz Advances from/(repayment to)
non-controlling interests 12,740,112 (1,198,271)
ghUg B H E IS B A ) Net payment for acquisition of
NS subsidiaries under common control = (1,586,860)
RS A Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests 11,383,956 2,103,907
ENAATHEE AKE Dividends paid to owners of
the Company (8,905,140) (7,759,421)
EARE D¢ Fal &) Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests (1,915,339) (1,304,422)
IEEN B AR 7 s Acquisitions of additional interests
in subsidiaries - (635,514)
R EMTE A B S i m i Net proceeds from partial disposal of
o LI TS B SRR subsidiaries without loss of control = 11,640,458
BB LR E Redemption of preferred equity
certificates - (239,638)
40,198,418 36,326,589
BHe MESEEEMFE Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 19,423,939 25,809,492
FUIzReRReE Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 87,534,176 62,156,869
NS R B/ & Effect of change of foreign exchange rates (185,327) (432,185)
ERZRERESEE Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year 106,772,788 87,534,176
=B AR /AT China Resources Land Limited 137
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). As
at 31 December 2021, the ultimate holding company of the
Company is China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL"), a
company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The intermediate holding company of the Company is
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH"). The
immediate holding company of the Company is CRH (Land)
Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. The address of the registered office of the Company is
disclosed in the corporate information of the annual report and
the principal place of business of the Company is the same as its
address of the head office disclosed in the corporate information
of the annual report. The principal activities of the Group are
the development of properties for sale, property investments
and management, hotel operations and the provision of
construction, decoration services and other property
development related services in the PRC.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments which have been measured at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB”), and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
unless otherwise stated.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same year as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

ZEHEMAPR AR China Resources Land Limited 139



A 3 WU 5 e o B ek
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A LR (%)

mEEZE ()

iS5 B R BRI L XAl = TR Hl R &
H—HXZRNREL - AAKESERN
AHERBINHEIRE T HBIEHIE - RAE
EHENMNBAREEEEDI SRR S
NG

M 7N 52 [ 5k 25 S BT B 8 B A4 Il A RS - BIIE
RIEFER()ZHBRARNEE (BEHE) &
B & -~ (i) T A FE 42 AR AE 25 A0 BR T 1 K Giii) 1
EENCHNRARZERE  RER) ATk
RENDFE  ()VIRETAERENRFE
R (i) B IR R (0] A b A O B R S S A o
FRTA E b 2 FI MRS A FERR B0 AR £ B 55 3D
PEBIASEEEEHERBEEERRE
FERMBREESFH DB ABENRE %
F (@A) o

VB I BT T e #5865 T A v B 5 i o
5

B ERRER KBRS

AEBERAFEEREABATRETES
P RE R

BEMBREER FIEBENE —
F95% - BB g BB 2
ERHFE39% - BE
MRS R
BT BRHH
FEEANF4HR

BB RS L
F16% (BFIAX)

BB B RE %£8] R-E-_—FXNA=1HZ
E165(BTA) # BT R EIEE

HEEE(RARSR)

140 —=——4#E®%  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the
first time in the current year:

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

(early adopted)
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the
previous amendments which affect financial reporting
when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with
an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments
provide a practical expedient to allow the effective interest
rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying amount
of financial assets and liabilities when accounting for
changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a
direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform
and the new basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition, the
amendments permit changes required by the interest rate
benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations and
hedge documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise
on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge
ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a temporary
relief to entities from having to meet the separately
identifiable requirement when an RFR is designated as a
risk component. The relief allows an entity, upon
designation of the hedge, to assume that the separately
identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity
reasonably expects the RFR risk component to become
separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to
disclose additional information to enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect of interest rate
benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments
and risk management strategy.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

During the year, the interest rates of certain interest-
bearing bank borrowings and an interest rate swap
denominated in foreign currencies were changed from the
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) to RFRs. The
Group applied the above-mentioned practical expedient
upon modification of these borrowings and replacement
of this interest rate swap as the “economically equivalent”
criterion was met. No significant modification gain or loss
has arisen as a result of applying the amendments to
these changes. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had
certain interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated in
Hong Kong dollars based on the Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR"). The Group expects HIBOR will
continue to exist and there is no impact on the Group’s
HIBOR-based borrowings.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends the
availability of the practical expedient for lessees to elect
not to apply lease modification accounting for rent
concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
covid-19 pandemic by 12 months. Accordingly, the
practical expedient applies to rent concessions for which
any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the
other conditions for applying the practical expedient are
met. The amendment is effective retrospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with
any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits at the beginning of the current accounting
period. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1
January 2021 and applied the practical expedient during
the year ended 31 December 2021 to all rent concessions
granted by the lessors that affected only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022 as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. There was no
impact on the opening balance of equity as at 1 January
2021.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual Framework !

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture’

Insurance Contracts?
Insurance Contracts®°

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current’
Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract'

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41!

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

4 HEEEGERE 1R UEFTR)  BiERE

FRABHRERNZS — EANHEEEE
KIEZ IR EHEA S EER - _FF
TATMERT - U —HEAF - AwmlLme
g

REN_—ZE_ZTF+ HBEMNEBHHREE
AIFE17R (BRI A) - ERMBRELAF4
SREELERT  UERER#HZ - AFFRRA
AR -_ZE_=F— A BZHRKBzFEHH
ERER G ENEIRMIETEUBHRE
R 957

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

& As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that,
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the
scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do
not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by
the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right
to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on
the Group's accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group'’s financial statements.
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3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that
date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and
the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or
after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the
financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as
contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and
shall be applied to contracts for which an entity has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group
are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the
entity first applies the amendment. The amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.

o HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
[llustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e level1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

o level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESSES UNDER
COMMON CONTROL

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements item of the combining businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been
combined from the date when the combining businesses first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated
using the existing book values from the controlling party’s
perspective. The assets and liabilities of the acquired business
should be recorded at the book values as stated in the
consolidated financial statements of the controlling party (i.e., it
will require recording of the fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the acquired business at the date of original
acquisition from third parties by the controlling party, any
remaining goodwill arising on the previous acquisition and
minority interests recorded in the consolidated financial
statements of the controlling party). No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or gain on bargain purchase at the time of
common control combination. The adjustments to eliminate
share/registered capital of the combining businesses against the
related investment costs have been made to other reserves in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income include the results of each
of the combining businesses from the earliest date presented or
since the date when the combining businesses first came under
the common control, where this is a shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the businesses had been
combined at the end of the previous reporting period or when
they first came under common control, whichever is shorter.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY NOT
CONSTITUTING A BUSINESS

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that
do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to the investment
properties which are subsequently measured under the fair
value model and financial assets and financial liabilities at the
respective fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase
price is then allocated to the other individual identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
gain on bargain purchase.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate or joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group'’s share
of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group'’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

The requirements of HKFRS 9 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued,
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposal of the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint
venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Revenue from development properties for sale in the ordinary
course of business is recognised over time when the Group’s
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, otherwise, revenue is
recognised at the point in time when customers obtain the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed properties.
For revenue from sales of properties recognised over time, the
Group recognised revenue by measuring the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation using in
input method, which recognises revenue based on the
proportion of actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs for satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Revenue from construction and decoration services is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the services. The input method
recognises revenue based on the proportion of actual costs
incurred relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of
the construction services.

Revenue from management and hotel services is recognised
over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis.

Revenue from sales of goods (including furniture and other
inventories) is recognised at the point in time when control of
the goods is transferred to the customer, generally on the
acceptance of the goods by the customer.



4. FEGHHBOR (4)

I‘I&AﬁE;%{ (nﬁ)
HABFORA YA

HEWAFERE BN IR L I FERR © TK
RN XA A E N RERELH
SRR BKA °

Hl A

FBRAE RS BT A F R RES
B (B ) Z st R IR S R R A E
SHAEREFENTE - HRRHRAR
R EERR -

% B U & 12 % B U BN SR8 A A FI AR HE ST
R BN ENEA R ALNEE - B
f% B & RHBL Al SERT EFER o

BHEE

BREERNATFERERRRBUIERAK

BEVER o WAKEREP SR ER
REIRAIRAEF BB E MR - RISA &
1¢E’Jﬁﬁﬁaﬁﬂﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁm BREE - ARNEER
REITRENE - A BFEREREERE
VEETEURT o

BHEE

RASEEBAEERIREA - ERER
PORNRREF ENREHCAREERE)
B BRANEE BEAKERESOEN
B (B HER B ma RGO IEFI R ERE T
F) anaEmRREA -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

CONTRACT ASSETS

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a
contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
CONTRACT COSTS

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an
asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
consolidated income statement on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset
related is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component, the Group adopted the practical expedient
not to separate non-lease components and to account for the
lease component and the associated non-lease components
(e.g., property management services for leases of properties) as
a single lease component.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

LEASES (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, and subsequently measured at fair
value, in accordance with the Group’'s policy for
“Investment properties”. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Land use rights 40 years
Buildings 3 to 20 years
Machinery 2 to 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

LEASES (continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)

(®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the
in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

LEASES (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

(©)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option, elected by class of underlying asset). It also applies
the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets
(elected on a lease-by-lease basis). Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the consolidated income statement due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with reference to
the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head
lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the on-
balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the
sublease as an operating lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currencies of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised in
the respective functional currency at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for:

o exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions entered into in order
to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

o exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only if
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies
the translation procedures applicable to the new functional
currency prospectively from the date of the change. At the date
of the change, the group entity translates all items into the new
functional currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that
date and the resulting translated amounts for non-monetary
items are treated as their historical cost.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e., RMB), using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated
at the exchange rates that approximate to prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.,
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS AND TERMINATION
BENEFITS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation” as reported in
the consolidated income statement because of income or
expense that is taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred taxation is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
taxation liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred taxation assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
TAXATION (continued)

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred taxation assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred taxation liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation liabilities or
deferred taxation assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred taxation arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than construction in progress less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Buildings under development for future owner-occupied
purposes

When buildings are in the course of development for production
or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of land use
rights provided during the construction period is included as
part of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment
losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e., when they are in the location and
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including leasehold properties held as
right-of-use assets and properties under construction for such
purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

Investment properties under construction are transferred to
properties for sale when and only when there is a change in use
evidenced by the commencement of development with a view
to sale. The property’s cost for subsequent accounting shall be
its fair value at the date of change.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group transfers a property for sale to investment property
when there is a change of intention to hold the property to earn
rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the
ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
commencement of an operating lease to another party. Any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of
transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit
or loss.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation gain or loss in other comprehensive income.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS OTHER
THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL ABOVE)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it
can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS OTHER
THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL ABOVE) (continued)

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Properties for sale include properties under development and
properties held for sale which are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

The carrying value of properties for sale comprises the costs of
land use rights together with development expenditure, which
includes construction costs and borrowing costs capitalised.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

OTHER INVENTORIES

Other inventories represent trading merchandises that are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories
are determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, FVOCI, and FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not SPPI are classified and measured at FVPL,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
FVOCI are held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at FVPL.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated
income statement when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

For debt investments at FVOCI, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in the consolidated income statement and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to the consolidated income statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at FVOCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity instruments as equity instruments
designated at FVOCI when they meet the definition of equity
under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the consolidated income statement. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the consolidated income statement when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity instruments designated at FVOCI are not subject to
impairment assessment.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the statement with net
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
instruments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at FVOCI. Dividends on equity instruments classified as
financial assets at fair value profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in the consolidated income statement when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at FVPL (continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in the consolidated income statement. Reassessment only occurs
if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the FVPL
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at FVPL.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at FVPL. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

FHEMAPR A China Resources Land Limited 177



A 3 WU 5 e o B ek
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.

FREEBOR ()

THEERE(E)
_ﬁjj_/f

ﬁHMZﬁJEﬁT@ D P {E P B RERR = Bt B TR R

RERBARENDEERRM S - BEIE
EFETEE’EEE%}HNIH AR REELEENF
HmERNEEBBRRERE(2EAEH
EEERE) - 3t B VIR HEREARIENE
ERBRME - TwmEEEORRE  HARR
# T R iﬂsﬁlﬂqﬁ‘ﬁ‘ﬁiﬁﬁ{:fﬂgﬂ%‘ﬂm}%%@%&
B (2HBEREEER)

AEERZREAHFERIANEER
R B PRMERARKIRIE N - ETTFHE
B AEBUBNREAHeRmIAZELE
WM ERERRAER A RSB TAELE
HHER - WERBAMNLBZRAEE
EIRIEG AR A SEE R - BREE L KATHE
EER -

AEERSHNRBHSERHEMEE
BREED - R EETHERT - AKE
TRRAE A EB RSN E R BUR A 5 B AN A] REZS

FUWEBCREE S NS BRORFT RS EFT#
EEEMRERE) R SeREER/D
BRI ESEHEROENRERE
AIREEEMHEREE

BRIER T X Fraf it iR B RUR R A 49
BEN  BMAFEAAHEMEZEKENED
RE R ATRN SR EERIRE—
RRITDEELRE - YR TG ERPEES
BRPEER D -

——FE3RE  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 45 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at FVOCI and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
General approach (continued)

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.



4. FEGHHBOR (4)

THMEERKRATA(E)
BATEFABENSHMAE

BAVEFABRSNESRAEERFEEER
B &R B E MR IIRERRIEE /IR A FE
ARSI ERAR -

MEMBEELRNARNERRER - Al
BARHERESR - N BIBRASEMAIL
MITESRTE BT ANIEERER
A 7 i 5 2E RIS 9 S AT S E S B R T 0
HITER-RIFEEEAEREHNTR BT
BRATTETANTDERFHIEEE - HIFE
BRENRGEHEENG S RS RER - R
e R ERERHAFERRIEBERFEDT
BEAZFTREBEXAOEMFE -

RVRER R IR E R A FHEFABRN S
BABERNAERAHEERTEE BN

SFERFEFHERNRETIEE - HER
B ER ABRSN B EN RS EBER A
BlamA R AKEARFHNEERRM
EEW S ERARIN  ZFRBEHEBEER
HitzEBHES) ERTGEHDEER
BlERK - RER KRaERERN A FEKS
HERFETERIZEFeREBENNE
Al FILE o

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for
trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at FVPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the consolidated income statement. The net fair
value gain or loss recognised in the consolidated income
statement does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL
are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the
criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at FVPL are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except for the gains or losses arising from the
Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to
the consolidated income statement. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the consolidated income statement does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to related parties and amounts due to non-controlling
interests, bank borrowings, lease liabilities, senior notes and
medium-term notes are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge its foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the
fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated income
statement , except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit
or loss.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

o fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes
in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an
unrecognised firm commitment; or

o cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability
in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly
probable forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in
an unrecognised firm commitment; or

o hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(continued)

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally
designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the
Group wishes to apply hedge accounting, the risk management
objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge.

The documentation includes identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging
relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements
(including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and
how the hedge ratio is determined). A hedging relationship
qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following
effectiveness requirements:

3 There is “an economic relationship” between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument.

. The effect of credit risk does not “dominate the value
changes” that result from that economic relationship.

3 The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Hedges which meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting are accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is recognised directly in other comprehensive income
in the cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The
cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the
cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item.

The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are
accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying
hedged transaction. If the hedged transaction subsequently
results in the recognition of a non-financial item, the amount
accumulated in equity is removed from the separate component
of equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying
amount of the hedged asset or liability. This is not a
reclassification adjustment and will not be recognised in other
comprehensive income for the period. This also applies where
the hedged forecast transaction of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability subsequently becomes a firm commitment to
which fair value hedge accounting is applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to the consolidated
income statement as a reclassification adjustment in the same
period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect the
consolidated income statement.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that
has been accumulated in other comprehensive income must
remain in accumulated other comprehensive income if the
hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise,
the amount will be immediately reclassified to the consolidated
income statement as a reclassification adjustment. After the
discontinuation, once the hedged cash flow occurs, any amount
remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income is
accounted for depending on the nature of the underlying
transaction as described above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is
recognised in the consolidated income statement as other
expenses. The change in the fair value of the hedged item
attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a part of the
carrying amount of the hedged item and is also recognised in
the consolidated income statement as other expenses.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost,
the adjustment to carrying value is amortised through the
consolidated income statement over the remaining term of the
hedge using the effective interest rate method. Effective interest
rate amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists
and shall begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to
be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk
being hedged. If the hedged item is derecognised, the
unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in the
consolidated income statement.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a
hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in the fair
value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is
recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain or
loss recognised in the consolidated income statement. The
changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are also
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current or
separated into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying
contracted cash flows).

o Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting)
for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the
reporting period, the derivative is classified as non-current
(or separated into current and non-current portions)
consistently with the classification of the underlying item.

o Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash
flows of the host contract.

° Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The
derivative instruments are separated into current portions
and non-current portions only if a reliable allocation can
be made.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition from sales of properties

The Group has recognised revenue from sales of properties.
Revenue is recognised over time when the Group’s performance
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the buyer obtains control of
the completed property. Whether there is an enforceable right
to payment depends on the terms of contracts and relevant
laws that apply to the contracts. To assess the enforceability of
right to payment, the Group has reviewed the terms of the
contracts, the relevant local laws, the local regulators’ view and
obtained legal advice, and a significant judgement is required.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying amount
of investment properties measured using the fair value model is
recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the
Group has recognised the deferred taxation on changes in fair
value of investment properties on the basis that the Group is
subject to enterprise income tax. The carrying amount of
deferred taxation on investment properties at 31 December
2021 was RMB23,089 million (2020: RMB20,395 million).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Classification of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The classification of an investment as a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate is based on whether the Group is
determined to have control, joint control or significant influence
over the investee, which involves judgements through the
analysis of various factors, including the Group’s representation
on the chief decision-making authorities of an investee, such as
board of directors’ meetings and shareholders’ meetings, as
well as other facts and circumstances.

Subsidiaries are consolidated, which means each of their assets,
liabilities and transactions is included line by line in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, whereas the interests in joint
ventures and associates are equity accounted for as investments
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables and other
receivables

The Group estimates loss allowance for expected credit losses
for trade receivables and other receivables resulting from the
expected cash shortfalls. The Group bases the estimates on the
information about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. If the
above conditions were to deteriorate, actual provisions would
be higher than estimated. The information about the ECLs on
the Group's trade receivables and other receivables is disclosed
in note 28 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment
properties, investment properties under construction and right-
of-use assets, are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at their fair value, details of which are
disclosed in note 16. The fair value of the investment properties
was determined by reference to valuations conducted on these
properties by independent and professionally qualified valuers
using property valuation techniques which involve certain
assumptions of prevailing market conditions. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions may result in
changes in the fair value of the Group'’s investment properties
included in the consolidated statement of financial position and
the corresponding adjustments to the changes in fair value
reported in the consolidated income statement. Details of the
fair value of investment properties are disclosed in note 16 to
the financial statements.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are
stated at the lower of the cost and net realisable value. Based
on the experience of the directors of the Company and the
nature of the subject properties, the directors of the Company
determine the net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale by reference to the
estimated market prices of the properties under development
and properties held for sale, which takes into account a number
of factors including the recent prices of similar property types in
the same project or by similar properties, and the prevailing real
estate market conditions in the PRC. The directors of the
Company estimate the future cost to completion of the
properties under development by reference to the actual
development cost of other similar completed projects of the
Group, adjusted by certain current market data. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, a write-down of RMB3,848,018,000
(2020: RMB2,675,041,000) has been made in the consolidated
income statement. Further details of the Group’s properties
under development and properties held for sale are set out in
note 27 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

PRC Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The PRC LAT is levied at
progressive rates on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds of the sales of properties less the estimated deductible
expenditures, the cost of land use rights and all relevant
property development expenditures.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the amounts of
land appreciation and the applicable land appreciation tax rate
due to the uncertainty of proceeds of sales of properties and
deductible expenditures.

However, the implementation and settlement of the tax varies
amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC
and certain projects of the Group have not finalised their LAT
calculations and payments with any local tax authorities in the
PRC. The amount of land appreciation is determined with
reference to proceeds of the sales of properties less the
estimated deductible expenditures, including the cost of land
use rights and all relevant property development expenditures.
The Group recognised the LAT based on management’s best
estimates. The final tax outcome could be different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences will
impact the income tax expense and the related income tax
provisions in the periods in which such tax is finalised with local
tax authorities. The Group recognised the LAT of
RMB9,198,673,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: RMB12,932,766,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in
a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate
("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The
Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone
credit rating).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision makers (“CODM") of the
Group, was specifically focused on business units based on their
types of activities for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment. The Group's operating segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are identified as four main
operations:
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Development properties for sale: this segment represents the
income generated from development and sales of residential
properties, office and commercial premises.

Property investments and management: this segment represents
the lease of investment properties, which are self-developed or
under subleases by the group to generate rental income and to
gain from the appreciation in the properties’ values in the long
term, together with income generated from property
management and related services for investment properties.

Hotel operations: this segment represents the income generated
from hotel accommodation and catering services.

Construction, decoration services and others: this segment
represents the income generated from construction and
decoration services, property management and related services
for residential properties, urban development and operation,
leasing apartment, senior housing, cinema and others.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss incurred
before taxation by each segment without allocation of income
or expenses which are not recurring in nature or unrelated to
the CODM'’s assessment of the Group’s operating performance,
e.g. other income, other gains and losses, gain on changes in
fair value of investment properties, net gain on changes in fair
value of financial instruments at FVPL, central administration
costs, and finance costs. Segment revenues and results are the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment. Inter-segment sales are
transacted at mutually agreed prices.
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6. AR (#)

(A) ZEWRFHERES

REBREERAIZR/ROFEE D 2K
smREEDNAT
BE-Z--F+-A=t—RALEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HES MERE BE - £
BRUE REE EERE PRAS R H At
Property Construction,
Development  investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
forsale management operations and others Consolidated
ARBTT AR¥TR AR¥TR ARBT T AR¥TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Yz Revenue
REZP KK Revenue from contracts
with customers
E—REmER Recognised at a point
in time 151,581,756 36,552 - 2,252,393 153,870,701
A — B R RERR Recognised over time 32,279,568 4,977,787 1,567,246 21,093,811 59,918,412
H A AR W Revenue from other sources
R ON Rental income - 13,012,606 - - 13,012,606
g e Segment revenue 183,861,324 18,026,945 1,567,246 23,346,204 226,801,719
DR Inter-segment revenue - (2,159,527) (87) (12,533,747)  (14,693,361)
KRB PHKE Revenue from external
customers 183,861,324 15,867,418 1,567,159 10,812,457 212,108,358
ES Results
EEREERER Share of profits of
BEARIRE 2B investments in joint
ventures and associates 3,503,858 801,059 (186) (7,666) 4,297,065
’\*Eizi ( &TEWE Segment results (including
REEDEREE share of profits of
NEREZFE) investments in joint
ventures and associates) 40,697,686 9,707,465 (290,684) 242,765 50,357,232
HiA ~ Efiezs R Other income, other gains
&8 and losses 4,394,285
BEMEZ NTEE Gain on changes in fair value
Wk of investment properties 7,794,642
BATEFAERZ Net gain on changes in
SRIAZATEE fair value of financial
Wz 55 instruments at FVPL 42,710
ANE S H Unallocated expenses (825,884)
BI%E R Finance costs (1,397,227)
B AR T Profit before taxation 60,365,758
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6.

5y FE B (#)

(A) DEWERFEEE)

HE_Z_2F+_A=1T—HLHFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HER MERE B KE
BEME RER PR K oAt
Property Construction,
Development investments decoration
properties and services
forsale  management operations and others  Consolidated
ARETT AR¥ETT ARETT AR¥ETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wz Revenue
REZEPALIMNE Revenue from contracts
with customers
RE—REER Recognised at a point
in time 142,213,120 - - - 142,213,120
N—EREREANER Recognised over time 14,927,034 3,489,062 1,089,179 20,459,801 39,965,076
Eofth SRR Revenue from other sources
RN Rental income - 9703570 - - 9703570
A Segment revenue 157,140,154 13,192,632 1,089,179 20,459,801 191,881,766
DB Inter-segment revenue - (1,495,098) - (10,799,399)  (12,294,497)
RENDEPHIE Revenue from external
customers 157,140,154 11,697,534 1,089,179 9,660,402 179,587,269
S Results
EIENaEtER Share of profits of
A NTIREZFE investments in joint
ventures and associates 2,966,931 24,359 - 8,315 2,999,605
DEEE (BEEE Segment results (including
REECEREE share of profits of
NENEE 2 FE) investments in joint
ventures and associates) 43,757,438 5,817,540 (228,101) (241,563) 49,105,314
HAUA - HfbUezs R Other income, other gains
&8 and losses 4,536,310
REWE NFEEE  Gainon changes in fair value
Yza of investment properties 8,884,264
BATEFABREZ Net gain on changes in
SRMIAZATEE fair value of financial
WS F e instruments at FVPL 59,888
Vvl Unallocated expenses (1,129,654)
WS ER Finance costs (1,284,073)
BE AT G F Profit before taxation 60,172,049
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6. SRER (4)
(A) ZEWHEREE ()

TRETRAHERAAERD AR
ERMANRENRESE -

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS
(continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

2021 2020

ARET T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

BRFAREHIIEHEEN Revenue recognised that was included

B iR in contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period:
HEME Sale of properties 157,786,327 145,229,581
FEEE N HEIER Construction and decoration services 4,127,728 287,588
161,914,055 145,517,169
BREE Performance obligations

BERASERNOEENERSANT

HEYFE

BHRERE —FHHEBIN —BREH
AZEK RIEOGRIERRAE N
ZBEREPIME - EXNKEENL &
REREMRENEERAAREAR
BAITHERE S TR A E K WER
HE - BOEEIR —BREREAZEMX -
BRIRNEPREEERYENERE
BERIVEEMERALAEBRAR G
B BRI AN R R mT Uk 13 X (B Y B )
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Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
or over time, depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract. It is satisfied over time
when the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date,
otherwise, it is satisfied at the point in time when
customers obtain the physical possession or the legal title
of the completed properties and the Group has right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.



6.

oy FE B (5)
(A) ZEWR=HEREE ()

- ESEREE )
BERREIRE

BHEEREHRREH —BRERBAZT
B BRI —REER AR 30
BREH - EFPREETES LN
R HEREHER REARREHN
RE - AEEAGEPR—EHEA
MEBRBERR - TAZFARENR -

RZEBE-_—F+-_A=+—BFH
EMHEBRHBEECREX I D ARTK)
MRS EHARE217,092,000,000 T
—E-FF : AR¥272,755,000,000
T)WEEBRUFERNER - Z&BTE
PR B RME o

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(A) SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS

(continued)
Performance obligations (continued)
Construction and decoration services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within
30 days from the date of billing. A certain percentage of
payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period as the Group’s entitlement to the final
payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the service
quality by the customers over a certain period as stipulated
in the contracts.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) of sales of properties as at 31 December 2021
amounted to RMB217,092,000,000 (2020:
RMB272,755,000,000) are expected to be recognised
within four years. The amounts do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.
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6. SrHER (M) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(B) A"EERKCLERAIZRHEEH 2E (B) The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by
EDWMAT : operating and reportable segments:
R==Z=-—-fF+=-H=+—H As at 31 December 2021

HEL MERE BE £
EEES kEH BELE  REREM

Property Construction,

Development  investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
for sale management operations and others

ARMTRE ARMTR ARMTRT ARMTT ARET:R

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
DEEE Segment assets 489,717,545 227,894,405 12,472,569 14,751,731 744,836,250
REELER Investments in joint ventures
EENFRRE and associates 49,588,069 10,644,032 - 1,767,927 62,000,028
539,305,614 238,538,437 12,472,569 16,519,658 806,836,278
FHl Unallocated 142,967,986
BEE Total assets 949,804,264
R-B-BF+-A=+—8 As at 31 December 2020
HEE MERE BE K
BRERME LER BEGE  REBREM
Property Construction,
Development IVENENS decoration
properties and Hotel services
forsale  management operations and others
ARBTT ARBTT AR®TRT ARETT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
PREE Segment assets 460,649,631 199,137,964 12,103,109 9,775,447 681,666,151
REELER Investments in joint ventures
BENAIRE and associates 44,429,923 8,578,851 - 426,528 53,435,302
505,079,554 207,716,815 12,103,109 10,201,975 735,101,453
AR Unallocated 133,939,947
WEE Total assets 869,041,400
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6.

5y FE B (4])

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(O EHitbnEEH (C) OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
BE-ZE-_—F+-HA=+—HLFE Year ended 31 December 2021
HES MERE BE - £
EELIES REE BELE  REBREM
Property Construction,
Development investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
for sale management operations and others
AR¥TR AR®TR AR%T R AR®TR AR®T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BHENEER Addition of interests
in associates 2,929,806 184,000 - 93,236 3,207,042
REGECERER Addition of interests in
joint ventures 2,899,653 - - 9,240 2,908,893
BRRS (M) Capital expenditures (Note) 206,849 29,520,703 1,850,762 199,955 31,778,269
WE R Depreciation and amortisation 299,689 481,504 427,834 96,737 1,305,764
BE-_E_E&+-A=+—HLEE Year ended 31 December 2020
HER MERE BE K
BEERME RER BELE  REREMD
Property Construction,
Development investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
forsale  management operations and others
ARBTT AREFT AREFT AR¥TT ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
EBENAER Addition of interests
in associates 1,227,454 203,000 - - 1,430,454
REARELERER Addition of interests in
joint ventures 8,119,701 1,184,105 - 2,450 9,306,256
BRRS (M) Capital expenditures (Note) 51,985 18,673,037 2,740,926 83,846 21,549,794
WE Rl Depreciation and amortisation 168,724 337,531 362,531 57,670 926,456
Kiet - BAELTERABEVE  BERD Note: The capital expenditures mainly represent additions to
B RBEBTEE ABEEREWMERS property, plant and equipment, additions to intangible assets,
BHAESE - additions to investment properties and additions to right-of-

FEBHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited
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6.

5 BE R (%)
(D) el 7 8 68 18.90% #9128 Ty R A 7

(E)

FEE2EBREMES B9 K
SEBBN%HMIIERBDEE (BREL
WIEEE - U5 308 - EUGE
ERERSIE BEEE  ZATE
FFABRCSREE  THESRKE
EABEBEMEEEGEIERFETER
ZRATER) ZEAESEAARE
302,733,648,000 L( Z T =ZT 4 : A
F#262,860,287,0007T ) IMU AR -
T S AR LR I B 5 2 S EE T

HE_ZT_—F+_A=+—HLF
B WEE-—FhAEEKZE10%
NE(ZE=ZF : 8) o

oAt e ~ oAt 45 K% i R

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(D) No geographical segment analysis is prepared as more

(E)

than 90% of the Group's revenue is derived from activities
in and from customers located in the PRC and more than
90% of the carrying values of the Group’s non-current
assets, excluding deferred taxation assets, amounts due
from related parties, amounts due from non-controlling
interests, intangible assets, financial assets at FVPL, time
deposits and equity instruments designated at FVOCI,
amounting to RMB302,733,648,000 (2020:
RMB262,860,287,000), are situated in the PRC.

There is no single customer contributes more than 10%
of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: Nil).

7. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND
LOSSES

2021 2020

ARMT T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEMA Interest income 2,602,279 2,170,181
HEREMHEES 2 W Gain arising on disposal of
investment properties 30,475 313
BT a8k Government grants 267,893 119,259
EFFTERRREELE Loss on re-measurement of the previously
FrigfEss 2 18 (M FE43) held interest in joint ventures (Note 43) = (12,309)
HEMB AT Y (BE), Mz Net (loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries
FEE (fEr42) (Note 42) (13,644) 16,483
PE 5 W 558 Exchange gain, net 788,499 1,367,869
EHAh, Others 718,783 874,514
4,394,285 4,536,310

202

- —FEHRE ANNUAL REPORT 2021



8. HHE 8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

ENKENTFTAE(ZEZFE : +58) The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nineteen (2020:
BFEMEWT sixteen) directors were as follows:
BE-—E-—F+-—pg=+—BHILEE Year ended 31 December 2021

ik Eftie

Fees Other emoluments

Bu Rt
UTES  FUNES  FUGES FAREW HE (125 R BRERHE

Contributions

Independent to the Strategic

Non- non- defined incentive

Executive executive executive  Salariesand  contribution  Discretionary award
directors directors directors  allowances schemes bonus scheme

AR®TR  ARBTR  ARBTT  ARRTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

THH Wang Xiangming - = = - - - - -
BBB(R-F-—%E+FN\E  LiuXaoyong (appointed on

RZHE) 8 October 2021) - = 5 = - - - -
FEM-F-—F+HNBE  ZhangLiang (appointed on

EZ) 8 October 2021) . - - - - - - -
ER(W-Z-—F+ANE  Doulian (appointed on 8 October 2021)

RZ) - - o - - - - -
SU(R=F-—FFTANB  ChengHong (appointed on

BEfE) 8 October 2021) - 33 - - = = - 33
BE(R-Z-—%+A/\B  YanBiao (resigned on 8 October 2021)

B - - = = - - - -
BE(R-Z-—£+ANB  ChenYing (resigned on 8 October 2021)

BE) - - o - - - - -
FE(RZF-—E+A\E  Wang Yan (resigned on 8 October 2021)

B - = o - - - - -
B&(HR-F-—F+HNE  ChenRong (resigned on 8 October 2021)

B - - = = - - - -
ki Li Xin - - - 1,969 180 2,795 5,203 10,147
N Zhang Davee - . - 1,969 176 1,745 4,893 8783
Eil Xie i o = - 1,577 180 1,674 4816 8,241
RRR W Bingoj - - - 1571 176 1674 4816 8,243
e Guo Shiging - - - 1012 176 1,604 5,506 8,298
RR Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco - - 332 - - - = 332
Ak Andrew Y. Yan - - EE7) - - = = m
FRE Wan Kam To, Peter - - 332 = - - - 33
EE Zhong Wei - - 332 - - - = 33
A Sun Zhe - - 3 - - - = m

- 3 1,660 8,104 888 9,492 25,234 45,411
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8. HHME (M) 8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
BE-—E-_ZEF+-A=+—HIEE Year ended 31 December 2020
e e
Fees Other emoluments

FHTER

Independent tothe Strategic

Non- non- defined incentive

Executive executive executive Salariesand ~ contribution  Discretionary award
directors directors directors allowances schemes bonus scheme

ARBTE  ARETE  ARBTZ  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARMTR ARETR
RMB'000. RMB'000 RMB'000. RMB000. RMB'000 RMB'000. RMB'000 RMB'000.

THH Wang Xiangming - - - - - - - -
i Yan Biao - - - - - - - -
RE Chen Ying - - - - - - - -
Iz Wang Yan - - - - - - - -
S Chen Rong - - - - - - - -
i LiXin - - - 1,789 127 1574 3362 6,852
FAE Zhang Dawei - - - 1,789 125 1438 3215 6,567
EiE Xie Ji - - - 1451 m 1338 3,199 6,099
RFH Wu Binggi - - - 1,451 90 1,325 3,155 6,021
PER-F-TF Guo Shiging (appointed on
+ZA-t-BEEf) 22 December 2020) - - - 29 4 - - 3
MVE(RZZ-5% Shen Tongdong (resigned on
TZAZ+ZHEI) 22 December 2020) - - - 1374 110 1,239 2,947 5,670
WER Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco - - 356 - - - - 356
[k Andrew Y. Yan - - 3% - - - - 3%
FHRE Wan Kam To, Peter - - 356 - - - - 356
=i Zhong Wei - - 3% - - - - 356
i Sun Zhe - - 3% - - - - 356
- - 1,780 7,883 567 6,914 15,878 33,022
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< (48)

BBRRADZRERAER 2 QLEE - BAXR
B R AT BTSSR T BUREEE o

BRSNS RARE SV RERNRLER
B ELXETE - REVBRERERAIE
ELLRAEEEREREM RO REE

EXFATRRMITEEME S RRERARE]
RAGE 2 EBEHRERS o LXARFE
WITESE B FNTESME DS RRE
BEARFES -

1 B B <

AEELEESFHALTEENDR (2T
TFEOB)ARFESFE HMSEFN LEX
MEs 2 MEEHR - Ep—R(ZT_TF:
—BIANLTZMEWT

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Discretionary bonus was determined with reference to the
Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The strategic incentive award scheme was determined based on
a specific rate of the Group’s operating results in each financial
year. The specific rate adopted in each financial year was
assessed and determined by management’s best estimation.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

EMPLOYEES” EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, included four (2020: four) were directors of the
Company, whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in
note 8 above. The emolument of the remaining one (2020: one)
individual was as follows:

2021 2020

AR¥F T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

e RoER Salaries and allowances 1,576 1,451
REMBETEIHR Contributions to defined contribution

schemes 159 122

FOTEIEAL Discretionary bonus 1,690 1,216

RS EhET 2 Strategic incentive award scheme 5,000 3,172

8,425 5,961
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9. fEE M (4)

—H(ZZRTF —B)ALZBENTFT
SIS E

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emolument of this one (2020: one) individual was within
the following band:

AL

Number of individuals

2021 2020

7#10,000,001 T2
75110,500,0007T
7B#6,500,0017TE
F51#7,000,0007T

HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000

HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000

10. WM& &M 10. FINANCE COSTS
2021 2020
ARMT T ARETIT
RMB'000 RMB’000
RITREMES - BEAEE Total interest including bank and
Hh RS K HAh 2 FI S 48 RE other borrowings, senior notes,
medium-term notes and others 8,075,236 7,463,021
HEBGE N EEE Total interest on lease liabilities 267,677 213,032
RrTW B AR Total bank charges 166,766 209,803
W BRI HEEYE Less: Amounts capitalised in properties
EEREMER under development for sale,
ERIRBRTERN &5 investment properties under
construction and construction
in progress (7,112,452) (6,601,783)
1,397,227 1,284,073

BB ARNERKAEENANEEN—/RE
MG BEZZ-_—F+-_A=+—HL
FERAEREERIEREEEA =
4.09% (ZFE=ZF : 403%):tE -
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Borrowing costs capitalised arose on the general borrowing
pool of the Group and were calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 4.09% (2020: 4.03%) per annum for the
year ended 31 December 2021, to expenditure on the qualifying
assets.



11. i3 Bib %

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2021 2020

AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FriSBiRZ B1E - The income tax expenses comprise of:
B EATiE Current taxation
REEMER([PEMEFR ) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) and
KRIEHIFTER withholding income tax 9,997,111 10,164,197
T IR ERE LAT 9,198,673 12,932,766
HEhaiEERNFREL H Tax charge in other jurisdictions 13,848 12,158
19,209,632 23,109,121
R B FE R Less: Over provision in prior years (54,343) (58,674)
EIERIE Deferred taxation 3,815,081 3,031,328
22,970,370 26,081,775

(A) EEFREB

(B)

REBEHEARIMEEEMASTOE( &
ERBBA]D REERBIAEMREK
fl- B —TENF-A—BEAKE
REPD P EMEARRER25% °

TEREHAEN

RPBERZNARRESIIMNEEES
KB -_ZZN\F—A— BREERNZA
R B B IZ 10% BB R B B 78
MAEN - AP ENBRARRE LR
ARSI [T AP EEEFETL
BB TS IR A BE AR TE ) B IR AR A A
MmE » FIERA 5% HBEFENHHE

(A) EIT

(B)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of most of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

PRC WITHHOLDING INCOME TAX

PRC withholding income tax of 10% shall be levied on the
dividends declared by the companies established in the
PRC to their foreign investors out of their profits earned
after 1 January 2008. A lower 5% withholding tax rate
may be applied when the immediate holding companies
of the PRC subsidiaries are incorporated or operated in
Hong Kong and fulfil the requirements to the tax treaty
arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong.
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11. Fifmiba 2 (4])

@

(D)

(E)

(F)
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I b2 E

TR ERBEE D REEBETBHA
R AGBIFTE 2 SR TE b 5T - LHIBER
EREEE RERTBERE B
BETAHIRIER -

BEERNER

E B RIS T (A 5 e R BRI E A
165% (— T =T F : 16.5%) W F X
ETE o

NS B

ARRRASEESREFASEEAE
FENRERAVEEMALAHEREAR
nE > E BReSRHEERSAH
B8 RARIN IS R XA & fi Ak
32 MY R B AR 1R SRR e BT & B R
BERRDAEMMARL - itk - E#H%
BANRBRLESMEN -

Ht R 2 EBBHBES K

HMA A EEREMOHRES HEEER
BABIEAR B I o RIBFRBEE
EEHEE B RARIZHEEA19%
(ZEZFF : 19%) °
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

(@

(D)

(E)

(F)

LAT

The provision for LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of
progressive rates of the appreciation value, with certain
allowable deductions.

HONG KONG PROFITS TAX

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2020:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits.

OVERSEAS INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands and
accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.
The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands were incorporated under the International
Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands and,
accordingly, are exempted from British Virgin Islands
income tax.

TAX CHARGE IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS

Tax charge in other jurisdictions mainly represents the
current tax charge in the United Kingdom (the “UK").
Under the United Kingdom Tax Law, the tax rate of the
subsidiary operating in the UK is 19% (2020: 19%).



11. P BEE 32 (4)

(G) FAMGBHAXEGaKaRAEAK

MED@ A 2 FERIT ¢

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

(G) The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to

the profit before taxation per the consolidated income

statement as follows:

2021 2020

AR%T T ARBT T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BR A A A Profit before taxation 60,365,758 60,172,049
W BIERGERE Less: Share of profits of investments
& 7 FHE in joint ventures (2,808,150) (1,899,799)
W R E AR Less: Share of profits of investments
®E 2 AE in associates (1,488,915) (1,099,806)
56,068,693 57,172,444
BEBIHE25% Tax charge at effective rate of 25%
ZEFTF 25%) (2020: 25%)
STEZBIEMX (14,017,173) (14,293,111)
WB AR TRME 2 Effect of different tax rates
of subsidiaries 215,663 (101,911)
TAMMA 2 M E Effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose (629,886) (939,880)
BEZRHBAZ G2 Effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose 195,258 224,478
REERTRIE B8 K A 1% Effect of tax losses and deductible
ETRLERE v 2 A temporary difference not recognised (964,403) (177,084)
BEFEHRERE Over provision in prior years 54,343 58,674
T I (E T LAT (9,198,673) (12,932,766)
TR (ER 2 ISR 2 Tax effect of LAT 2,261,245 3,233,192
R ERFEFTS R PRC withholding income tax (886,744) (1,153,367)
REEEHRES Income tax expenses for the year (22,970,370) (26,081,775)
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12. N EH

2021 2020

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

210

ARET T AREBTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FRRNENRTYIRIE Profit for the year has been arrived at
after charging the following items:
ETRAN(BEESZHE) Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments 11,506,591 9,798,691
ATEHRETEZ ABRRAR Costs related to defined contribution
scheme 873,250 361,867
8 TR Total staff costs 12,379,841 10,160,558
RERT 2 HEE 2 MER Cost of properties for sale and other
HEuFEkA inventories recognised as expenses 140,005,523 110,912,541
ZE RN & Auditor's remuneration 5,100 4,730
WA AGTEREAEZ Lease payments not included in the
etz (H:E17) measurement of lease liabilities (Note 17) 16,862 35,834
WE - BMENEETE (M:E15) Depredciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 15) 884,768 669,859
FAEEENE (ME17) Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17) 416,659 242,514
MOR I E 2 WEE A I RE  Write-down of properties for sale to
net realisable value 3,848,018 2,675,041
W EEEE (MiE18) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) 4,337 14,083
"EYERES WA Rental income from investment properties 12,766,694 9,130,910
B  EEHSWANEEZERY Less: Direct expenses that generated
rental income (3,172,297) (2,703,280)
9,594,397 6,427,630
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13. k& 13. DIVIDENDS

2021 2020

AR®TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000

ZE-—FRERE 2021 interim dividend, RMBO0.173

G E R AR 0.173 7T (2020: RMBO.15) per ordinary share

(ZEZFF : AR¥0.157T) 1,224,211 1,069,641
“E - —FEIRARHRE 2021 final dividend, proposed, of

FlREBERARE1.2077T RMB1.207 (2020: RMB1.102)

—E-FF : AR¥1.1027T) per ordinary share (Note)

(FfF3E) 8,607,044 7,680,929

9,831,255 8,750,570

ftit - R—ZZE-_—_F=A=1HBI 2823 Note: At a meeting held by the Board on 30 March 2022, the Board

F - EFegggkfBE-_E-_—4F+=A
=+ —AILFENARRRIRE SR LB
AR¥E1207 T (Fr&EME1.48470)  BBEHH
AR #8,607,044,0007C © th TV ER AR A&
HERTE AEE 7,130,939,579 % 5t & -
FORAY B I R AL FAR A I Rk P AR
B BRRARRHE=T==_4F+=A
=+ ALFEZRAMBHRER KRBT
gé °

BHE_Z-ZF+-_A=+—HILFEEHNREN
BEGREBEBRAREII02T(ITE B
1.31270) » @4 AR ¥ 7,680,929,000 7T °
ER-ZZE=—FXNANAZARRBREBEX
e HbE - WRAFE RIS -

proposed a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2021 of RMB1.207 (equivalent to HK$1.484) per ordinary share of
the Company, totalling approximately RMB8,607,044,000 based on
the latest number of ordinary shares of 7,130,939,579 shares of the
Company in issue. This proposed dividend is not reflected as a
dividend payable in these consolidated financial statements, but will
be reflected as a profit appropriation in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2022.

A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 of RMB1.102
(equivalent to HK$1.312) per ordinary share, totalling approximately
RMB7,680,929,000, had been approved in the Company’s Annual
General Meeting on 9 June 2021 and paid during the year.
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14. #REM 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
RATEE AFEEEIRERNZ MR AT 2% The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
EC owners of the Company is based on the following data:

2021 2020

AR®TR AREBTT

RMB’000 RMB’'000
EF Earnings
BEsTE BRERRBF 2 87 Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings
(RDTWEB AFEILERER])  per share (profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company) 32,401,239 29,809,959
2021 2020
RHHE Number of shares
REstEGRERET 2 Weighted average number of ordinary
T T mRER shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 7,130,939,579 7,130,939,579
HREE_E - Fh_E_ZTF+_H No diluted earnings per share is presented for the years ended
=+ —BIEFENEFMBETEINETEE B 31 December 2021 and 2020 as there were no potential
I - WA EZSERES AT - ordinary shares outstanding.
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15. ¥ - B Mkt

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

HEMERE -
BEME BT BRRRE
Leasehold
improvements,
Hotel furniture and Motor Construction
properties Buildings equipment vehicles in progress
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A CosT
WZE=-5-A-H At 1 January 2021 7,712,007 4,582,519 3,632,289 162,078 2,375,805 18,464,698
5% Exchange realignment (9,532) (36,130) (8,970) (328) (35,353) (90,313)
RE Additions 74,702 197,008 351,227 14,004 1,675,614 2,312,555
HERBAR (MFE42) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 42) - - (380) - - (380)
BEREATE Transfer from inventory - 79,831 - - 32,945 112,776
BRERENE Transfer from investment properties - 112,442 - - - 112,442
b Transfer 474,488 (9,354) 128,400 - (593,534) -
e Disposals - (39,822) (196,651) (15,128) (26,289) (277,890)
RZZE-—%E+-F=+—H  At31December 2021 8,251,665 4,886,494 3,905,915 160,626 3,429,188 20,633,888
ZARE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
R-E-_—%—-f—H At 1 January 2021 1,552,274 879,400 1,814,786 122,916 - 4,369,376
EXAE Exchange realignment (8,636) (5,092) (10,375) (611) = (24,714)
HEMBAR (ME42) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 42) = = (283) = = (283)
KEERE Provided for the year 294,963 218,334 371,300 m - 884,768
HERYH Eliminated on disposals - (6,761) (15,496) (156) - (22,413)
RZT-—%+-A=+—H  At31December 2021 1,838,601 1,085,881 2,159,932 122,320 - 5,206,734
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZE-—%5+-FA=1+—H  At31December 2021 6,413,064 3,800,613 1,745,983 38,306 3,429,188 15,427,154
RZZ-ZFE+-F=1+—H  At31December 2020 6,159,733 3,703,119 1,817,503 39,162 2,375,805 14,095,322
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15. 93k ~ W Bt (7)) 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

BENE ‘ BRE ERTE

Leasehold
Improvements,
Hotel furniture and Motor Construction
properties Buildings equipment vehicles in progress
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETTT AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BRA& CosT
i e 2z 3 =] At 1 January 2020 5,679,308 3,444,470 2,720,991 168,067 2,862,678 14,875,514
ERAE Exchange realignment (87,684) (38,337) (61,780) (2,398) (12,945) (203,144)
NE Additions 144,335 32,566 367,603 12,953 2,365,259 2,922,716
BELENBLARBRE Disposed upon deemed disposal of
(HizE42) subsidiaries (Note 42) - - (612) (480) - (1,092)
WEHBAREES Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries
(Mi343) (Note 43) - 873,829 17,052 137 11,797 902,815
BRAEVEE(MF18) Transfer from intangible asset (Note 18) - - 243310 - - 243310
BROMHEE Y% Transfer to properties for sale - (38,423) - - (67,713) (106,136)
b Transfer 1,976,048 316,788 408,639 - (2,701,475) -
HE Disposals - (8,374) (62,914) (16,201) (81,796) (169,285)
RWZTZFTFT-A=F+—H  At31December 2020 7,712,007 4,582,519 3,632,289 162,078 2,375,805 18,464,698
ZHRE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
RZE-F5—F—AH At 1 January 2020 1,335,312 777,509 1,506,878 125,116 - 3,744,815
ERREE Exchange realignment (20,084) (8,787) (2,896) (925) - (32,692)
BiELEHBARNEE Disposed upon deemed disposal of
(Fita2) subsidiaries (Note 42) - - (454) (448) - (902)
TEERE Provided for the year 237,046 113,174 319,505 134 - 669,859
HEREHH Eliminated on disposals - (2,49) (8,247) (961) - (11,704)
WZEZTEFZA=+—H  At31 December 2020 1,552,274 879,400 1,814,786 122,916 - 4,369,376
EHE CARRYING VALUES
WZEZZEFZA=1—H  At31 December 2020 6,159,733 3,703,119 1,817,503 39,162 2,375,805 14,095,322
RZZ-NE+-A=1+—H  At31December 2019 4,343,996 2,666,961 1,214,113 42,951 2,862,678 11,130,699
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15.

Yok ~ W5 Bk i ()

RZB-——FR-_F-_TF+_A=+—H
ZHERIBFEZAENFRENEERBIEDE -

Lt - WERRERE (ERETERN)
THERBEAANE G A ERFE - 5t Rl
ARIREBERATERE - FB T

BIEMERETF 20E 404
HEMELE - Rk MHEHRSF

B (A& A%E)
RE 54

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

Construction in progress as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
mainly represented the hotel properties which are under
construction in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

Hotel properties and buildings 20 to 40 years

Leasehold improvements, Over the shorter of lease
furniture and equipment terms or 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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16. &EWIE 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
ER TR REME —
Investment Investment
Completed properties properties —
investment under right-of-use
properties construction assets
ARBT T ARBTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WZE-Z4-HF—H At 1 January 2020 127,066,481 30,054,000 4,094,300 161,214,781
RS Exchange realignment (117,413) - - (117.413)
nE Additions 727,934 15,045,634 1,341,078 17,114,646
BRASHEE T YE Transfer to properties for sale (161,000) (224,945) - (385,945)
hERRENFBES Transfer from investment properties
ERRENE under construction to completed
investment properties 6,414,812 (6,414,812) - -
EREEREEEEI7(0)  Transfer from right-of-use assets (Note 17(A)) - 586,609 - 586,609
BREAEMAE(:T18) Transfer from intangible assets (Note 18) - - 136,103 136,103
REREALTEZ 328 Net change in fair value of investment
properties recognised in profit or loss 8,080,811 829,694 (26,241) 8,884,264
RIELE-HNBLARES Disposed upon deemed disposal of
(Rt 42) a subsidiary (Note 42) - (1,173,671) - (1,173,671)
I —FAIE A A &S (P51 43)  Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary
(Note 43) - 1,124,198 - 1,124,198
ek Disposals (4,147) - - (4,147)
RZE-EF+-A=1-H At 31 December 2020 142,007,478 39,826,707 5,545,240 187,379,425
Rk Exchange realignment (110,717) = = (110,717)
nE Additions 2,016,206 25,823,556 591,273 28,431,035
EREMHEE 7 NE Transfer from properties for sale 98,100 - - 98,100
BESHEE T ME Transfer to properties for sale (5,790,000) - - (5,790,000)
hEERENFBES Transfer from investment properties
ERRENE under construction to completed
investment properties 13,483,170 (13,483,170) - -
BREZNE  HERRE(H15) Transfer to property, plant and
equipment (Note 15) (112,442) - - (112,442)
SREERESE(FE17(0)  Transfer from right-of-use assets (Note 17(A) = 132,886 = 132,886
RERRARENEATEZ Net change in fair value of investment
BEEY properties recognised in profit or loss 8,781,950 (901,555) (85,753) 7,794,642
HE-RNBAR (i) Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 42) - (231,224) - (231,224)
HeE Disposals (61,587) - - (61,587)
WZZ--F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2021 160,312,158 51,167,200 6,050,760 217,530,118
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l6. Be&E W3 (4)

et -

(a)

REBEGERF

REERAFEHHIEEMEETIE - A%
EREWEN T -_—F+_A=+—RAFK=
ToTE+ - A=+ HHNAFERBFLF
RECHRAR RSB ARTHEERA A
(HAEBYREXAAKGHEM)ETHGHEM
BE

B ERLERMENEA KD YGEBRERE
RET—IRTwR - NEAARE 2 FHRFE
HEFR

A ERM

HERAZGEDERES R M AR
AR RERLBOE - EEWEFTANEER
E S BREBER AR - AR EREE
EMAZ WS

W@ EMEREMBRAONESERA - X
AEEERZEEDHOEERSWA - REIE
BEMNEAMEEREERNCAERE -

BRLBORS R E™ S ERREYZED
ROV EZEHEYRETLR < BREEK
N BUERNERANAI AL R EETS
i WFAEESMERNES 2K - KES
AR WFHEEE -

RIEREE BAEREEILNG W AREEMNZE
BOA ~ FSUA R B R ABR O FISRER - Rtk
FAEAERRIERBRERNMAER S AKX
VERHE B REE - BEBRER WA
BIEEEKA MHERH BEXER M
T8 M A RAERIRCA - 55 003 R 7 O [ B B )
TR o MARBENBBEKAKHERRERE
N - AFHRAMENRIBREE -

BRAER AR EERNIAG HEN M ERNEE
BRI BE - RAEREEEZ T HWIRE -
Szt FRETROSERAGE - BE
TIREERABERETERAN - B TIZN
- B ER R TRAAREKA -

REETMEATER - MENGEERRERE
AEIREAS o

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value. The fair
value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2021
and as at 31 December 2020 has been determined on the basis of
valuation carried out by CBRE Limited and Vincorn Consulting and
Appraisal Limited, both are independent and professionally qualified
valuers.

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between
management and valuers at least once every six months, in line with
the timing of Group's interim and annual reporting.

Valuation techniques

The valuation methodologies adopted in valuations include income
approach and/or direct comparison approach for completed properties
and residual approach, direct comparison approach and/or cost
approach for the properties under construction and income approach
for the right-of-use assets.

The income approach operates by taking into account the rental
income of the property derived from the existing tenancies with due
allowance for the potential reversionary income of the tenanted and
vacant portions, which are then capitalised at an appropriate
capitalisation rate.

The direct comparison approach involves the analysis of recent market
evidence of similar properties and comparing them with the premises
under valuation. Comparable properties with similar sizes, characters
and locations are analysed, and carefully weighed against all
respective advantage and disadvantages of each property in order to
arrive at a fair comparison of value.

The residual approach takes into account the residual value of the
gross development value (“GDV") after deduction of the outstanding
construction costs and expenses as well as profit element. It involves
firstly the assessment of the aggregate GDV of the proposed
development, as if completed, as at the valuation date. Estimated
costs of the proposed development include construction costs,
marketing expense, professional fee, finance charges and associated
costs, plus an allowance for the developer’s risk and profit. The
outstanding development costs are then deducted from the GDV and
the resultant figure is the residual value of the subject property.

The cost approach is a method of using gross replacement costs to
arrive at the value of the subject property in its existing state as at the
valuation date. The cost approach requires estimates of the current
value of the land plus the estimated replacement costs of the land
improvement works. The replacement costs of the improvement
works includes the costs of the building work, site works, finance
charges and relevant associated costs.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.
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16. &M (4])
Wi ()
© EREAFTEREEHEATEOEREN

Notes: (continued)

(@

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Information about fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs

R-B=—F
+=A=+—A8 fhEtRmE hEtRRE
ZATE B He BERAE
Fair value as at Assessed Estimated
31 December Capitalisation prevailing developer’s
2021 rate market rents profit margins
BABTAEXK
AR®T T AR®T
RMB per
RMB’'000 % sqm per month %
BIEK : Completed:
— PAE — Offices 27,108,739 4.0toZ 7.0 50 toE 344 TEAN/A
—ZERHEAM — Retail and others 133,203,419 3.0t0% 7.8 27 toZ 907 TEAN/A
160,312,158 / / /
T Under construction:
—ZTE  PHAERHEM  — Retail, offices and others 51,167,200 3.8t0oE 7.5 59 toE 525 3toZE 25
FREEE Right-of-use assets
— HAEREM — Office and Others 6,050,760 5.0toZ 7.5 16 toE 350 THEAN/A
217,530,118 / / /

fhEtIRmE
B =& He BER
Fair value as at Assessed Estimated
31 December Capitalisation prevailing developer’s
2020 rate market rents profit margins
BRATFFHAK
ARBFIT AR
RMB per
RMB’000 %  sgm per month %
BEK ¢ Completed:
—WAE — Offices 32,205,510 401t0% 7.0 47 toZ 340 TERNA
—TERHEM — Retail and others 109,801,968 3.8t0% 7.8 36 toZ 995 TEFANA
142,007,478 / / /
EE Under construction:
—ZE  PWAERHEM  — Retail, offices and others 39,826,707 3.0t0&E 7.5 53 to& 523 2 to& 25
EREEE Right-of-use assets
— PNEREHAM — Office and Others 5,545,240 5.0t0& 7.5 50 to£ 350 TEAN/A
187,379,425 / / /
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et -
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(%)

REEAFAERBEAEATENHRBER
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FABRBABREAFENRE
. ARMEERS A FERE
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. HEEREHEEFNBES -/
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AEER

TR —F+-A=+—HIEFE K
—(ERBEMEZ R - AmERH
%ﬁ&ﬁ%%%%i LHEZ W - EEHD
BER  ZEVFENAFHEREREEZHES
EZR(BRIBAERE) CRBEEABAR
# 327,435,000 7T ©

REMELN T EAM - FERKEE -

REBRFZAEREMER R FEBRF3

EEtE - AFEERDRBEAFEFERAR
BEABREEEE - FN - ATEFENFE

BRF2E AL EEY  E3IBTEEMNE
A -

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@

(d)

Information about fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (continued)

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:
. The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value;

o The higher the prevailing market rents, the higher the fair
value;

o The higher the estimated developer’s profit margin, the lower
the fair value.

The Group had changed the use of an investment property during the
year ended 31 December 2021. Accordingly, it results in a transfer
from completed investment properties to properties for sale. On the
date of reclassification, the differences between the fair value of the
properties and their carrying amount net of income tax has been
recognised in profit or loss of RMB327,435,000.

The investment properties are situated in the Mainland China, Hong
Kong and the UK.

All the investment properties held by the Group are measured at level
3 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy is determined
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable. During the year, there were no transfer
of fair value measurement between level 1 and level 2 and no
transfers into or out of level 3.
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17.

N
REBEREEA

AEBBAREEBEEN T FERARE 2
F o e &Em YEZEEENHAESL -
EIRATEE — AN RAmEERERE L
m'ﬂ%ﬁmi EFNARAENT3IF
F20F  MEBHEBBENT2E10F -
HAth& ﬁmm%@%%QMH%MT&/i
ERERENEERE AEBREE

:—¢+:HE+—E¢¢§%%ﬁﬁﬁ%
BEEEMNHESWAARE371,220,0007T(=
T -TF : AR 186,664,0007T) °

(A) EREEE

WAFE  AREERREEL BE
EREEBHNT :

17.

LEASE
THE GROUP AS LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land use
rights, buildings, machinery and other equipment used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 40 years.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms generally between
3 and 20 years, while machinery generally has lease terms
between 2 and 10 years. Other equipment generally has lease
terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low value.
The Group recognised rental income of subleasing right-of-use
assets of RMB371,220,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: RMB186,664,000).

(A)

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

TiERE B
Land use
rights Buildings Machinery
ARET T ARETT ARBTR AR®T R
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
RZZZTE-H—H At 1 January 2020 4,208,272 345,405 120,815 4,674,492
NE Additions 539,997 951,598 11,405 1,503,000
W —RMBARIEES  Acquired on acquisition of a
(M5E43) subsidiary (Note 43) 486,901 - - 486,901
HEZH Depreciation charge (109,155) (123,017) (10,342) (242,514)
EREEERANE Transfer to investment
properties under
construction (586,609) - - (586,609)
FEHBAHEFAER  Covid-19-related rent
ReRBNRLES concessions from lessors - - (18,335) (18,335)
RZZE-FfF At 31 December 2020
+ZA=1+-8 4,539,406 1,173,986 103,543 5,816,935
NE Additions 377,141 512,320 100,092 989,553
TEZH Depreciation charge (132,160) (273,527) (10,972) (416,659)
BREMHEEINE Transfer to properties for sale (17,482) = - (17,482)
BEZEERENE Transfer to investment
properties under
construction (132,886) - - (132,886)
RZT-—% At 31 December 2021
+ZA=t—H 4,634,019 1,412,779 192,663 6,239,461
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17. HE (&) 17. LEASE (continued)

AEBEEEABA (E) THE GROUP AS LESSEE (continued)

(B) HE&®E (B) Lease liabilities
RAFE HEEBBZEREAENEE The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
E N during the year are as follows:

2021 2020

AR®TR AREET T

RMB’'000 RMB’000
R—HA—H®EREE Carrying amount at 1 January 5,444,307 3,391,497
MEE New leases 623,334 2,209,726
AN [ W R A 2 IE N Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 267,677 213,032
KEHEANETATARES  Covid-19-related rent concessions
HENESRE from lessors = (16,786)
(N Payments (533,186) (353,162)
Rt+ZA=+—HB8KEE Carrying amount at 31 December 5,802,132 5,444,307
DR Analysed into:
mENE S Current portion 1,044,306 187,785
FETRENER Non-current portion 4,757,826 5,256,522
HEBENEIEA 5T #FER B ® The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
FMIsES0 ° 50 to the financial statements.
() RiEZEREEEFE 2SN ¢ (C) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

leases are as follows:

2021 2020

AR¥TR AREET T

RMB’000 RMB’'000
HEaERME Interest on lease liabilities 267,677 213,032
TREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 416,659 242,514
REHHEENKBESEME  Expense relating to short-term leases
BREAMREY and leases of low-value assets 16,862 35,834
KEHEANEFEMRRFS  Covid-19-related rent concessions
HENESRR from lessors = 16,786
RERERNESRE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 701,198 508,166
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17. #% () 17. LEASE (continued)
REBEEEABA (&) THE GROUP AS LESSEE (continued)
(D) HERSARLAZE (D) Total cash outflow for leases
STARSRERNR SR LAZENT : The total cash outflow included in the statement of cash

flows is as follows:

2021 2020

AR¥TR ARMETTT

RMB’000 RMB’'000
R EEBN Within operating activities (16,862) (35,834)
RELEESHN Within financing activities (533,186) (353,162)
AEEER[HAA THE GROUP AS LESSOR
RBEHR - NEEEAHEARRT A H At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
HEETEL - LA T2 HIA AR AR IR with lessees for the following future undiscounted lease
MEMNRMT payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due
as follows:

2021 2020

AR¥TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FRN Within one year 7,629,843 6,253,177
F_EZELF (BREEWMTE) In the second to fifth year, inclusive 12,492,135 9,374,454
HEUE After five years 3,155,566 2,793,468
23,277,544 18,421,099

222 —=——FFi%E ANNUAL REPORT 2021



18. W& E

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2021 2020

ARET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
W—A—BZKA Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated
kR 2T amortisation 40,913 424,977
INE Additions 45,126 9,432
RNEEHIHEE Amortisation provided for the year (4,337) (14,083)
EREYE  WE L& Transfer to property, plant and equipment
(M5 15) (Note 15) = (243,310)
wEE R EYE (M 16) Transfer to investment properties (Note 16) = (136,103)
e Disposals (5,346) -
R+ A=Z+—HZHA Cost at 31 December, net of accumulated
kR 2T amortisation 76,356 40,913
R+—A=+—H: At 31 December:
D& Cost 80,693 40,913
BT Accumulated amortisation (4,337) -
R FE Net carrying amount 76,356 40,913

BREEIRREASEUNTENEERR
B RAREERNBEEER - (ZF_FF:
IR EMBEE AR ARFEEEBELZ
BREERE) BREERAGOHANER

FEBESH o

The intangible assets mainly represent the Group’s exclusive
operating rights for senior housing services located in the PRC
and hotel patent. (2020: exclusive operating rights for hotel and
commercial units and senior housing services located in the

PRC). The intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis

over the contractual period.
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19. REBEREZIRE 19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2021 2020

AR®T ARETTT

RMB’'000 RMB’000
FELETIRE KA Cost of investments, unlisted 33,379,948 30,471,054
FEMRURER S5 ) - HIBRAZBUZ A Share of post-acquisition profits,
net of dividend income 7,560,232 5,115,294
40,940,180 35,586,348
N-FE-——F+-_A=+—H ' ~A&EFELEE Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures as at 31 December
¥ 7 FHIBEH M EE48(C) ° 2021 are set out in note 48(C).
—HEAREGELECHMBERBE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A
MATERIAL JOINT VENTURE
AREBBEASENE HEBREEARAA The summarised financial information in respect of /&M@ E
([EEBdxs]) 2MBEREESEHMT - EERAA (" LE@2E"), the Group’s material joint venture, is
set out below.
EELENRNGEETBERREAETEA This joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in
AR - these consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020

AR®T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

MENVE Current assets 5,057,439 1,605,123
ERBEE Non-current assets 6,501,363 6,036,048
mEAE Current liabilities (522,392) (1,330,650)
ERBBE Non-current liabilities (5,959,552) (1,714,831)
THEENBESBHBREAT The above amounts of assets and liabilities

&I include the following:
RekReEE Cash and cash equivalents 165,448 105,906
BT REE(TREEMEZR N Current financial liabilities (excluding trade

E T ERIA R B ) and other payables and provisions) (96,000) (900,000)
nEemaE (TeEEREMIEIZK  Non-current financial liabilities (excluding

R E A FERTERIE R trade and other payables and provisions) (4,853,000) (750,000)
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19. REBEEZRE (H) 19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)
—BEREELECHKEERBE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A
(48) MATERIAL JOINT VENTURE (continued)

2021 2020

AR®TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’'000
Wz Revenue 489,016 405,042
F % F| Profit for the year 481,168 100,116
FREREMNEFEATEIE The above profit for the year includes
the following:
88 K Depreciation and amortisation (334) (419)
FEWA Interest income 10,099 18,013
MBS Interest expense (133,890) (47 ,646)
Friefif S Income tax expense (173,998) (138,270)
B RS E R BN S B RS IR R A RERR Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
RZeELFE s Ea RABECEE the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020

AR®TR AREET T

RMB’000 RMB'000
tEREFEE Net assets of L-/&i@z: 5,076,858 4,595,690
REER L@z EERE Proportion of the Group's ownership
Tz Ll interest in _F/g @ 50% 50%
2,538,429 2,297,845
EES Goodwill 284,869 284,869
REBN EEBmER 2REE  Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
s 2,823,298 2,582,714
ZEAGECETENFTERNEEAL 22 The material joint venture is principally engaged in similar
% HAREMEERRRREEFARKE activities as the Group and is strategic to the Group's activities
B HEBFEKE M RTH - as property development and investment. Its principal place of

business is the PRC.
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19. "B EZTE (M) 19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)
WHEBEHEAZEELECEALER AGGREGATE INFORMATION OF JOINT VENTURES

THAT ARE NOT INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

2021 2020
AR¥T T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
N (R F N A The Group's share of profits for the year 2,567,566 1,849,741
REBRZEGELEZERY  Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
RE@E interests in these joint ventures 38,116,882 33,003,634
20. REFE AR ZRE 20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
ARBT T AREEFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
JEEHIRE KA Cost of investments, unlisted 17,416,920 14,209,878
FEMRURER R R ) - FOBRAZEUA  Share of post-acquisition profits,
net of dividend income 3,642,928 3,639,076
21,059,848 17,848,954
RZEZ—F+ZHA=+—8 ~5EH= Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2021
RNEZFIBEHIFE48(D) © are set out in note 48(D).
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20. FBEE A 2 B & (4)

—BEABERT Z2HBERBE

REBE AR E R F) _LBE R EEER
BARRR ([ LaZERLmE ) 2 BB ER S

EZDEIT o

IS R RN AR A ISR E AR ©

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A
MATERIAL ASSOCIATE

The summarised financial information in respect of _E/&ZE)5A
fEEMERBEERAT (" EELE"), the Group’s material
associate, is set out below.

This associate is accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

2021 2020

ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENE E Current assets 7,947,683 9,051,504
IEREEE Non-current assets 104,172 2,369
mENERE Current liabilities (1,849,543) (2,215,729)
EREAEE Non-current liabilities = (2,314)
FHMEEREBESBEEENT The above amounts of assets and liabilities
%18 include the following:
BekReEE Cash and cash equivalents 358,658 182,259
nEEmaE (TEIEREMEEZ KL Current financial liabilities (excluding trade
o fth A BRTE S ) and other payables and provisions) - -
FnEermas (TeERENMEEZ  Non-current financial liabilities (excluding
N E A T RRTE R 1) trade and other payables and provisions) - -

2021 2020

ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
& Revenue 1,784,933 7,559,578
F R F Profit for the year 466,262 1,219,981
FRERENEEATEIE The above profit for the year includes
the following:
B U A Interest income 187,368 164,727
RS fifS Income tax expense (253,331) (423,952)
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20. WS R 2 HBE (4) 20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
—BEABHERRZHBERBE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A
(#8) MATERIAL ASSOCIATE (continued)
At B S B RS B B A 4 A B S s R N AERR Recondiliation of the above summarised financial information to
RN R T RS Y BREE Y YR the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised

in the consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020

AR®TR ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
ERELNE L FEE Net assets of /&3, i#[£ 6,202,312 6,835,830
REBR EBZERNEZHEERE  Proportion of the Group’s ownership
M L interest in /@2, M 50% 50%
REER EBEILERR 2 Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
AREE EEEERAHE 3,101,156 3,417,915
WIHBMRAIERAZHE AR ZELAER AGGREGATE INFORMATION OF ASSOCIATES THAT

ARE NOT INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

2021 2020

AR®T T ARET T

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AN ER [B FE AS F 0s F The Group's share of profits for the year 1,255,784 489,816
REBNZEHE AT 2Es 2 Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's

IRERE interests in these associates 17,958,692 14,431,039
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H AR Z A T A

21. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2021 2020

ARETT AR¥ETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FELTRARE - BATFE Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 1,100,462 1,116,163

EA AR T AT AR A5 TE A B R E
2HRERATFEIE  DERRNEERBZ

SHREBRREMEE -

The above equity instruments were irrevocably designated at
FVOCI as the Group considers these investments to be strategic
in nature.

2. A Pzt AN B 2 £ BE 22. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITY AT FAIR

Ak VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2021
BE &8f&
Assets Liabilities
ARET ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
PTEemAasE Derivative financial liability
— MRz — Interest rate swap - 3,510
BAVEFABGSREE Financial assets at FVPL
—EByES — Wealth management funds 1,389,813 =
2020
BE =t
Assets Liabilities
ARETT ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
THEEREE Derivative financial liability
— &5 5 — Interest rate swap - 15,789
BAVEFABGSRIEE Financial assets at FVPL
—EHES — Wealth management funds 4,933,802 -
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23.

230

P AHGEZ ST
R ()

AEEFTVYR-_FE-__FhA-THLBEEH
RA R - E B —E L PIMERFEN
BT BN KB ENE - BUEEAE
B Egs ([ 2885 )% BERZ M XEMR o FIX
1= AN R IR (E SR R IR A FERT AR

iR o

EMESTERATREBRTNERESR
B BMESHANGRINEEESMELN
ReREVIFERHAERAREELEH R
AR - AUt - B ES S BAEATER
ABHRZEREE -

MEREHRFEHRRZ A
RITHEME -

SE W17 K

ZAERR IRV B A —REE R F AR
RITBENARBERE BEFMNER
35% ' RETMIRA36MEA - KEBFERE
HHBE=(EARA TIAKR - EMFRNE
FURFRENRE R RELNRERERER
HAERAREERSNENNK  XIREF
REARERERRSRENEHRAL
B o Bitt - EEERA RS E R AR A
ENTREE -
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT FAIR

23.

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

The Group entered into an interest rate swap which matures on
29 September 2022 to manage the exposure to the interest rate
risk on the Group’s Great Britain Pound (“GBP") floating-rate
borrowing by swapping a portion of the interest payment on
borrowing from floating rate to fixed rate. The interest rate
swap is not designated for hedge purposes and is measured at
FVPL.

Wealth management funds are mainly investments in financial
funds issued by financial institutions. The contractual terms of
the wealth management funds give rise on specified dates to
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding. Accordingly, the wealth
management funds are classified as financial assets at FVPL.

The fair value of interest rate swap at the end of the reporting
periods is provided by the counterparty bank.

TIME DEPOSITS

The balance represents deposit certificates purchased from a
creditworthy licensed bank in Mainland China earning interest
at a fixed rate of 3.5% per annum with original maturity period
of 36 months. The deposit certificates are redeemable upon
holding for longer than three months. The contractual terms of
the time deposits give rise on specified dates to cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding and are held within a business model with
the objective to hold in order to collect contractual cash flows.
For such purpose, the time deposits are accounted for as
financial assets at amortised cost.
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24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2021 2020
=0 afE
Liabilities Liabilities
AR%T T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
PTEemT A Derivative financial instruments
(B EstIET) (under hedge accounting)
WemEEH H Cash flow hedges
— XX G5 5 — Cross currency swaps 128,070 52,716
N EE A Fair value hedges
— XX E#7 8f — Cross currency swaps 123,505 47,546
251,575 100,262

BERnm — SNERR

R-ZBE-_—F+-_F=+—8 A&EEFAH
R B R M) % % £ %8300,000,000 % 7T 2
RN EMIE B - s AR A EE
/£300,000,0005713.75% & E F| KB L E
BHYINEE f o

AR R A A RIS B A 0 2 I TR
5 7 BT R 22 55 T 48 55 SRR 0 R (B2
%4 BRIEHTHE M) B - B
H B SR TR BRI - MR
RIS BEE A 0 2 AR R Y,
WS - RAEEREBIRRE 1
BB o AR 2 AR - ARE
ERERITE TR  WERUHTAZ AT
EEHRY AR AN EYEER 2 AT
EED -

CASH FLOW HEDGE — FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cross currency swap
agreements in place with notional amounts of US$300,000,000
with no exchange of interest. The swaps are being used to
hedge the foreign currency exposure of a 3.75% fixed rate
senior note with a face value of US$300,000,000.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items
and the hedging instruments as the terms of the cross currency
swaps and swap contracts match the terms of the expected
highly probable forecast transactions and the senior note (i.e.,
notional amount and expected payment date). The Group has
established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships as
the underlying risks of the cross currency swaps and swap
contracts are identical to the hedged risk components. To
measure the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the
hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes in
the fair value of the hedging instruments against the changes in
fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risks.
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24, fi

232

T &R T H (4)
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i EME T ERRE
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N#HhTA
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HTARKEHIER 2 A FHEES
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DN EH R — SNE R

RZZEZ—F+-A=+—H  ~5EBHFH
48 | B 32 1) 24 % 4 %8 300,000,000 35 T 2
RXEME B - ZIRBRARE REE
7£500,000,0005 7T 4.13% [E & F| KB L E
BRAFEZFHRK -

MR R X B8 2 RSB R R 2 R
(BlRELR  MRREFTEH)BCER - &
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24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
CASH FLOW HEDGE — FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
(continued)

Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

o Differences in the timing of the cash flows of the
forecasted sales and purchases and the hedging
instruments

o Different interest rate curves applied to discount the
hedged items and hedging instruments

o The counterparties’ credit risks differently impacting the
fair value movements of the hedging instruments and
hedged items

o Changes to the forecasted amounts of cash flows of
hedged items and hedging instruments

FAIR VALUE HEDGE — FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

At 31 December 2021, the Group had cross currency swap
agreements in place with a notional amount of
US$300,000,000 with no exchange of interest. The swaps are
used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a
4.13% fixed rate senior note with a face value of
Us$500,000,000.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument as the terms of the cross currency
swaps match the terms of the senior note (i.e., notional amount,
payment and reset dates). The Group has established a hedge
ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships as the underlying risk
of the cross currency swaps is identical to that of the hedged
risk component. To test the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses
the hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes
in the fair value of the hedging instrument against the changes
in fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.
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24.

25.

26.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
FAIR VALUE HEDGE — FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
(continued)

The hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

o differences in the timing of cash flows of the hedged item
and the hedging instrument

o the counterparties’ credit risks differently impacting the
fair value movements of the hedging instrument and the
hedged item

PREPAYMENTS FOR NON-CURRENT
ASSETS

The amounts mainly represent the prepayments made by the
Group for the acquisitions of land use rights in the PRC for the
development of investment properties and properties held for
own use. The land use right certificates have not yet been
obtained by the Group as at 31 December 2021.

DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred taxation assets and
liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the
deferred taxation balances at the end of the reporting period:

2021 2020

AR¥T T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

R TEEE Deferred taxation assets 11,214,154 10,306,764
EERIEAE Deferred taxation liabilities (29,152,924) (24,466,801)
(17,938,770) (14,160,037)
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26. WAEBLIE (4H) 26. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
UTAREEZTEREMRELRE, (A The following are the major deferred taxation assets/(liabilities)
&) ARG R ERBRIE e ERE R KA during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting
o of balances within the same tax jurisdiction:

AAERS THEER SENEAR
RE&NE HRERNE i BE ZRDWER

Unrealised

gain from Undistributed

inter- profits

Investment company LAT of PRC
properties  transaction  Taxlosses  provisions  subsidiaries Others

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARRTR ARBTR ARETR  ARETR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

WZE-BFE-FA—H  At1January 2020 (17,333,370) 370,079 1,355,211 6,058,915 (870,240) (773,673)  (11,193,078)
A% Exchange realignment (101,353) (17.461) 17,835 21,794 58,785 77,796 57,39
IE—FHBATEES Acquired on acquisition of

a subsidiary - - 1,027 - - - 1,027
BEHEMBATERE Disposed upon deemed disposal of

(fitzE42) subsicfiaries (Note 42) 22,863 - (18,487) - - (1,903) 2473
(h8)/FAES (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (2,983,392) (254,769) 290,816 909,294 (242,255) (751,022)  (3,031,328)
nedt2ERE Charge to other comprehensive

income - - - - - 3473 3473
i e 5 At 31 December 2020

+-A=1+-H (20,395,252) 97,849 1,646,402 6,990,003 (1,053,710)  (1,445329)  (14,160,037)
ERRE Exchange realignment (50,473) (7.546) 1,515 (8,506) 28,190 57,825 21,005
HEWBAT (M3142)  Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 42) 12,050 - (243) 5,191 - (5,580) 11,418

CIENWEIN -2 (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (2,654,866) 166,772 112,256 (450,170) 17417 (1,160,490)  (3,815,081)
Neit2ERE Charge to other comprehensive
income - = - -

3,925 3,925

£ At 31 December 2021
+-R (23,088,541) 257,05 1759930 6,536,518 (854,103)  (2,549,649) (17,938,770)
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26. MEHEBLIE ()

27.

et -

(a)

(b)

RZBE-—F+-A=+—0 ~A&EBAXRH
AR EE AR 13,720,591,000 T( =& —
T4 AR 11,042,553,0007T) 7] 4 A {EIE
SHREERTRF - Hp AR%7,039,721,000
T(ZE=FF : AR%¥6,585,608,0007T)H)
MIEEEERRABECHEEE - ARA
ARRIEERABUEFZSEHBARB %
MEFR MY ERBTHREEEARE
66808700007 L( — E - T &F£: AR K
4,456,945,000 7T) MERIELER B E E © 5 EH
BRZALEAF -

M-ZE-——F+-A=+—0 KEBEILEL
FEMEBEARMNARAELRFNARK
43333,717,000t( — T = T &F: AR ¥
29,275,098,0007T ) MR IELEFR BB A R
2,166,686000T( — & — T F£: A R ¥
1,463,755,0007T) * RERAEE I ELHE G+

B IRZEEA

et 2k

2021 2020

26. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Notes:

(a)

At 31 December 2021, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB13,720,591,000 (2020: RMB11,042,553,000) available for offset
against future taxable profits, of which RMB7,039,721,000 (2020:
RMB6,585,608,000) tax losses have been recognised as deferred
taxation assets. No deferred taxation asset has been recognised on
the remaining tax losses of RMB6,680,870,000 (2020:
RMB4,456,945,000), as in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the future profit streams of these subsidiaries are
uncertain. The tax losses could be carried forward for a maximum of
five years.

At 31 December 2021, the Group has not made provision of deferred
taxation of RMB2,166,686,000 (2020: RMB1,463,755,000) for the
unremitted earnings of the PRC subsidiaries of RMB43,333,717,000
(2020: RMB29,275,098,000) as the Group does not have a plan to
distribute these earnings out of the PRC.

27. PROPERTIES FOR SALE

AR¥T T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

EEPYE Properties under development 359,488,054 336,943,088
HIsE 7 M Properties held for sale 43,075,378 39,218,437
402,563,432 376,161,525

RREHE 2 MERB AR REART

A&

WeE - BAEEEYSERNT NS

B BIRREEE -

n=

T —F+-A=t+—A BRFME

REHEMEMRE I E R FE BB RA

R%

5,017,000,000 (= —T4F : AR¥E

3,723,000,0007T) ©

Properties for sale which are expected to be recovered in more
than twelve months after the end of the reporting period are
classified under current assets as it is expected to be realised in
the Group’s normal operating cycle.

As at 31 December 2021, the provision for write-down of
properties under development and properties held for sale to
net realizable value amounted to RMB5,017 million (2020:
RMB3,723 million).
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28. MEWCWERK - Hofb MENCMRIE - B A 28. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES,
K JH Ml PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

2021 2020

AR®TT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
FEBR R I EU R ¥ (fd 5T a) Trade and bills receivables (Note a) 2,425,042 2,611,627
B OREEE (BiiEa) Less: Provision for impairment (Note a) (91,371) (90,061)
2,333,671 2,521,566
U T RE Prepayments for acquisition of land use
TR RIE (B3t b) rights (Note b) 4,851,777 10,317,530
Hh W BRI (BT o) Other receivables (Note ¢) 17,058,068 17,494,720
B OREEE (MR o) Less: Provision for impairment (Note c) (292,088) (470,817)
16,765,980 17,023,903
FENTIE RET D (MdiEd) Prepayments and deposits (Note d) 24,509,930 19,300,845
48,461,358 49,163,844
Bitst - Notes:
(a) JE U BR TR N e 224 (@)  Trade and bills receivables
HEYE 7 FEW AT B FIBIRIRE FinmmaiE Proceeds receivable in respect of the sale of properties are settled in
R - HEMENTS WA MRS DT accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase
BRIE — RS B 1755 9 (S SR U ER. © agreements. Rental income from leases of properties and proceeds

from construction contracts are generally receivable in accordance
with the terms of the relevant agreements.

MBHEYEEHRIE  HEYDEBRSKAR Except for the proceeds from sales of properties, rental income from
BEAN 7 FRERIBHARIE A BTSRRI leases of properties and proceeds from construction contracts which
BN KREB—REBTEFETHBB3I0E45 are receivable in accordance with the terms of the relevant
AN EEH  ETeL THEREMEE agreements, the Group generally allows a credit period of not
A o exceeding 30 to 45 days to its customers or does not grant its

customers with any credit period.

236 —=——4FiE  ANNUAL REPORT 2021



28. BEWIEK ~ Hib WA - #iff 28. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES,

1 2 .
W RET & (8) PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (continued)
Wt () Notes: (continued)
@) R B 5 T e i S 4 (45 (a) Trade and bills receivables (continued)
BT 045 Mok (B 40 M B ) > fe I BE The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills receivables (net of
2R IR S BB AT - provision for impairment) at the end of the reporting period:
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
0-30K 0-30 days 738,688 919,751
31-60K 31-60 days 235,526 168,711
61-90K 61-90 days 108,269 130,503
91-180 K~ 91-180 days 297,431 414,361
181-365K 181-365 days 485,830 428,759
HBid1F Over 1 year 467,927 459,481
2,333,671 2,521,566
MN-E-—F+=-F=+—08 ' HEHEKAT As at 31 December 2021, the gross carrying amount of trade and bills
ENENEZLRERZEETRABAARK receivables measured at amortised cost was RMB2,425,042,000
2,425042000t( — B2 T F: AR ¥ (2020: RMB2,611,627,000). As at 31 December 2021, the Group
2,611,627,000C)c R—_ZE=_—F+ = A4 estimated that the expected credit loss rate for trade and bills
=+—B  AEBGEFERERNERZESN receivables was minimal (2020: 0.1% to 0.5%).
BHEEHEBRENR(CE=ZF : N T01%
%£0.5%) °
AEEWRA UL S LRI A EAIERR ° A The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
TARWERRZRERENES : Movements in the provision for impairment for trade receivables are
as follows:
AR®T R ARMET T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
FHEE Balance at the beginning of the year 90,061 90,572
B 3 A% Exchange realignment (230) (555)
JEE R R Impairment losses, net 5,406 773
FE R Written off during the year (3,866) (729)
FI AL R Balance at the end of the year 91,371 90,061
(b) B EE £t R 2 FE A R IE (b) Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights
ZESBERRAEEETRARREEWER The amount represents the prepayments made by the Group for the
W B8+ b (5 FRRE T S A 2 FEAS FR0E - IRIRE A acquisition of land use rights in the PRC for property development for
K AREEE KIS L FEAEE - sale. The land use right certificates have not yet been obtained by the

Group at the end of the reporting period.
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28. EWIRK ~ Hib W RIE - i 28. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES,

X IH M ET 4 (7)) PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (continued)
Hiat - (&) Notes: (continued)
(0  HhEWARE () Other receivables
RESHBIEREREEYEXERE RIEE The amount mainly includes temporary payments paid for potential
HERS SN2 ERRIE - A RAFIER T property development projects and project-related deposits which
FERE - would be refundable upon completion of the development projects.
H b fEUr BRIE I E F i@ 2 HR - MARE R A There is no fixed repayment term for other receivables and the Group
ZEREWERR A B XM B —FAEENR considers that they are repayable on demand and will be recovered in
B e one year from the date of advance.
LT EEMEKREBR_Z-_—F+_H The following is an aging analysis of other receivables (net of
=+—HZERRS T (ENRRERE) ZZF provision for impairment) as at 31 December 2021 which are
FEWARIES AR AR BER(E considered not impaired:
AR®T R AR¥ETTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
—FR Within one year 11,210,735 10,981,852
BB —F Over one year 5,555,245 6,042,051
16,765,980 17,023,903
REZBZ—F+ZA=+—8 ' =#HERE As at 31 December 2021, the gross carrying amount of other
ENHEHMEKREEETAEBEAARE receivables measured at amortised cost was RMB17,058,068,000
17,058,068000L( — T =T F: AR ¥ (2020: RMB17,494,720,000). As at 31 December 2021, the Group
17,494,720,0007) s R=ZZT=Z—F+= A estimated that the expected credit loss rate for other receivables was
=t+—H  AEEGFEBRKRENTREE minimal (2020: 0.1% to 10%).
EEBXEMZT2ZF: N T01%=E
10%) °
AEBW AR SRIERA ERERR - AT The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
REAEWORTERE R 2 SIS - Movements in the provision for impairment for other receivables are
as follows:
2021 2020
AR¥T T ARBFIT
RMB'000 RMB’000
FHEEH Balance at the beginning of the year 470,817 420,741
[E 5= Exchange realignment (2,471) (3,986)
(B EURERR) RESEFE (Reversal of impairment losses)/Impairment
losses, net (60,970) 54,072
FAME Written off during the year (115,288) (10)
FREER Balance at the end of the year 292,088 470,817
d) FEARERITE (d)  Prepayments and deposits
ZEHTEAFEBREMN 2 IRES RTER The amount mainly includes deposits paid for bidding projects and
HER R HE S EFEEFIIE - prepayments of value added tax and other sales related taxes.
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29. HRIERE

29. CONTRACT ASSETS

2021 2020

AR¥T T ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BHEENRS Contract assets arising from:

) SN Ol 7N Costs to obtain contracts 867,161 634,021
B NG E(ER Construction and decoration services 680,283 755,864
1,547,444 1,389,885

NERIE) Impairment = (1,658)
1,547,444 1,388,227

R-ZTBE-_—F+-_A=+—H AHNEEME As at 31 December 2021, the contract assets were expected to

BATKEISRN3FNEE -
30. e e B VBE T e FBt i ik JE

be recovered or settled within 3 years.

30. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES/
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2021 2020

AR¥T T AREBTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
FERE NON-CURRENT
JEW A & ERIE Amounts due from joint ventures 7,328,399 11,198,863
JE U BS: 28R R) R TE Amounts due from associates 4,664,109 3,098,460
11,992,508 14,297,323
JE W S PR IR A 5 TR IR Amounts due from non-controlling
interests 4,787,416 6,216,637
RE CURRENT
FEU R AR AR A B R IE Amount due from the ultimate holding
company 1,925 324
JE W P AR A B 5RIE Amounts due from intermediate holding
companies 42,906 32,307
BB N EYNCIE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 1,135,083 1,091,039
JEUE SRR Amounts due from joint ventures 17,611,464 21,889,112
JFE LA Bt 2 N B FRIE Amounts due from associates 7,129,947 7,060,716
25,921,325 30,073,498
JEM FEH2E i e o R TE Amounts due from non-controlling
interests 14,801,388 10,654,057
57,502,637 61,241,515
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30.

31.
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}(@% : B8 Wi 5 e L i sk

R —EFER T _TF+_A=+—
H: EBUREESE BEAR RIEFERER
HIAZIERE B BERA LIEHEN —FE
Z*H %458 A R#10,622,473,000 7T (=
T _TF: AR¥8,522,661,0007T) BB
O8N REBIIRITIS A R B o

R FR_ZT-_FTF+-_A=1+—
CZE }EH&FWWHM\ﬂ FR R R A
EIRGES MM B BEQFKR
JEE HX*E&I&T/\IEUIL DEEIRENERES
kBB BN — ¢m Lt o BrapEE AR
17,090,415000c( ZE T F: AR
15,406,529,0007T) A% B0 BREEIZIRIT
MHF LTS ©

I

ARZZERRR - PEERRQR - FRHNE
DA BEDE  BERRRIEE HQEE“Z

ERSRWEERCESLBH -R_T—
FRIZBIEF+A=+—H  BERE
WA ERTER o

%I‘Eﬂﬂi&ﬁﬁ?ﬂ/fﬁéﬁiﬁﬁ%
?

ERBRITEFRAARKEE - TERETE
EAKEETHEMERERE L1 &

MIREERNES - UREBERTRITIERR

BEPRHEMEROER -
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30.

31.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES/
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the non-current portion of
the amounts due from joint ventures, associates and non-
controlling interests is unsecured and expected to be settled
after one year. Except for the aggregate amount of
RMB10,622,473,000 (2020: RMB8,522,661,000) which is
interest-free, the remaining amounts bear interest at prevailing
market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the current portion of the
amounts due from the ultimate holding company, intermediate
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates
and non-controlling interests is unsecured and repayable on
demand or expected to be settled within one year. Except for
the aggregate amount of RMB17,090,415,000 (2020:
RMB15,406,529,000) which is interest-free, the remaining
amounts bear interest at prevailing market interest rates.

There was no recent history of default and past due amounts
for loans to the ultimate holding company, intermediate holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and
non-controlling interests. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the loss allowance was assessed to be insignificant.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND
BANK BALANCES

Restricted bank deposits are denominated in RMB which mainly
represent funds designated for relocating existing residents on
the land of the Group’s certain property development projects
and deposits pledged to banks to secure the mortgage
guarantees provided to customers.



31. ZRRHISRAT R KB T SRAT &
17 (#8)

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H - B& KkiET
EEERBRBRBTERENENT0.03%E
327% (ZZE-FF : 0.20% £4.26%) 518
ZREBRTER EREEReRRESE
AE#106,772,788,000 L (T T4 : A
R 87,534,176,000 7T )

RZBE-—F+-A=+—8  Be&KE1T
HEERRIAENYEBENSRBARE
15,242,698000L( Z T =T F: ARK
8,494,991,0007T) » FTUNER B9 3£ 78 & FT 15
REDEREREEMENERES - B
BAMBTBARA  meEr A EL
BRBHEEARI N REMEERE MER
B  ZEERESCHBREEBYENTT
P ER R B o

ZRBRITERALIR S RBITEFZAT
BHEHE

31. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND
BANK BALANCES (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, cash and bank balances comprised
short-term bank deposits which carry interest at prevailing
deposit rates ranging from 0.03% to 3.27% (2020: 0.20% to
4.26%) per annum, which included cash and cash equivalents
of RMB106,772,788,000 (2020: RMB87,534,176,000).

As at 31 December 2021, cash and bank balances included the
regulated pre-sales proceeds of properties of RMB15,242,698,000
(2020: RMB8,494,991,000). The pre-sales proceeds of
properties received as the guarantee deposits for the
constructions of related properties. In accordance with the
applicable prevailing government regulation, the deposits can
only be used for payments of construction costs of related
property projects upon the approval of the local State-Owned
Land and Resource Bureau. Such guarantee deposits will be
released according to the completion stage of the related
properties.

The restricted bank deposits and cash and bank balances are
denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020

AR®T T ARETIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

ot HK$ 3,352,317 5,905,361
AREE RMB 105,122,516 82,950,404
= United States dollar ("US$") 54,897 415,474
B GBP 218,387 179,299
Hi Others 6 7
108,748,123 89,450,545

ARBHEEBRILIRBINE RAINEEHER
RehRTHEFELPE - B85 BEBA
AR 1 ) B BEINE TR Il AR Al SRR

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated cash and bank balances out of the PRC are subject
to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.
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32. MEAT Ik B At JE £5) R 32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020

AR®T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
FE BRI A 245 (5T a &2 b) Trade and bills payables (Notes a and b) 91,622,135 87,278,133
E b e BRIE (B o) Other payables (Note c) 40,070,655 30,620,688

131,692,790 117,898,821

Biat - Notes:
@ AT ABIRESR A RS REN R R E (@)  The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills payables at the
NERZRERDHT : end of the reporting period based on the invoice date:
2021 2020
ARBTT ARBFIT
RMB'000 RMB’000
0-30K 0-30 days 13,775,960 38,697,290
31-60K 31-60 days 9,880,454 4,944,992
61-90K 61-90 days 5,364,314 3,147,104
91-180 & 91-180 days 19,167,599 9,489,712
181-365K 181-365 days 26,116,162 12,573,024
HiE1F Over 1 year 17,317,646 18,426,011
91,622,135 87,278,133
by ENERRENERZFHEERZRERHA (b)  The average credit period of the trade and bills payables is determined
MIRREE - EERNF30RE1F - according to the terms stipulated in the contract, normally ranging
from 30 days to 1 year.
(0 ZESEFZRFHAMBEATNR - BRHRE () The amounts mainly include other taxes payable, temporary receipts

RIE - and accrued salaries.
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33. AR

BRREFHBET

33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

2021 2020

AR®TR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
Mm% P UE 2 B0 Advances received from customers:
PHEYE Sale of properties 210,040,117 228,457,239
B BEIRB R EAM Construction, decoration services and
others 2,678,956 4,127,728

212,719,073 232,584,967

BT - —FEEYELSREEER ([EE
T 1) #45 A R % 18,923,000,000 T ( = F =
T AFR#19,715,000,0007T )  JE 1%
ERRYEZEFEER AR E RER =S

RFHERR o

The value added taxes (“VAT") relating to pre-sale of properties
for year 2021 amounting to approximately RMB18,923,000,000
(2020: RMB19,715,000,000). VAT payable is recognised when
or as the control of the properties is transferred to customers
and revenue is recognised.
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34. WEATBHW 5 Ik e I W 25 K JH 34. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2021 2020

AR®TT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000
FERE NON-CURRENT

FEAS AR R AR R BI5RIE Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 17,632,641 6,733,100
e — R R B A FIFRIA Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 40,000 -
B & Z R Amounts due to joint ventures 3,214,649 -
JE{ST B N B FR I8 Amounts due to associates 807,400 -
21,694,690 6,733,100
BT TR RE RS Amounts due to non-controlling interests 11,686,927 2,823,148

RE CURRENT
JEA S AR A B 5RI8 Amount due to the ultimate holding

company 277 313

JFE e R A R FOB Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 23,814 2,954,713
A RIEE NS PNGIE ¢ Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 428,499 1,270,346
&% ﬁé%m Amounts due to joint ventures 17,743,515 11,580,417
FETESE = A BIRIE Amounts due to associates 7,732,149 5,654,752
25,928,254 21,460,541
e FEIE IR 2R TR Amounts due to non-controlling interests 9,187,825 5,311,492
68,497,696 36,328,281
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34, VEAT B T3k 5 I BE 45 5K JH

(%)

R_B-—FR=_FT_TF+_A=1+—
H BNERHEBAR  AEMRE - BEQ
A MGEE R E R IA B0 AEEA R
AREREZEIN —FANEE - REEAR
#520,175,879,000 L (ZZE —FF : AR
12,987,704,0007C) A% BN » SREARIRAT
MSFIEET S o

e

AT -—FE+-A=+—08  ERRRH
BAR  AEERBERARIBZIERE
o BEERRIEFR —FRES - HRERE
AR # 360,000,000 T A% BN - fAEBIZIR
TG EET B -

N-E - —FR T _TF+_F=1+—
B - FER IR RS TR IE 2 IR BN E D A E
IR FEHN —FRER  RBITHERX
E-I— /%\ ©

R-EBE-—F+-F=+—8  EfhmE
RABFIBE (R RIEREED) ETEHFA
HHREIERARBMESHNER  SBAARK
17,465,297,000 7 * AEHE K IRE L9
BEWIZRRITM BN EGTE RAERAEE o
RZE-TF+-_A=+—H - EffhREZE
RABIFIBZ B RIERBE D EERFA
HHREZERARBRESNERES - ©EAA
K %9,678,831,0007T * AEEHE KIRE 4
IRREE - WIRBITMHFAEGTE - BB A
®E o

RZE-_—FR_ZE_ZTF+_A=+—
B ENSARERARZUEAERA Ak
DREERES -

34. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(continued)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the current portion of the
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates
and non-controlling interests are unsecured and repayable on
demand or within one year. Except for the aggregate amount of
RMB20,175,879,000 (2020: RMB12,987,704,000) which is
interest-free, the remaining amounts are interest bearing at
prevailing market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2021, the non-current portion of the
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
are unsecured and expected to be settled after one year. Except
for the aggregate amount of RMB360,000,000 which is
interest-free, the remaining amounts are interest bearing at
prevailing market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the non-current portion of
the amounts due to non-controlling interests is unsecured and
expected to be settled after one year, which bear interest at
prevailing market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2021, the amounts due to intermediate
holding companies, both current and non-current portion,
mainly represented loan from intermediate holding companies
during the year amounting to RMB17,465,297,000, which are
unsecured, repayable according to contract terms and bear
interest at prevailing market rates, the remaining amounts are
interest-free. As at 31 December 2020, the current and non-
current portion of amounts due to intermediate holding
companies, mainly represented loan principal from an
intermediate holding company during the year amounting to
RMB9,678,831,000 which are unsecured, repayable according
to contract terms and bear interest at prevailing market rates,
the remaining amounts are interest-free.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the amounts due to

ultimate holding company are unsecured, repayable on demand
and interest-free.
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7 B HAt A B 35. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
2021 2020
ARET T AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITIEE Bank borrowings 115,314,258 110,437,175
HifEE Other borrowings 24,754,492 17,517,221
140,068,750 127,954,396
Vo Secured 27,568,676 22,999,736
Eidi Unsecured 112,500,074 104,954,660
140,068,750 127,954,396
RITREMEE 2B HBER The maturity of the bank and other
DT ¢ borrowings is analysed as follows:
—FRA Within 1 year 49,321,902 25,721,787
—ZE_F Between 1 and 2 years 41,116,384 30,451,550
—ERF Between 2 and 5 years 30,834,738 61,946,882
RELE Over 5 years 18,795,726 9,834,177
140,068,750 127,954,396
B REBBEFTR—FEREE  Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown
ZiA under current liabilities (49,321,902) (25,721,787)
IEmBBEM T —FEEH Amounts due after 1 year shown under
s e non-current liabilities 90,746,848 102,232,609

AEBEZRITREMEREATIEREEE -

following currencies:

The Group's bank and other borrowings are denominated in the

2021 2020

ARET T ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

i HK$ 33,271,872 19,332,413
/\ Rk RMB 101,465,638 103,674,835
i GBP 2,596,059 2,681,409
ETT us$ 2,735,181 2,265,739
140,068,750 127,954,396
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35. S4B H-fb A B (48) 35. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
AREBRITRAEMEENIEREIBEHY W Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
T as set out below:

BRERN =R

Effective interest
rate per annum

AR¥TR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
EEFEEE Fixed-rate borrowings
e uss$ 637,571 2,265,739
B HK$ 3,454,129 -
AR RMB 39,433,062 37,486,991
EEFEREELTE Total fixed-rate borrowings 4.12% (2020: 4.73%) 43,524,762 39,752,730
FEFIREE Variable-rate borrowings
T HK$ 29,817,743 19,332,413
AR RMB 62,032,576 66,187,844
R GBP 2,596,059 2,681,409
EW uss$ 2,097,610 -
FERREEREE Total variable-rate borrowings 3.36% (2020: 3.89%) 96,543,988 88,201,666
EEEE Total borrowings 140,068,750 127,954,396
RIE-ZTF+ 7 AEEBBIRFEE TR In October 2020, the Group issued a Commercial Mortgage
BEMERARISFEREBMENRR 2 EE Backed Securities (“CMBS”) amounting to RMB2.5 billion by
BHEN(ZEZ18F) BT BEAARK pledging certain investment properties and the right of receiving
BETHEMERRERTFEF((EE management fees for the future 18 years from the
WEEFERXFEER]) AEE&EKE corresponding properties for a maximum period of 18 years.
BITABREEIFER 2RI B LR The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority securities
% o FIEAE380% MEF3IFETE @ FEEET every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate is 3.80% and
FEL o is fixed each 3 years, interest is payable semiannually.
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35, 8RAT B H Al A5 & (%) 35. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

R-ZF-_—F=f AEEEEEFETR
BYWERAKRNERERDE RN ER
BNEN(EZ129) BTBE/ARE
MV RETEEBEEARERIFES - A5E
BERBBETRHRE=FBE 25 K2IH
BEERES - FIEB3.90% KEBE=FEE -
MEABFENT -

R-TB-_—F+A AEEZEEWETR
BYMERKRKISERARAYE WM 2 E R
BEMEN(EZ18F)  BT2BEAARK
ASBTRHEHERRER RS - AEH
AERBERTARES3IFEE 2 AZIH
BB EES o FER3.58% MF3FETE -
MBEGFEXM -

NRZEBE-_—F+-A=1+—8 " #r&E£EE
FAAREA49,177,584,000 T(ZE-FF ¢
AFR#¥39,261,185,0007T) ZSRITEEM S
EREBER DR G EREEERZ
ZERHARNEAREFERA G2 BITRA
TLRIE%(ZTE-FF : FDOR35%) ;
B pAEEZHBARMRITEEAR
801,249,000t ( ZE_EF: AR
521,815,0007T) M5 - IRBIEEE R HZE 2
&R A AR AR ZEERARNEAREHEE
B REEEZH B AR BITRAT DR
51%° A& B 2R TEE AR
27,992,560,000t( —E - F: AR
37,082,830,000 7T ) A AR AIHRHFER ©
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(continued)

In March 2021, the Group issued a CMBS amounting to RMB3
billion by pledging certain investment properties and the right
of receiving management fees for the future 12 years from the
corresponding properties for a maximum period of 12 years.
The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority securities
every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate is 3.90% and
is fixed each 3 years, interest is payable semiannually.

In October 2021, the Group issued a CMBS amounting to
RMB4.5 billion by pledging certain investment properties and
the right of receiving management fees for the future 18 years
from the corresponding properties for a maximum period of 18
years. The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority
securities every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate is
3.58% and is fixed each 3 years, interest is payable
semiannually.

As at 31 December 2021, in respect of bank borrowings of the
Group amounting to RMB49,177,584,000 (2020:
RMB39,261,185,000), CRH is required to hold not less than
35% (2020: not less than 35%) of the issued share capital of
the Company at any time during the period of the loans in
accordance with the terms of the respective loan agreements,
among which, in respect of bank borrowings of a Group'’s
subsidiary amounting to RMB801,249,000 (2020:
RMB521,815,000), the Company is required to hold, directly or
indirectly, not less than 51% of the issued share capital of the
subsidiary at any time during the period of the loans in
accordance with the terms of the respective loan agreements.
Bank borrowings of the Group amounting to
RMB27,992,560,000 (2020: RMB37,082,830,000) are
guaranteed by the Company.



36. B 36. SENIOR NOTES

BEAREER reEH REA= ik BITER FMEH
Principal Coupon Effective Maturity

Name of senior notes amount rate interest rate Issue year year

% % Year
2029 Senior Notes HK$3,500 million 6.100 6.106 2014 2029 15
—ENFEARE 3,500E8E T
2029 Senior Notes US$500 million 4.125 4.286 2019 2029 10
TECNEFERERE SEREES
2024 Senior Notes US$700 million 6.000 6.032 2014 2024 10
TECNEERRE 700BEET
2024 Senior Notes US$300 million 3.750 3.885 2019 2024 5
—E_MFERARE 3008EXETT
BT NOEETH_ZE_NFEERE Except for the 2029 Senior Notes issued in 2014, other senior
HN - BB R RN BB £ - notes are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
B BEREE BEEA - All senior notes are unsecured.
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36. B ER (M) 36. SENIOR NOTES (continued)
BEZENIBERSTWOT The maturity of the senior notes is analysed as follows:

2021 2020

AR®T T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000
—FR Within 1 year = -
—EMF Between 1 and 2 years - _
MERF Between 2 and 5 years 6,482,149 6,629,592
HE L Over 5 years 6,092,998 6,248,545
12,575,147 12,878,137
B RENBE R —EREIE  Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown
ZFRI8 under current liabilities - -
FERBBEMR—FEIEH Amounts due after 1 year shown under
pa | non-current liabilities 12,575,147 12,878,137
RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—H " BEEEZ The fair value of the senior notes as at 31 December 2021 was
NFEX S AR 13,489,000,000 T (=F approximately RMB13,489 million, (2020: RMB14,306 million),
—TF: AR%14,306,000,0007T) * J31& which was determined based on the closing market price as at
-+ _A=+—HzZWmEET " 31 December 2021, except for the HK$3,500 million senior
JfE 7 # 3,500,000,000 7T 2 B S B A F notes whose fair value was determined based on valuation
BERE-—E2BIREESERMLEMETH carried out by an independent and professionally qualified
HEEE ° valuer.
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rp ] S 37. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

FEZEE A e S EmAIR BRAI= BITEH B EH
Name of medium-term Principal Coupon Effective Issue Maturity
notes amount rate interest rate year year
ARETIT % % F
RMB’000 % % Year
2026 Medium-term Notes 1,500,000 3.70 3.74 2021 2026 5
TR RFREER
2026 Medium-term Notes 1,500,000 3.84 3.88 2021 2026 5
TR RFHREER
2025 Medium-term Notes 1,200,000 3.20 3.27 2020 2025 5
—E-RFREER
2025 Medium-term Notes 500,000 2.95 3.02 2020 2025 5
—E-RFREER
2024 Medium-term Notes 3,000,000 3.50 3.57 2021 2024 3
—E U
2024 Medium-term Notes 2,500,000 3.05 3.06 2021 2024 3
—E U
2024 Medium-term Notes 2,000,000 3.38 3.45 2021 2024 3
—E U
2024 Medium-term Notes 1,000,000 3.30 3.32 2021 2024 3
—E U R
2023 Medium-term Notes 3,500,000 523 5.30 2018 2023 5
R FREER
2023 Medium-term Notes 1,500,000 3.29 3.40 2021 2023 2
R FREER
2023 Medium-term Notes 1,500,000 2.42 2.53 2020 2023 3
R FREER
2023 Medium-term Notes 1,500,000 3.20 3.22 2020 2023 3
R FREER
2023 Medium-term Notes 800,000 2.65 2.76 2020 2023 3
R FREER
2022 Medium-term Notes 1,200,000 4.70 4.77 2017 2022 5
—EC _FRBER
2022 Medium-term Notes 1,000,000 3.65 3.76 2019 2022 3
—EC _FRBER
2022 Medium-term Notes 1,000,000 3.63 3.74 2019 2022 3
ZE- _FRBER
2022 Medium-term Notes 1,000,000 3.53 3.64 2019 2022 3
ZEC_FRBER
2022 Medium-term Notes 1,000,000 3.45 3.56 2019 2022 3
B _FHBEE
ZEEZBERFEBITEMISR S EHEZ0R The notes are either issued in the National Association of
YFEHRHFEELT © Financial Market Institutional Investors or Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.
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37. ISR (4) 37. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (continued)
FHIZBENHEBBERSTAT ¢ The maturity of the medium-term notes is analysed as follows:

2021 2020

AR®T T AREBTT

RMB’000 RMB'000
—FR Within 1 year 5,222,066 9,821,573
—EWF Between 1 and 2 years 8,926,252 5,216,206
MERF Between 2 and 5 years 13,182,636 9,114,663
27,330,954 24,152,442
B RENBE R —FEREIE  Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown
ZFA under current liabilities (5,222,066) (9,821,573)
EMB A G TR —F1& T H Amounts due after 1 year shown under
pa | non-current liabilities 22,108,888 14,330,869
RZE-_—F+_A=+—"HHHEEHRQ The fair value of the medium-term notes as at 31 December
FEL B AR 27,463,000,000C (== 2021 was approximately RMB27,463 million (2020: RMB23,780
ZTF . AR%23,780,000,0007T) ° JiiR IR million), which was determined based on the closing market
T —F+ - A=F+—HNKHEETE - price as at 31 December 2021.
38. AR 38. SHARE CAPITAL
R EHE K| )
Number of
shares Amount Amount
BT ARETT
HK$'000 RMB'000
SRAEEBE0.107T,2 LB Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
EE Authorised:
R-Z-_ZTF—F—H" At 1 January 2020,
ZECERER-TF 31 December 2020 and 2021
+-F=+—H 8,000,000,000 800,000
BRTRAR Issued and fully paid:
R-ZB-ZER-F-—4% At 31 December 2020 and 2021
+-FB=+—H 7,130,939,579 713,094 673,829
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39.

40.

K EARTH

R-ZFE—NF ARRIZ2ENBEARIEE
EWREERAR ([ETANET—EAE
% 5 A R ¥5,000,000,000 7T 27 KB EART
ﬂ °

RZZE—NF  NAR([BITAD BT
R4 4 %8 /4 1,050,000,000 35 7T 2 R oK 4B
BARTITH -

—hF ARRZ2EWMBAREER
EHIERERAR ((HITAD BT -ELAS

% A A R #5,000,000,000 7T Z KEE AT
E\_ o

BITAMEREEINNE - MA] FREX
S B0 IR BR IR I S AT TR 1 o 1tk T B A

BITABEED o

HRLETAEHRTAERRENASHK
EETHER N HEAD IR ERNEHE

T REERLETETAEROERNSNE
e BEENETENEEREIGRFER -

At - #ETUETAMBSRIBFESERK
ATE > WRAKEERDT 27 o RIFHK
RANMBREBEN SR RAUZTKEER
TERBA AMEHDIREIE ©

<_¥_7¢@ﬂ+/\5&_7_7£‘5/\ﬂ

—tNR- iﬁxf‘iﬁﬁﬂ&éﬁﬁﬁﬁ ANERE
WIERBRAFR D FIBREREERARE

5,000,000,000 mZRé?ﬁﬁﬁIﬂ o
MBEER SR

REBRYEBERIEZIBEERAEITIES
ER EREEAARE65,231,699,0007T
—T_FTF: AR¥62,984,860,0007T) °
ZEERBRBITRNEREHEEMAEE
HEREXRIZBERE(UREEBE)
B RAREERE  UHEREHNZAT

IERIZZNEpNE

39.

40.

PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENT

In 2018, FEHE MR EFR A7) (the “Issuers”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, issued a perpetual capital
instrument with a principal amount of RMB5,000,000,000.

In 2019, the Company (the “Issuers”) issued a subordinated
perpetual capital instrument with a principal amount of
US$1,050,000,000.

In 2019, EHEMERAFMRAF (the “Issuers”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, issued a perpetual capital
instrument with a principal amount of RMB5,000,000,000.

The Issuers may elect to defer interest payment, which is not
subject to any limit as to the number of times of interest
payment can be deferred. The instruments may be redeemed at
the option of the Issuers.

As the instruments only impose contractual obligations on the
issuers to repay principal or to pay any distribution under certain
circumstances, which are at the Issuers’ discretion, they have in
substance offered the Issuers an unconditional right to avoid
delivering cash or other financial assets to settle contractual
obligation. Therefore, the net proceeds from issuance of the
instruments are classified as an equity instrument presented in
the equity of the Group. The payment of the respective nominal
interests according to the terms are treated as distribution to
the owners of the perpetual capital instruments.

On 16 April 2020 and 28 June 2020, FEHE I EHR A A
and FEHE RGP A F] redeemed their perpetual capital
instruments with a principal amount of RMB5,000,000,000
respectively.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Guarantees amounting to RMB65,231,699,000 (2020:
RMB62,984,860,000) are given to banks with respect to
mortgaged loans procured by the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the
issuance of the real estate ownership certificates to the
purchasers or the satisfaction of the mortgaged loans by the
purchasers, whichever is earlier. In the opinion of directors of
the Company, the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts
is not significant.
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41. BEWHH G %

41. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES

2021 2020

AR¥ET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
B B g A Profit before taxation 60,365,758 60,172,049
FHEE Adjustments for:
% E R Finance costs 1,397,227 1,284,073
FE & a5 558 Exchange gain, net (788,499) (1,367,869)
MR IEE 2 MESE Write-down of properties for sale to net
A IR F(E realisable value 3,848,018 2,675,041
"EME L N FEE Gain on changes in fair value of
e investment properties (7,794,642) (8,884,264)
EHTEENRGEDE Loss on remeasurement of the previously
iz A iEm 2 B8 held interest in joint ventures = 12,309
RAFEFABRZERIEZ  Netgain on changes in fair value of
N EEBN R FEE financial instruments at FVPL (42,710) (59,888)
WRIEHEHNBARZ Net loss/(gain) on deemed disposal of
BiE (Was) 5 subsidiaries 13,644 (16,483)
HEREYETES 2 W Gain arising on disposal of
investment properties (30,475) (313)
MEWA Interest income (2,602,279) (2,170,181)
JEEREETEREZRE Share of profits of investments in
joint ventures (2,808,150) (1,899,799)
JEME R E R AR E 2 A H Share of profits of investments in associates (1,488,915) (1,099,806)
REHHEARERAEARRS Covid-19-related rent concessions
EEMESRE from lessors = (16,786)
mE - BELRREBIIFE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 884,768 669,859
EREEEZITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 416,659 242,514
B E R Amortisation of intangible assets 4,337 14,083
EHAtb Others (20,494) 29,557
51,354,247 49,584,096
HEESE Changes in working capital:
HEHE 2 N Increase in properties for sale (15,731,962) (21,314,140)
HEFEmd Decrease in other inventories 465,689 159,032
FEUER SN - EfhEURERIE - Increase in trade receivables,
BT FOE M ET &0 other receivables, prepayments and
deposits (4,926,299) (2,739,638)
5 HARE (F ZRIE 1 A Increase in long-term payables 14,899 111,379
BHEEE Increase in contract assets (159,217) (659,970)
EH8E CRY) g (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (19,865,894) 3,773,289
JE A AR N E A AT BRIE 3 0 Increase in trade and other payables 16,454,588 13,830,059
EEYFERS Cash generated from operating activities 27,606,051 42,744,107
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42. HEMHE AW
BE—_ZE-_—S+-A=1t—HLEE

REBE_Z_—F+_A=+—RHILFE "
ZNER B B PR R R L B 3 A PR A FIHY
51% R #E B AR VE &R E FTR R B E R 3
BERDFHS1%BHE - RREZSZHBR
AEGIEE AR BANEEREBESRN
T

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed
51% equity interest in Chengdu Jinxing China Resources Land
Co., Ltd. and deemed to dispose 51% equity interest in Xiamen
Runyun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. The amounts of
assets and liabilities derecognised at the date of loss of control
of the subsidiaries are as follows:

FEEREER AEEREE
BEHEN DRELER
BFEmRE FEMRE

Equity Equity
interest interest

held by the held by the
Group before Group after

disposal disposal
Month of or deemed or deemed
disposal disposal disposal Consideration
AREF T
RMB’000
EFTEMEEREBR AR —T-—%=R 100% 49% -
Xiamen Runyun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. March 2021
REHEEREMBR AR —E- 1A 100% 49% 53,539
Chengdu Jinxing China Resources Land Co., Ltd. December 2021
53,539
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42, W ERHE A E (4)
BE-_ZE-_—S4+-HA=1T—HLEE

(%)

42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(continued)

REERS
RIEFER
gt

Amounts

de-recognised
at the dates of

disposal
ARET T
RMB’000
EHERBREEFE Net identifiable assets disposed of:
Wz - BB KRB Property, plant and equipment 97
RIEFRIR & B Deferred taxation assets 6,939
WEWZE (W 16) Investment property (Note 16) 231,224
FEUCAR SR - Efh e U BRIE KR Ta I FkIE Trade receivables, other receivables
and prepayments 218,595
HIHEZWE Properties for sale 2,833,529
We RIRITHET Cash and bank balances 44,472
FETBRIN N B fih FESTBRTE Trade and other payables (3,177,396)
EEFIBAE Deferred taxation liabilities (18,357)
139,103
BURE Consideration received 53,539
REEBFTIFRE g 2 A FE Fair value of retained equity interests held by the Group
—HBEAR—HEEREIRER — classified as investment in a joint venture and
R—REBERRZEE investment in an associate 71,920
125,459
HENB AR 2 EREIRFE Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries (13,644)
HEEEZHEERMAFE Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
SR E Consideration received 53,539
BHEZRE MIRTHET Cash and bank balances disposed of (44,472)
9,067
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42, A RE 2 A ()

42.

BE_Z_ZF+_-_HA=1t—HILFE

REBEE-_E-_ZTE+_A=1+—HILEE "
AEEREANEHENB AR - RAEZ
EWNBARIEHEE R IEERNEERE

BB

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group deemed
to dispose several subsidiaries. The amounts of assets and
liabilities derecognised at the date of loss of control of these
subsidiaries are as follows:

KRS KRR

HE R HER

REE REE

HEA D FBEZHED RJHEIES

Equity interest Equity interest
held by the held by the
Group before Group after

LeEERERSE
BERAA]

PEEREIMEER
REBRAT

PEEREIMEER
BEBRAT]

PEeERMERME
BRAA]

Shanghai Huayan Real
Estate Development
Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Fuying Binjiang
Development and
Construction
Investment Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Fupu Binjiang
Development and
Construction
Investment Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Zhuozhi Real
Estate Development
Co., LTD.

Month of deemed deemed
disposal disposal disposal Consideration
ARBT T
RMB’'000
—ETF 50% 50% -
=HA
March 2020
—ETF 51% 51% -
+—A
November 2020
—ETF 51% 51% -
+—A
November 2020
TECTF 50% 50% -
+=A
December 2020
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42. BEMBAE () 42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BE-_S-ZEf+-H=+—HILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(4®) (Continued)

RHEERH
AR ERER
HEER

Amounts
de-recognised
at the dates of

disposal
ARBT T
RMB'000
EHERBREEFE Net identifiable assets disposed of:
Wz - BB KRB Property, plant and equipment 190
EETIBEE Deferred taxation assets 20,390
BEME (HE16) Investment property (Note 16) 1,173,671
HEsE Properties for sale 15,933,347
Eo e AR I8 K TR 3R IR Other receivables and prepayments 207,259
Re RIRTTET Cash and bank balances 28,105
FERTBR SR R Bt FE T BR IR Trade and other payables (4,201,432)
BIERIEAE Deferred taxation liabilities (22,863)
RITEE Bank borrowings (3,312,721)
9,825,946
IR S R P R R E B E 2Bl Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
identifiable net assets (4,718,071)
5,107,875
REEMFRERE 2 A TE Fair value of retained equity interest held by the Group
— DBEAREENEZRE — classified as investments in joint ventures 5,124,358
BIEHEHB AR 2 Wk F58 Net gain on deemed disposal of subsidiaries 16,483
RIEHEEE 2R MEFE - Net cash outflow arising on deemed disposal:
DHEZH S NMIRTTHETF Cash and bank balances disposed of (28,105)
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43. WKk B g 2 ] 43.

ZRWENBARNENEERAERS
BE_Z_ZH+-A=+—HILLEE
RNEBE-_Z-_FTE+-_A=+—RHILEE -
AEBBBKETIHNBARIKEEERE

& :

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2020

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group acquired
assets and liabilities through acquisition of following
subsidiaries:

AT Wi
AEEEE  ARERE
KA e R

Equity interest Equity interest
held by the held by the

Month of Group before Group after
acquisition acquisition acquisition  Consideration
ARBTT
RMB'000
ARETAERARRARENBAT —E-TE+A 51% 70.6% 231,200
Nanjing Weiyuanzhou Industrial Co., LTD. and its subsidiaries October 2020
BENBREXEREBRLF —Z-TFNA - 60% 1,501,778
Guangzhou Zhentong Industrial Development Co., LTD. September 2020
NEEEREHERAREELT e - 80% 652,683
Inner Mongolia Hongyihengli Trading Co., LTD. October 2020
2,385,661
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43, W i B g 2> vl (48 43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
FZERAWEBHEATNENEERAERE ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(&) THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
BE-S-sf8+-A=+—HILEE (#) For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

RIEE B H
BRNEHE

Amounts

recognised at
the dates of

acquisition
ARETTT
RMB'000
EUEEE AR A AR EEFE ¢ Net identifiable assets of the subsidiaries acquired:
W - BB MERE Property, plant and equipment 902,815
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 486,901
REYE (MsF16) Investment property (Note 16) 1,124,198
EEFIAE B Deferred taxation asset 1,027
HIEEZME Properties for sale 6,775,959
FEUBRFR  EAbFEUARIE - Trade receivables, other receivables, prepayments
TENFIERES and deposits 214,593
Re RIRTTHETT Cash and bank balances 37,965
JETBRFR N L Ath FE A~ BRTE Trade and other payables (6,165,520)
RITEE Bank borrowings (12,553)
3,365,385
eI Non-controlling interests (473,128)
2,892,257
BEEERE - E N ARL Consideration transferred, satisfied by:
“ECEFENZERNEE Capital contribution paid in 2020 2,320,393
FERRE Consideration payable 65,268
BB HEE T2 2 BEFE R E Fair value of previously held equity interests re-
ZNFE measured at the date of acquisition 518,905
EIEEBRRINE S REMHEER Loss on re-measurement of the previously held
B interests in joint ventures (12,309)
2,892,257
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44. &I 44. COMMITMENTS

REBERIATEARE  HEE 4R The Group has the following material commitments, which are
RER B BTSSR NG - contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial

statements as follows:

2021 2020

ARBTT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000
BREANTIEE 2EARFAX Capital expenditure in respect of:
— BRI EYE — Properties under development for sale 71,763,088 104,756,017
— ERIREYE — Investment properties
under construction 17,658,920 15,186,561
89,422,008 119,942,578
45. BEEMW 45. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
RIS - AE B [A15R1T R H 0 & RIS At the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged the
WRTATEE  (EANEBEE R following assets to banks and other financial institution as
REMENE TR securities against general banking and other facilities granted to
the Group:

2021 2020

ARBT ARBETT

RMB'000 RMB’'000

KEWE Investment properties 78,235,059 59,624,910
e eE 2 Properties for sale 16,924,302 14,978,592
ME - BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 1,619,869 2,167,967
FEREEE Right-of-use assets 2,130,872 263,731
98,910,102 77,035,200
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46. K HRLE G B) 2 Az HIR 46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
TRFMINSAEEBRERMETHZEBEZ The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
SHE)(DEHESNIIEBRESES) - KERMEE from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
HrAEAHEReRERNIAKRESREN changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
RAEEZGERERERND B ARMER which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
FSIRERE ° the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

from financing activities.

EAFIE
ROVE  BAER  BOTE  BABR (BHIARA
itARE  WEQR  BRAF BRAY EEEER fRE  EfRE TR R
ZERAE bt R RE O OBERE  F5 AR HRAM & ; %2

Interest

Amounts Amountdue  Amounts payable

Amounts due to tothe due to included in

Finandial dueto intermediate  ultimate non-  Amounts  Amounts Bank and trade and
liability at fellow  holding  holding controlling due to joint due to Lease other Senior  Medium- other  Dividend
FVPL subsidiaries companies  company interests  ventures associates liabilities borrowings notes termnotes  payables)  payable

AEMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMT: ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR
RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMBOOD  RVBOO0  RMBO000  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB000  RMBOOD  RMBO0O  RMB000  RMBOOO  RMB000  RMB00D

2--%-f-H At 1 January 2021 15789 1270346 9,687,813 313 8134640 11580417 5654752 5444307 12795439 12878137 24152442 333497 - 207,106,849

- éva@'é EFEFUES AR — Proceeds from or repayment of

financial liabilities - (775325 8230623 (36) 12,740,112 9,346,408 2,807,034  (533,186) 12,721,706 - 3,500,000 - - 48,037,336
— BARERA — Finance costs paid - (705102 (472122) - (536,746)  (105932)  (335534) - - (656791)  (695,150) (4,945,164) - (8,150,541)
—BfRkE — Dividend paid - - - - (1915339) - - - - - - - (8,905,140) (10,820479)
BERERE Financing cash flows - (1480427) 7,758,501 (36) 10288027 9240476 2773500  (533,186) 12,721,706  (656,791) 2,804,850 (4,945164) (8,905,140) 29,066,316
BERRE Dividend declred - - - - 1915339 - - - - - - - 8905140 10820479
bty New leases - - - - - - - 6334 - - - - - 6333
SR Foreign exchange translation @59  (7,014)  (276,671) - - (565) - - (607,352) (305558 - (284,959) - (1,502,578)
BEER Finance charge - 705594 486812 - 536746 137,836 111297 267,677 - 059359 373662 5230697 - 8,509,680
DFEER Fair value adjustments (11,820) - - - - - - - - - - - - (11820
RZEZ—E+ZA=F-8 At31 December 2021 3510 468,499 17,656,455 211 20874752 20958164 8539549  5802,132 140,068,750 12575147 27330954 33407 - 254,612,260

EfiRE

Interest

Amounts  Amountdue  Amounts payable

Amounts dueto tothe dueto (included in

financial dueto intermediate ultimate non-  Amounts  Amounts Bank and trade and
liabilties at fellow holding holding  controlling ~ due to joint dueto Lease other Senior ~ Medium- other  Dividend
FVPL  subsidiaries  companies  company interests  ventures  associates liabilities  borrowings notes termnotes  payables) payable

ARBTT ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR
RMBOOO  RMB00D  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBODD  RMBOOD  RMBODO  RMB000  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO0D  RMBOOO

ZF-F-A At 1 January 2020 250,358 1,343,003 899,891 230 10043745 47148000 3183451 3391497 98270227 13743971 22,530,399 337,849 - 158,142,621
BFTEHUERER  — Proceeds from or repayment of

financial liabiiies (239638) (2,676,657 8790373 83 (1,198271) 7443433 2446051  (393,162) 34,272,964 - 1,700,000 - - 50,185,176
— Finance costs paid - (125301) (69,867) - (49377) (60,939) (45,579) - - (704277) (1,010,649) (4901,717) - (1.414,706)
Eﬁ — Dividend paid - - - - (1304422 - - - - - - - (7759421) (9,063,843
Financing cash flows (239,638) (2,801,958) 8,720,506 83 (2999070) 7,382,494 2400472 (353162 34272964  (704277) 689351 (4,901,717) (7,759.421) 33,706,627
Dividend declared - - - - 191241 - - - - - - - 7759421 9,671,842
New Leases - - - - - - - 2,209,726 - - - - - 2,209,726
XEM/\E‘JMW 7% Covid-19-elated rent concessions

ik from lessors - - - - - - - (16786) - - - - - (16786)
HEES Foreign exchange translation (3,360) - - - - - - - (1288627)  (872818) - (321,660) - (2,486,465)
SBER Finance charge - 125,301 67,416 - 496,377 49923 70,829 213,032 - 711,261 932692 5219,025 - 78858%

RUEHBATEN Increase arising from acquisition
of subsidiaries - - - - 65,68 - - - 12,553 - - - - 77821

RENBATRD Decrease arising from disposal

of subsidiaries - - - - (1,384,101) - - - 331272 - - - - (469,822)

WETLRMESIEERE  Consideration for acquisition of
entities under common control - 2,604,000 - - - - - - - - - - - 2,604,000
ATERR Fair value adjustments 8429 - - - - - - - - - - - - 8,429
RZZZFF+-B=1—H At31December 2020 15,789 1270346 9,687,813 313 8134640 11,580,417 5,654,752 5444307 127,9543% 12,878,137 24,152,442 333497 - 207,106,849
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47. BENLZZ S 47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(A) EFEZEBERANEXE(H (A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL
EFEEDNERRS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")
UTAAEBRRFRNEIT 2 EANBE The following is a summary of the significant related party
ATRIHE : transactions entered into by the Group during the year:

AR® T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
(i) ZREUTATHHESK (i)  Rental and management fee income
BEEBRA from:
EE I YNC] Fellow subsidiaries 509,633 466,230
A AR A A Intermediate holding companies 41 96
x4 \T /NS Ultimate holding company 10,070 10,132
/JE%&E? N Joint ventures and associates 143,292 47,920
663,036 524,378
AR® T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
(i) ZREUTALHRE. (i)  Construction, decoration services and
FAERRTE S EAA ¢ other income from:
EE VNG Fellow subsidiaries 949,200 1,346,012
AR A ) Intermediate holding companies 85,986 14,634
S /NG Ultimate holding company 11,705 2,140
e Joint ventures 940,546 903,333
kNS Associates 527,653 151,247
2,515,090 2,417,366
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47. WAL 5 ()

(A) EPEEFRANELR(HEH
FHEE)NEAXRS (H)

(i) REBEFRTROBRLA
(TEEERT ) RERREARET
BFRAFATEBERD (F&H
EIRKME L R) 2B S EH =R

RZFE=——F+=-A=+—8"
Re MRTEFTREAERNE
B R T FERARE
2,803,967,000 L (= — = & :
ANE#2 494,945,000 ) ° Fitt
TFRIRBRITIE XA RN T F %
03%£E3.00% (=% = & F:
03% £4.26%)5E - REZEZ
T+ -_A=+—HBItHF
g ZETEREEZFBWRAL
%A AR 25982,000( ==
—ZF : AR¥26,412,0007T) °

K\\:g:_fﬁ& 7—755'5—1——
A=+—H  "&EEHEEEXR
A -

(iv) PEIEBEERAFESFE

HE_Z-_—F+-HA=+—H
IHFE  AEERTHEHER
EAARK38,601,388,0007T (=

T - T F: A R K
22,387,557,0007T ) © FF X A&
0.86% £3.92% _7_?¢

0.90% % 3.33%) & =& —
:—¢+:HE+—E¢¢§%
B 1 B 2 B & B A0 {5 SR EE A Y T
E B RH BB AEANRE
503,818, OOOﬁ(:;fi”ﬁ A
R #25,401,0007T ) X = &
——f+zZA=+— EIJ?EHEPI
EHEEMNSEARARKE
17,465,297,000 L (Z T =Z4F :
AR #9,686,205,000 7T ) °
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47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")
(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Strategic cooperation agreement with Zhuhai
China Resources Bank Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”) and
China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR
Trust”), fellow subsidiaries of the Group

As at 31 December 2021, cash and bank balances
include deposits of RMB2,803,967,000 (2020:
RMB2,494,945,000), made by the Group to CR
Bank. The said deposits carry interest at prevailing
deposit rates which range from 0.3% to 3.00%
(2020: 0.3% to 4.26%) per annum. The aggregate
interest income arising from such deposits
amounted to RMB25,982,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB26,412,000).

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, no borrowings
of the Group had been raised from CR Trust.

Intra-group lending with CRCL Group

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group borrowed RMB38,601,388,000 (2020:
RMB22,387,557,000) from CRCL Group with
interest rates ranging from 0.86% to 3.92% per
annum (2020: 0.90% to 3.33%). The aggregate
interest expenses arising from these borrowings
from the CRCL Group were RMB503,818,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
RMB25,401,000). The amounts due to the CRCL
Group as at 31 December 2021 was
RMB17,465,297,000 (2020: RMB9,686,205,000).



47. B AN L5 (#)

(B)

(9

METEEEERBE QTRMAM
FRAEBEZER

R-E-——®F+-_A=+—H K&
BoRlmAEEE TAEEERBE
RRAZEERFESREER  BERE
2 Bl A& AR #13,355,000,000 70 (=&
—ZTHF : AR 12,272,000,0007T) &
AR 2 477,000,000 T(Z B -84 :
A R #1,760,000,000 7% ) * Jh 1R 4% A
SERGECERBE QR ZREL
Bl ER ©

MHBERANREBEREESHERER
MNRERCBERCERBART TR
MERREE - NEEFGHEE
RZNRFER R FENRRFAFEHE
EEEBRESRYTEX -

TEEBABZHE

RARATESEAKEHEMERE
BABRFRZFHMAOT

47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(B)

(o)

PROVISION OF GUARANTEES TO CERTAIN
JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES RELATED
TO THEIR BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group provided guarantees
of RMB13,355 million (2020: RMB12,272 million) and
RMB2,477 million (2020: RMB 1,760 million) to certain
joint ventures and associates of the Group related to their
borrowings, respectively, based on the Group’s proportion
of equity interests in the joint ventures and associates.

Financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher
of the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised
less the cumulative amount of income recognised. The
Group assessed that the fair value at initial recognition of
the financial guarantees and the ECL allowance during the
year were not significant.

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL

The remuneration of executive directors of the Company
and other members of the key management of the Group
during the year is as follows:

2021 2020

ARET T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB'000

REEBRA Short-term employee benefits 65,628 43,198
BERR 2 R Post-employment benefits 1,388 876
67,016 44,074
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B EX(A) K (B)EIEEESD - AEE TR
HEHMBFHBERETATNER -
ARPEEFRREZFZRNEBER
ETRS BREFRAFRZE LR
BB GRIETT - ARETFE HIER
HEBHEER > MRFBRRL N EHER
SHFHTREBRFEAERE -

()  AREBBRIRAZFHRAH
SR (BRETERER) WE
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EERA ERFBNERERET
MEBRZEARNEEMSALNEK -
KB 1 3 i PR #2548 BT #B P o
BERESIERAELIERAREERS
TyEIRTT R & BB ET L - & B 2%
ERXGZEE  ARBEERRAE
BEZEFRFERERBIIZHRE L

— T - —FF#RE  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(D) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER

GOVERNMENT-RELATED ENTITIES IN THE PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities directly or indirectly owned or
controlled by the PRC government (“government-related
entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part of a larger
group of companies under CRCL which is controlled by
the PRC government.

Apart from the disclosures in (A) and (B) above, the Group
also conducts the following business with other
government-related entities. The directors of the Company
consider that the transactions with these government-
related entities are within normal business operations and
are carried out on market terms. The Group has developed
transaction pricing policies and these policies do not
depend on whether or not the counterparties are
government-related entities.

(i)  The Group has acquired land use rights through
tendering to those government departments or
agencies, which are government-related entities;

(i) The Group has entered into various deposits and
lending transactions with banks and financial
institutions, which are government-related entities;
and

(iii)  The Group has sale and purchase transactions with
customers and suppliers, in which the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that it is
impracticable to ascertain the identity of the
counterparties and, accordingly, whether the
transactions are with government-related entities.

Other than those disclosed in section (i) and (ii) above, the
directors of the Company consider that the other
transactions with those government-related entities are
not material to the Group. Majority of the land use rights
were tendered through government departments or
agencies and majority of the deposits and lending
transactions were entered with banks and financial
institutions. In view of the nature of these transactions,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that
guantitative information on the extent of transactions
between the Group and the government related entities
would not be meaningful.



48. FRJE 2 W] ~ A 8 A S B 4 W

(A) ATRR-ZZE=-—FR-_ZT_ZF
TA=+—BHEEMBRRS

48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES
(A) The following are particulars of the principal subsidiaries
at 31 December 2021 and 2020 which, in the opinion of

MAATEEREBZENBA TIE the directors of the Company, principally affected the
TERKEENEE  BENABE results, assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of
ERE REEMHFEAR TE’J‘?I = other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
BHERHRRITR o result in particulars of excessive length.
“+=A=+—AH
BREAIRE/  BAREREZERIRAZ
- pNGIEL BYRAZEE EfEL FEXH
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital/ issued share capital held by the
Name of subsidiary paid-up capital Group as at 31 December Principal activities

2021 2020

REEHBERMERZERAT
(Fff3E1) (Note i)

EHREAM DA (FFD) (Note i)

)LF

EENE(EMBEERD
(HEED) (Note i)

EREHN(AR)ERARLE
(HEED) (Note i)

BEH(LR)BERAT
(MT i) (Note i)

EREH ORI BRDE]
(Ff#Eii) (Note i)

EZHEW(KR)BRATF
(HEED) (Note i)

B ORI BRAA (HEE ) (Note ii)

AR#230,000,0007T 100% 100% WE%EE
RMB230,000,000 Property development
AR#1,200,000,0007T 100% 100% @E%
RMB1,200,000,000 Construction
AR #687,056,0007C 65% 65% MEERE
RMB687,056,000 Property development
AR #30,000,0007C 100% 100% WMEREREE
RMB30,000,000 Property investment and
development
AR®2,000,000,0007T 98% 9% MEKRENER
RMB2,000,000,000 Property investment and
development
#13,000,000,0007T 100% 100% WERERERE
HK$3,000,000,000 Property investment and
development
AR100,000,0007C 100% 100% WFERERER
RMB100,000,000 Property investment and
development
#%500,000,0007T 100% 100% WFERENRER
HK$500,000,000 Property investment and
development

EHEMER AR
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48. FHE o W]~ AR K B A
(%)
(A) (&)
- PNGE
Name of subsidiary

&

ASSOCIATES (continued)
(A) (continued)

BEIRE/
BYRAZEE
Nominal value of

issued share capital/
paid-up capital

®+=R=1+—H
HASERE 2B ETREZ
EfELA
Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital held by the
Group as at 31 December

48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

TREH

Principal activities

2021 2020

EREAMEERRERLT
(PR ZET) (Note i)

EFFHENERAB AR

(F5ED) (Note i)

EHECEB) BRAA
(FfH5E i) (Note i)

EHEN(ER)BRAF
(F5ED) (Note i)
BHEREHN-HEXER LT

(F5ED) (Note i)

EBEN () BEFRAF
(FfFsE i) (Note i)

REBEHENBERIHEEBAA
(PR ZET) (Note i)

REEHEHEMNEEEERAF
(F5ED) (Note i)

LTRARRBHEEEEERAA
(F5E1) (Note i)

ARBERHEREER AT
(F5ED) (Note i)

268

AR1,650,000,0007T
RMB1,650,000,000

A100,000,0007T

RMB100,000,000

225,000,000% 7T
US$225,000,000

AE#100,000,0007T
RMB100,000,000
AEH3,376,160,2577C

RMB3,376,160,257

756,000,000/ 7T
HK$756,000,000

AFK#1,380,000,0007T
RMB1,380,000,000

AE#2,400,000,0007T
RMB2,400,000,000

AE#2,600,000,0007T
RMB2,600,000,000

AE#1,310,000,0007C
RMB1,310,000,000
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100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
60% 60%
100% 100%
100% 100%
60% 60%
59% 59%
98% 98%

NEER

Property development

NERERER
Property investment and
development

NERELER
Property investment and
development

NEER

Property development

NERELER
Property investment and
development

NERERER
Property investment and
development

WERERER
Property investment and
development

NEER

Property development

NEER

Property development

NEER

Property development



48. B AW - AEAEEE S AT 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
(%) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(A) (#&) (A) (continued)
®+=R=1+—H
BEIRA/  BAKEREZEEIREZ
P 2 °a 7 EYiRAZEE EESH TEXK
Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital/ issued share capital held by the
Name of subsidiary paid-up capital Group as at 31 December Principal activities

2021 2020

EHEHM(LE)ERARADF
(FFEED) (Note i)

ALRRAERERERAF
(F5E1) (Note i)

EEMEEBEMHEERAR
(F5E1) (Note i)

R EREHEER AR
(MEED) (Note i)

EGEREHEREERAR
(MEED) (Note i)

WMEREMERAA

(MEED) (Note i)

ELEERHERERRAR
(F5E1) (Note i)

BINRERHEREFRAR
(HEED) (Note i)

BNHERMERBER AR
(B%E1) (Note i)

B

B R ERE R AR
(MEED) (Note i)

AR#8,757,809,9717C 100% 100% MELE
RMB8,757,809,971 Property development
AKE1,000,000,0007T 70% 70% SULEE
RMB1,000,000,000 Cultural development
AK#100,000,0007T 55% 55% MERERER
RMB100,000,000 Property investment and
development
AR800,000,0007T 100% 100% MEER
RMB800,000,000 Property development
AR#800,000,0007T 100% 100% MELE
RMB800,000,000 Property development
AR#600,000,0007T 100% 100% MERENEE
RMB600,000,000 Property investment and
development
AK#2,196,078,4317T 51% 51% MERERER
RMB2,196,078,431 Property investment and
development
AK#700,000,0007T 100% 100% MEERE
RMB700,000,000 Property development
AR®400,000,0007T 100% 100% MEERE
RMB400,000,000 Property development
AR™3,240,000,0007T 100% 100% #EERE
RMB3,240,000,000 Property development
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48. B AW - AE A ZEEE S A F 48, SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
(%) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(A) (#&) (A) (continued)
W+=A=+—A
BEARE/  BAEESEZERIRAZ
HBARETE BpRAZEE B TELH

270

Nominal value of Proportion of nominal value of
issued share capital/ issued share capital held by the

Name of subsidiary paid-up capital Group as at 31 December Principal activities
2021 2020

EREERHEREERAT AR H#450,000,0007T 89% 89% WMERERER

(F3E1) (Note i) RMB450,000,000 Property investment and

development

MHEBEEERERAR AR H1,300,000,0007 50% 50% MEERE

(P%Ei i) (Notes i and iii) RMB1,300,000,000 Property development
HERERHEREERAA AE#600,000,0007 100% 100% MEEE

(F35Ei) (Note i) RMB600,000,000 Property development

et Notes:

(i) ZHB AT T —RI A B R & 2 (i) The subsidiary is a domestic enterprise established and
NEMREE - operating in the PRC.

(i) ZMBRR—RNRFBMKLREE 2 (i) The subsidiary is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise established
SN E (R o and operating in the PRC.

(i) MBEZXBENEASEE  KNEBHEAZ (i) According to the entity’s articles of association, the Group
BERS1%HNRRGFTORE - NEEH possesses 51% voting rights of the entity’s shareholders’
BRHTEBRRERBEEBRESD - meeting. The Group has a sufficiently dominant voting interest
HWAREBIIEHZER  WiEHRREA to direct its relevant activities. Therefore, the Group has control
REEH—FEREAAE - over the entity and classified it as a subsidiary of the Group.
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48. B AW ~ B AEEE S AT 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
(%) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(B) BEEARFEZEREZNIZENW (B) DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
BARINEE SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TRINRAEEERERNFFERERS The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
HIZE2 BB AR FHE subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:
FAER  HERERRECERTLR DT IR
GENSEA ZEME A/ B 2 e LAl EmET 2atEEER
Place of Proportion of ownership of
incorporation issued ordinary share capital/
and principal paid-up capital held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
% % AR¥Tr ARETT AR®Tr @ AR%TR
% % RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ESREBRAT KERAHS
(MEsRE]) BVI
Best Scene Investments Limited
("Best Scene”) 45 45 502,076 312,297 3,743,259 3,243,314
EESEREERY F 50 50 64,140 162,953 2,458,461 2,584,322
BRERA[E3EE])  PRC
REARAT ([4E]) KBRNES 40 40 315,222 550,650 3,201,017 2,998,214
Brilliant Palace Investment BVI
Limited ("Brilliant Palace”)
BRFEREENENEER
EAT
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests 4,112,711 3,033,846 56,143,967 43,958,200
4,994,149 4,059,746 65,546,704 52,784,050
EHEMARAT  China Resources Land Limited 271
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48. B AT - A B EPES AR 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES (continued)

(B) DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

(%)

(B) BEEARFERERZNFEZER

B2 RS (&)

BRAAEEHEAEARSFE R ER AN
BRBNMBEERMBEHIIMT - A
THHERBEZREEA QR REEHE
R E 2 o

Summarised financial information in respect of subsidiaries
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

EHRE B e
Best Scene Brilliant Palace
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
ARBTT ARETT AR¥Tn ARETR AR%Tn ARETn
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
FRBEE Non-current assets 8,624,672 7,089,866 246,614 243,078 9,265,007 9,363,064
REAE Current assets 2,271,186 3,170,462 5,682,915 5,759,799 1,213,905 964,850
TEAE Current liabilities (1,049,425)  (1,514,831)  (1,012,607) (834,233) (731,538)  (1,175,619)
EiE = Non-current liabilities (1,528,080)  (1,538,134) = - (1,744832)  (1,656,761)
RARER NEGER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 4,575,094 3,964,049 2,458,461 2,584,322 4,801,525 4,497 320
FERER Non-controlling interests 3743259 3243314 2458461 2,584,322 3201017 2998214
WS Revenue 830,195 779,143 115,668 3,040,960 1,343,282 1,044,998
YN 2PN ey il Profit attributable to owners
of the Company 613,648 381,697 64,140 162,953 472,832 825,976
FERERES T Profit attributable to
non-controlling interests 502,076 312,297 64,140 162,953 315,222 550,650
FREF Profit for the year 1,115,724 693,994 128,280 325,906 788,054 1,376,626
RATIER AEIE2EWEEE  Total comprehensive income
attributable to owners
of the Company 613,114 381,729 64,140 162,953 468,400 762,568
R EE 2 EMRELE  Total comprehensive income
attributable to non-controlling
interests 501,638 312,324 64,140 162,953 312,266 508,378
FRRENRDE Total comprehensive income
for the year 1,114,752 694,053 128,280 325,906 780,666 1,270,946
LETE(FE)/HEREFE  Netcash (used in)generated from
operating activities (614,329) 444,342 (192,290) 899,067 (96,478) 654,206
RETDME/(FE)EEEE  Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities 355,129 (426,502) 101,547 (516,594) (50,745) 1,187,566
BEEY(FA)/MERSFE  Net cash (used in)igenerated
from financing activities (344,147) (153,178) 99,820  (1,042,687) - (2,071,045
e (hd)/ mAESE Net cash (outflow)/inflow (603,347) (135,338) 9,077 (660,214) (147,223) (229,273)
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48. B AW ~ B AEEE S AT 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

(%) ASSOCIATES (continued)

(O TRIIFAEEHEERE  MAA (C) The table below lists the joint ventures of the Group
REERAREEELETEVESR which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
NEENIEAREBEEEFERNEAD principally affected the results of the year or form a
Do ARTRNEERABREEMEED substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
KA BEEERERBRITE details of other joint ventures would, in the opinion of the

directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

R+=A=+—HAX&EH
BEREANE ERBEGER FEXEK
Attributable interest
indirectly held by the Group

Name of joint venture as at 31 December Principal activities
2021 2020
FEBREERARAA 50% 50% WIEKREREERE
(MF5E1) (Note i) Property investment

and development

FREEEMEREERAT 50% 50% WIEKRERER
(MI3EiD) (Note ii) Property investment

and development

EEEEERAF 50% 50% REZER

(B &E i) (Note iii) Investment holding
MREEREMEREEGRAR 50% 50% pEERE

(FHEEii) (Note ii) Property development
R EEEXBRAR 50% 50% MEERE

(FF&E i) (Note i) Property development
EEERBETIREERIEEFRAR 51% 51% KRB RER

(FF5Eii K2 v) (Notes i and v) Property investment

and development

e EAREHEREERAF 40% 40% PMERERER
(P 5Eii B v) (Notes ii and v) Property investment

and development

RN EEMERBE AR AR 50% 50% WIEER

(FF5E i) (Note ii) Property development
EFEHERER AR 50% 50% WEIER

(P EiD) (Note ii) Property development
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48. B AW - A B ZEEE S A F 48, SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
(%) ASSOCIATES (continued)

(Q (&) (©) (continued)
RT+—A=1+—HX%EEMH
EEDERN BEAREGER FEER

Attributable interest
indirectly held by the Group
Name of joint venture as at 31 December Principal activities

2021 2020

274

IERBRMEEXER AR 33% 33% WMEER

(FtsEii & v) (Notes ii and v)

Property development

FEESRMERBERER AR 50% 50% WEERE

(FF5Eii) (Note ii) Property development
FRUEB (LR BEEARAT 49% 49%  MIRER

(MF5Eii K2 v) (Notes i and v) Property development
MM KA =R EBR QA 51% 51% RS

(MF=Eii &2 v) (Notes i and v) Business services
B BRELERAT 50% 50% MEHE

(FF3Eii) (Note i) Property development
BEPEEEEXRERARAA 36% 36% MEHR

(Mf7¥i K v) (Notes i and v) Property development
ERPBEXREREMERAA 51% 51% WYI¥#ERE

(MS7Eii &2 v) (Notes ii and v) Property development
FITE RS BEEERA R 30% - WIEEE

(FtsEii ~ iv K v) (Notes ii, iv and v)

Property development
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48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)
(©) (continued)

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

=B AR /AT China Resources Land Limited

The joint venture is a sino-foreign equity joint venture
established and operating in the PRC.

The joint venture is a domestic enterprise established and
operating in the PRC.

The joint venture is incorporated and operates in Hong Kong.

The joint venture is established/acquired in the current financial
year.

The entity is accounted for as a joint venture as at the end of
the year as the Group has contractually agreed the sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

275



% B S 5 A B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

48. B 23 W) ~ B A SR BB R 2 )
(##)
(D) TRIFALEHHEAT  MAR
AEERARSHEARTEVES
PR (A S 8 BT O A
% AATEEBRREAMHE A
Az H#EEERARBRITE -

e YNCIEY

Name of associate

48.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES (continued)

(D) The table below lists the associates of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results of the year or form a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

R+ A=+—AFREEH
ERARhER FEEK
Attributable interest
indirectly held by the Group
as at 31 December Principal activities

2021 2020

FBELEREEERZEGR AT
(FFFED (Note i)

NS R E EBR A A
(FF5ED) (Note i)

BEHEEEREAR AR
(FF5ED) (Note i)

It REBARNEERAF
(F5ED) (Note i)

MREHXEEBRAF
(FF5E1) (Note i)

FITEIBAXEEER AR
(FF5ED) (Note i)

SBINERAE R B EREAR A
(FFFED (Note i)

TN A H EE R 2 B BR A 7
(Fft3Ei K i) (Notes i and iii)

TR EE M ERZE AR AR
(F¥3E1) (Note i)
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50% 50% WEER
Property development

45% 45% MERENER
Property investment
and development

50% 50% WIEERE
Property development

27% 27% MERERERE
Property investment
and management

28% 28% WFEER
Property development

25% 25% WIFEERE
Property development

50% 50% WEERE
Property development

18% 18% MR

Property development

49% 49% WEBR
Property development



48. B AT - A B ¥ EPES A\ 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
(%) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(D) (#&) (D) (continued)

R+=A=+—HAX&EH
YNGR ERBEGER FEXB
Attributable interest
indirectly held by the Group

Name of associate as at 31 December Principal activities
M EEEMERR AR 50% 50% WIEER

(MF5E1) (Note i) Property development
TNEREMERZEFR AR 34% 34% MEER

(Ff5ED) (Note i) Property development
HMNWAEEBEAR QA 33% 33% YEKRERER

(FF5ET) (Note i) Property investment

and development

BMEREEREZEBR AR 50% 50% IEERE

(MF3ED) (Note ) Property development
BNTHERERZEERAR 50% 50% WEEE

(MI3ED) (Note i) Property development
REEABEEHEREFR AR 50% 50% EEE

(FF5E1) (Note i) Property development
EEEEEEREBRAR 50% 50% WEEE

(BF5E1) (Note i) Property development
SEEHHEEEREARAA 34% - UEEE

(MF5Ei Kii) (Notes i and ii) Property development
EBTMEEARAA 30% - UEEE

(FfF5Ei X ii) (Notes i and ii) Property development
BMEIEEZEERA A 50% 50% IR

(F5ED) (Note i) Property development
RNBREFXERAA 49% - MEBE

(Fif3Ei Kii) (Notes i and ii) Property development
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49.
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48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES (continued)
(D) (continued)

Notes:

(i) The associate is a domestic enterprise established and
operating in the PRC.

(i) The associate is established/acquired in the current financial
year.

(i) The entity is accounted for as an associate as at the end of the
year as the Group has the right to appoint director(s) for the
board of the entity and is able to exercise significant influence
over the entity.

49. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include the bank and other borrowings disclosed in note 35, the
senior notes disclosed in note 36 and medium-term notes
disclosed in note 37, net of cash and cash equivalents, amounts
due to related parties, amounts due to non-controlling interests
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, and other reserves and perpetual capital
instrument.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.



50. BAws I b 4s Bl 50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
EMIT R ZHER CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

R-BE-_—F+=-A=+-—H As at 31 December 2021

BRAVEFA ZHRSRAYE
BECEMEE JIRZSRMEE

Financial assets

Financial designated
assets at FVPL at FVOCI
TR R 8K PR AT R
BEFER RATR ZEMEE
Mandatorily Financial
measured Equity assets at
as such instruments  amortised cost
ARBT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
SREE Financial assets RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EEABBEMEEKE  Equity instruments designated
BATESERZRATRE  at FvOCl - 1,100,462 = 1,100,462
TR Time deposits = = 2,474,608 2,474,608
JEUBRZ R fEUBRTE  Trade and other receivables - - 19,099,652 19,099,652
JELK B 77 3R Amounts due from related parties - - 37,913,833 37,913,833
FEM LB R 2 7R Amounts due from non-controlling
interests - - 19,588,804 19,588,804
BAFEGFAERZ Financial assets at FVPL
SEEE 1,389,813 = - 1,389,813
Be RRTEF Cash and bank balances - - 108,748,123 108,748,123
1,389,813 1,100,462 187,825,020 190,315,295
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50. BA# )R Fg PR (%) 50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
EMITEZER (8]) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
R-EBE-_—F+=-B=+—8 (&) As at 31 December 2021 (continued)

BRAPENA
BEZEHMARE
Financial liabilities
at FVPL
AR R RS A
mitEE : SRz B &

Designated as Financial

such upon initial liabilities at
recognition Held for trading  amortised cost

AR¥TR AR¥TR AR®T R ARBT R

SHEE Financial liabilities RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
[EFTBRF R L tbERBRETE  Trade and other payables - - 118,444,188 118,444,188
JRE 1<t BB B 77 F0R Amounts due to related parties - - 47,622,944 47,622,944
FER e R R T IE Amounts due to non-controlling
interests - = 20,874,752 20,874,752
HEaR Lease liabilities - - 5,802,132 5,802,132
BITREMES Bank and other borrowings - - 140,068,750 140,068,750
BEER Senior notes - - 12,575,147 12,575,147
HHEIRE Medium-term notes - - 27,330,954 27,330,954
BATERABRZZ Financial liability at FVPL
TRER - 3,510 - 3,510
FTESRIA Derivative financial instruments 251,575 - - 251,575
251,575 3,510 372,718,867 372,973,952
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50. BAws b as B (48) 50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

SRTEZHER (F) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

R-B=-FBE+=-A=+—8H As at 31 December 2020

BER
FREMEE
WEBATE

SR e EE
Financial assets

Financial designated
assets at FVPL at FvOClI
TZESHRAN
W2 A BRATE JRzeREE
Mandatorily Financial
measured Equity assets at
as such instruments amortised cost
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETTT
SREE Financial assets RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
EEABBEMEEKE  Equity instruments designated
BRATESIERZ at FvoCl
BARTA - 1,116,163 - 1,116,163
JEWBR A R B b fEURBRIE  Trade and other receivables - - 19,545,469 19,545,469
FEUN FERE T T Amounts due from related parties - - 44,370,821 44,370,821
JE UG SR AR AR 2 IR Amounts due from non-controlling
interests - - 16,870,694 16,870,694
BATERABRZ Financial assets at FVPL
SREE 4,933,802 - - 4,933,802
Be RIRITHEF Cash and bank balances - - 89,450,545 89,450,545
4,933,802 1,116,163 170,237,529 176,287,494
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50. BA# )R Fg PR (%) 50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
EMITEZER (8]) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
R-EBE-_FEE+=-B=+—8 (&) As at 31 December 2020 (continued)

RAFHEEA

Bazeman

Financial liabilities

at FVPL

RILR TR i y
Llligisha S1ER JIfRz e RERE
Designated as Financial
such upon initial liabilities at

recognition  Held for trading amortised cost

AREFT AREFT AREFT AR¥FT

LRBE Financial liabilities RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
FERBRF M EhJE(TARIE  Trade and other payables - - 110,518,542 110,518,542
JRE {4 RS 7 ZU0B Amounts due to related parties - - 28,193,641 28,193,641
RN e R R T IE Amounts due to non-controlling
interests - - 8,134,640 8,134,640
HEBE Lease liabilities - - 5,444,307 5,444,307
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings - - 127,954,396 127,954,396
BEEE Senior notes - - 12,878,137 12,878,137
HHEIRE Medium-term notes - - 24,152,442 24,152,442
BATERABRZZ Financial liability at FVPL
TEEE - 15,789 - 15,789
TEERMIA Derivative financial instruments 100,262 - - 100,262
100,262 15,789 317,276,105 317,392,156
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets
at FVPL, trade and other receivables, time deposits, amounts
due from related parties, amounts due from non-controlling
interests, equity instruments designated at FVOCI, cash and
bank balances, derivative financial instruments, trade and other
payables, amounts due to related parties, amounts due to non-
controlling interests, bank and other borrowings, financial
liability at FVPL, lease liabilities, senior notes and medium-term
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (including currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to financial
risks or the manner in which it manages and measures.

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group's businesses are principally conducted in RMB,
except for certain amounts due to non-controlling interests,
amounts due to related parties, amounts due from related
parties, bank borrowings (note 35), senior notes (note 36) and
cash and bank balances which are arranged in Hong Kong or
overseas and denominated in HK$, US$ and GBP by the group
entities operating in Hong Kong, of which the functional
currency is RMB. The Group manages its currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of the currency exchange rates. The
Group entered into cross currency swap contracts with certain
financial institutions to reduce its exposure to currency
fluctuation risk.
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

50. S Ja i A 2L (60)
PEEEE B RREBUR (H)

iz Rk () Market risk (continued)
B R (E) Currency risk (continued)

The Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the respective reporting period
and the carrying amounts are as follows:

MEBERR - NEELINEHEZEEE
ENERAEZREENT

2021 2020
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets
REBHIEEERE Group entities in Hong Kong
ETT Us$ 912,322 1,302,706
ot HK$ 3,410,444 5,976,153
s GBP 108,338 62,327
FA B R 5 (B B i Group entities in the PRC
B HK$ 22,838 20,661
ETT Us$ 13,057 10,942
BE Liabilities
REENEEEFE Group entities in Hong Kong
E us$ 12,428,786 12,176,008
B HK$ 46,668,315 32,953,784
HgE GBP 1,119,958 1,158,102
A (5 ) 25 [ 2 2 Group entities in the PRC
it HK$ = 74
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50. s el b 45 B (4)

M EREE R ERBER ()
™% m kR ()

BEmER (E)

BRE DT

AEBZINERBETRARELIZING 2
KE o
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5% (ZZ-FF : 5%) IR GURE © A
RgREREEEBHINEER 2 AIBAI LR
B2 5HE o MARB AR BREINETHES%
“ETHF 5%) 0 PXZEEEFAK
BB RARBELBBINEERE
5% (—F_FF :5%)M 5  BHEHREE
NEEREFMMARZE M IXEHERA
2 o

50.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group’s foreign currency risk is concentrated on the
fluctuation of RMB against foreign currencies.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2020: 5%) increase and decrease in the RMB against the
relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity rates used represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit for the year where RMB strengthens
5% (2020: 5%) against the relevant currencies. For a 5% (2020:
5%) weakening of RMB against the relevant currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit
and the balance below would be negative.

2021 2020

ARBT R ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
REENEEEFE Group entities in Hong Kong
FARPRA Profit for the year 2,329,064 1,626,025
R B R 5 (5] B 2 Group entities in the PRC
FAEIE Loss for the year (1,346) (1,182)
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50.

286
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts due from
related parties, amounts due from non-controlling interests,
senior notes, medium-term notes, amounts due to related
parties and amounts due to non-controlling interests.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances (see note 31 for details), variable-rate
bank and other borrowings (see note 35 for details), amounts
due to related parties and amounts due to non-controlling
interests. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR, Benchmark Loan
Rate of The People’s Bank of China and LIBOR arising from the
Group’s HK$, RMB and GBP denominated borrowings. To
manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in interest rates
on specific transactions, appropriate derivative financial
instruments may be used to hedge material exposure.

As at 31 December 2021, if interest rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2021
would have been RMB33,081,000 lower/higher (2020:
RMB1,910,000).
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and
financial guarantees provided by the Group arose from:

o the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position; and

3 the financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed
in notes 40 and 47(B).

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amounts
of each individual trade and other receivable at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies or state-owned banks in the
PRC.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings and
amounts due from joint ventures, associates and non-controlling
interests, the Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, in which exposure is spread over a number of
counterparties and customers.

With respect to the amounts due from related parties and non-

controlling interests, the directors of the Company consider the
credit risk is limited because they have strong financial positions.
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For properties that are presold but development have not been
completed, the Group typically provides guarantees to banks in
connection with the customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to
finance their purchase of the properties for an amount up to
70% of the purchase price of the individual property. If a
purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage during the
period of guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may
demand the Group to repay the outstanding loan and any
interest accrued thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to forfeit the sales deposit received and re-sell the
repossessed properties. Therefore, the directors of the Company
consider the Group would likely recover any loss incurred arising
from the guarantee by it. The directors of the Company consider
the credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided to
property purchasers is limited because the facilities are secured
by the properties and the market prices of the properties are
higher than the guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank and other borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants. Details of the loan covenants
on the Group’s bank and other borrowings are set out in note
35.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on
the agreed repayment dates.



S 5 R B 4 PR (7)) 50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
R REEEERBEE(E) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
RBESRE R (E) Liquidity risk (continued)
ZERBEFNERASR ML o WA SR A The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows. To
ZEIAIER - AIRALIR SR IR E REFNR the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
LR ZIFEERMBECHBRITRERE amount is derived from the weighted average interest rate by
ME - AEARRITAREEREENEMN reference to the HIBOR, Benchmark Loan Rate of The People’s
BB EIFREFEFRE 2 INEEHFETm Bank of China and LIBOR of the Group’s variable-rate financial
HEH - liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

1R 152F 2855 SEHE ] fRE{E

On demand
or less than Over Carrying
lyear 1to2years 2tob years 5 years amount

ARBTR ARETR AR®TR ARBTR ARETR AR®TR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000

ZEB-—-F+ZA=+—H 31December 2021

JERBRS R A EMERIE  Trade and other payables 118,444,188 - - - 118,444,188 118,444,188
JE (R T 508 Amounts due to related parties 33,138,417 14,966,968 148,415 - 482535800 47,622,944
FERT IR R R FUR Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 9,944,413 2,133,963 10,293,977 - 22,372,353 20,874,752
HERR Lease liabilities 1,053,964 2,996,342 1,027,159 2,851,857 7,929,322 5,802,132
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 55,130,128 45,293,498 36,042,750 26,219,818 162,686,194 140,068,750
BEEE Senior notes 645,563 645,563 7,021,273 6,355,512 14,667,911 12,575,147
FHRE Medium-term notes 6,186,200 9,587,200 13,649,300 - 29,422,700 27,330,954
BTG IER Financial guarantee 65,231,699 - - - 65231,699 -
BRATESAERZ Financial liability at FVPL
TRAR 4,429 - - - 4,429 3,510
fTEeRIA Derivative financial instruments 35,996 35,996 365,091 - 437,083 251,575

289,814,997 75,659,530 68,547,965 35,427,187 469,449,679 372,973,952

ZZE-ZE+-A=1—H 31December 2020

JERBR R A EERIE  Trade and other payables 110,518,542 - - - 110,518,542 110,518,542
JE s A 3R Amounts due to related parties 21,672,471 6,830,449 - - 28502920 28,193,641
FER FErE AR TR Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 5,648,482 1,866,493 967,907 - 8,482,882 8,134,640
HERE Lease liabilities 263,858 190,898 37385529 2466488 6,306,773 5,444,307
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 30,416,696 33,895,988 64,611,800 12,616,591 141,541,075 127,954,396
BERER Senior notes 661,716 661,716 7,186,596 6,522,446 15,032,474 12,878,137
FHRE Medium-term notes 10,496,400 5,740,700 9,216,838 - 25,453,938 24,152,442
BISER Financial guarantee 62,984,860 - - - 62,984,860 -
NN Financial liability at FVPL
SREE 7,944 7,845 - - 15,789 15,789
fTEeRIA Derivative financial instruments 35,996 35,996 311,587 - 383,579 100,262

242,706,965 49,230,085 85,680,257 21,605,525 399,222,832 317,392,156
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts have not included financial guarantee contracts,
which the Group make for its certain joint ventures and
associates’ borrowings (note 47(B)). Such guarantees will
terminate upon the repayment of the relevant borrowings.

In respect of financial guarantee contracts disclosed in note 40,
based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount
will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in

AR ERN M ABABUR)

particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

W+=—A=+—8H
CREE8fFE B AFE NHERR  HERM R AR AR
Fair value as at Fair value
Financial assets/liabilities 31 December hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs

2021 2020

ARBTRT ARETRT

RMB’000 RMB’'000
1) DEREATEFAER BE BE £28 BMBRBREM - RRRERIHERTHH
ZEBMEBEIBVEMD 1,389,813 4,933,802 R (RBRE AR AT B R LR R) (4
it RRMAKEEE RO RS -
Wealth management Assets Assets  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows
products classified as 1,389,813 4,933,802 are estimated based on market interest
financial assets at FVPL rates (from observable yield curves at the
end of the reporting period), discounted
at a rate that reflects the credit risk of the
Group.
2) EEREBHEMEPENRE &E BE 238 BLIRIR BT o RRBSIMIHEREE &
BRATEVERZIRATIA 1,100,462 1,116,163 FEE R R EIT AR
BN KBS -
Equity instruments Assets Assets  Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows
designated at FVOCI 1,100,462 1,116,163 are based on fixed and variable return

=B AR /AT China Resources Land Limited

payments, discounted at a rate that
reflects the issuer’s cost of equity.
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50. S %5 By A BE (4) 50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
BEEEESERERBKE (E&) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
AEBUREEER ANFEHITENESREE Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
FEmaEn LA TE (H) liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (continued)

W+=ZA=+—H
SREEBE B AFE NHEER (HERNREREAZE
Fair value as at Fair value
Financial assets/liabilities 31 December hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs

2021 2020

AR®BTRT ARBTT
RMB’000  RMB'000

3) HEATESRIARN i=F afE F28 BRIRIBE R c RRIBE T HENREE
R X &tk 5 251,575 100,262 E(RIBEREHRNATBREIREALER) &

BRANE RAHMERME R RAE
BRRAEBEERRA L RRR -

Cross currency swaps Liabilities Liabilities  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows
classified as derivative 251,575 100,262 are estimated based on forward
financial instruments exchange rates (from observable yield

curves at the end of the reporting
period) and yield curve of relevant
interest rates and contracted interest
rates, discounted at a rate that reflects
the credit risk of the Group.

4)  DERRATEAERR af BfE FE2 BRRIRE M - KRR RIIEREHF
oA SN R IR S 3,510 15,789 R (RBEREHRO AT ERERARAR) K

BROMEMGE  BRREEXZHFT
MEERBRAI L RAEIR -

Interest rate swap Liabilities Liabilities  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows
classified as financial 3,510 15,789 are estimated based on forward interest
liability at FVPL rates (from observable yield curves at the

end of the reporting period) and
contracted interest rates, discounted at a
rate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.
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50.

S1.

52.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value of other financial instruments

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities (excluding senior notes and
medium-term notes with fair value information set out in notes
36 and 37, respectively) recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair
values.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund scheme
("MPF Scheme"”) for its employees in Hong Kong. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution scheme in accordance with
the principle of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance. Under the rules of MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are required to contribute 5% of the employee’s
salaries, up to a maximum of HK$1,500 per employee per
month. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the group companies in an independently administered
fund.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the respective
local government in the PRC. The Group is required to
contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to these schemes is to make the specified
contributions.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures in the consolidated financial
statements have been re-presented to conform with current
year presentation.
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53. ALl Z BB ik Ot &

53. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

2021 2020

ARET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
IERENEE Non-current assets
RIEEM 2B ARIRIEE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 31,744,392 31,744,392
Y - R N ERE Property, plant and equipment 1,730 2,506
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 11,780 20,815
JFEUL I B~ =) 50R Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,238,324 2,583,751
33,996,226 34,351,464
MBNEE Current assets
H Y iRIE « TATERIE Other receivables,
KE]® prepayments and deposits 202,317 296,233
JiE Wi — il P R I B FR0E Amount due from an intermediate
holding company 463 476
A NG B Amounts due from subsidiaries 106,495,448 92,794,942
A EES NGRS Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 189 186
JEI & E > EEFRTE Amounts due from joint ventures 4,477,901 13
JFE Wi Bt 2N =) FUOA Amounts due from associate 5,704 7
Re RIR1TER Cash and bank balances 4,381,662 7,242,490
115,563,684 100,334,347
mEAaE Current liabilities
H At fETBRIE Other payables 947,781 1,416,550
HEAG Lease liabilities 9,109 8,761
JRE A~ — Rl P R FEE A A B FR0E Amount due to an intermediate
holding company 23,569 2,954,654
R NG Amounts due to subsidiaries 27,387,292 15,067,966
RITEE — —FRE|H Bank borrowings — due within one year 27,445,340 10,379,798
FERE — —FREIE Medium-term notes — due within
one year 1,224,041 9,821,573
57,037,132 39,649,302
MEEEFRE Net current assets 58,526,552 60,685,045
BEEBERREEE Total assets less current liabilities 92,522,778 95,036,509
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53. ARARZ BRI E () 53. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

2021 2020

ARETT ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB'000
B Equity

P& Share capital 673,829 673,829

e (B5E) Reserves (Note) 38,089,573 34,983,260

KEEART A (MzE39) Perpetual capital instrument (Note 39) 7,381,436 7,381,436

46,144,838 43,038,525

JEMENAE Non-current liabilities

RITIEE — —F1E5H Bank borrowings — due after one year 19,451,181 27,425,412

BREE — —F1& 5 H Senior notes — due after one year 12,575,147 12,878,137

REIER — —F1& 5 H Medium-term notes — due after one year 3,631,372 4,848,578

PTESBMTIA Derivative financial instruments 251,575 100,262

HE&E Lease liabilities 3,368 12,495

JE R — P R PR AR 2 B 5K IR Amount due to an intermediate

holding company 10,465,297 6,733,100

46,377,940 51,997,984

ERRENIEREEE Total of equity and non-current liabilities 92,522,778 95,036,509
RATZRITEEY AERARERER Y The bank borrowings of the Company are all unsecured and
FFIR1.84% (Z T =T 4F : 254%) 8 ° carry interest at an average effective interest rate at 1.84%
BEREEERBEATERIER - BEED ik (2020: 2.54%) per annum. The borrowings are repayable by
REHAR —SBEE - instalments or in a lump sum upon maturity in accordance with

the terms set out in the respective loan agreements.
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53. ARw|ZBBRNE () 53. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Hiet - Note:
&t Reserves
REE HitnfAE REtEE
Share Other Accumulated
premium reserves losses
ARETT ARETT ARMETTT AR¥ET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
R-_ZE-_ZTF—H—H At 1 January 2020 58,529,724 729,091 (21,142,253) 38,116,562
FREENEHRTA Changes in fair value of hedging
NEEZEHRPLD M instruments due to forward
BREBSD elements and effective portion
during the year - 232,423 - 232,423
F R Profit for the year - - 4,662,016 4,662,016
FAZERERTE Total comprehensive income
for the year - 232,423 4,662,016 4,894,439
MKEERT BEAE AMEL Distribution to the owners of
2k perpetual capital instrument - - (268,320) (268,320)
—E_ZTFEFHIRE Interim dividend for 2020 - - (1,069,641) (1,069,641)
ZE-NFRBKRE Final dividend for 2019 - - (6,689,780) (6,689,780)
WZZE-_ZF+—-F=+—H At31 December 2020 and
;T —F—HF—H 1 January 2021 58,529,724 961,514 (24,507,978) 34,983,260
FREEREHRTE Changes in fair value of hedging
NEEEBR RO & instruments due to forward
BRESD elements and effective portion
during the year - (75,756) - (75,756)
FrEH Profit for the year - - 12,339,063 12,339,063
FAEER=ERE Total comprehensive income
for the year - (75,756) 12,339,063 12,263,307
FIKEERTEBE AMEL Distribution to the owners of
2K perpetual capital instrument - - (251,854) (251,854)
—E--FhHRE Interim dividend for 2021 - - (1,224,211) (1,224,211)
T TERERE Final dividend for 2020 - - (7,680,929) (7,680,929)
RZE-_—F+-HA=+—H At31 December 2021 58,529,724 885,758 (21,325,909) 38,089,573
54. ik B ek 54. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
F128HE 296 EFTEGAEMBERRE N The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 128 to
T F-A=tHEEESHEREET 296 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 30
o March 2022.
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

ERENERAR
EiEERER BRBZEER

Attributable Beneficial Approximate
Interest of China Total Gross
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited Floor Area Lease Term

N N 100% 382,379 Fiziik=g
RIINEE A L SRS

Medium Term Lease

Shenzhen City Crossing

B 5 The Mixc 100% 135,801 [E[e
ZINEEEARE Shenzhen CR Building 100% 41,311 o
FYIE1EIE Shenzhen Grand Hyatt Hotel 100% 67,506 JBEH
B35 Car Park 100% 137,761 fZ=Cp
S L B V 60% 452,944 FEAE
TN ERIN °

Medium Term Lease

Hangzhou Mixc

B 550 The Mixc 60% 159,705 [E[e
T2 Office 60% 58,292 #o
HLJHAATEEIE Hangzhou Park Hyatt Hotel 60% 46,030 JBEH
S 835 Car Park 60% 188,917 f=CP

. .

e CE SR 100% 379,288 hHTRE

. Medium Term L

Shenyang M|XC edium lerm Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 166,106 5[
&5 2 K E Shenyang CR Building 100% 59,583 o
JERSEBEE Shenyang Grand Hyatt Hotel 100% 57,040 BH
{285 Car Park 100% 96,559 12CP

BREPEE R0, 100% 547,110 hERTR &

. . Medium Term L

Chengdu City Crossing eclum ferm tease
BRI The Mixc 100% 278,154 HC
R #BEE A& Chengdu CR Building 100% 72,093 o
{285 Car Park 100% 196,863 12CP

o 2 55% 416,336 hERTR &

FEZEEP L 5

Medium Term Lease

Nanning City Crossing

BRI The Mixc 55% 172,353 HC
ZFEEHAE Nanning CR Building 55% 174,725 o
2835 Car Park 55% 69,258 f=cp
N E 5 I 100% 193,093 REARE
Zhengzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 119,175 HC
{85 Car Park 100% 73,918 f=cp
EEESH 100% 374,973 hERTRE
Chongqing Mixc Medium Term Lease
B The Mixc 100% 223,771 [i5[e
SE35 Car Park 100% 151,202 f®Cp
EISESRI 60% 233,100 I
Wuxi Mixc Medium Term Lease
E S0 The Mixc 60% 123,107 #C
{SE35 Car Park 60% 109,993 f=cp
EEEEh 97% 378,612 RHIE
=
Qingdao MiXC Medium Term Lease
B0 The Mixc 97% 264,245 [E1e
{285 Car Park 97% 114,367 f=Cp
AEESH 100% 350,517 hERTRE
Hefei Mixc Medium Term Lease
B R The Mixc 100% 181,000 HC
AIEE EE Hefei Grand Hyatt Hotel 100% 48,584 BH
{28 Car Park 100% 120,933 f2CP
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EHEHERAT
EERES BARR SRR HEFR
Attributable Beneficial Approximate
Interest of China Total Gross
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited Floor Area Lease Term
s . 55% 213,846 hEIEE
BEBMERH °
Ganzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
EEH The Mixc 55% 139,913 5[
S 835 Car Park 55% 73,933 f=Cp
@ g : 51% 231,538 HEE
BB R TRER
WEI’]ZhOU Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 51% 137,527 mc
{2515 Car Park 51% 94,011 f=cp
@TZ@W%%‘KW 100% 219,940 FEAE
Xi'an Mixc Medium Term Lease
EEY The Mixc 100% 124,583 [E1e
{285 Car Park 100% 95,357 f2CP
s 8 50% 411,845 HRE
BB ° R
T Medium Term L
Shangha| MlXC edium lerm Lease
BSR4 The Mixc 50% 169,561 C
{2835 Car Park 50% 220,125 f=Cp
HBERWE T Shanghai Mixc Office 50% 22,159 o
T B S R 100% 467,313 hEAF
. Medium Term L
Shenzhen Mixc World ecium ferm Lease
B R A Mixc World 100% 225,209 C
S E5 Car Park 100% 242,104 f=cp
e N % e
MBS 100% 174,823 FHTRE
Taizhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
E54 The Mixc 100% 99,723 #C
{85 Car Park 100% 75,100 f=Cp
= S 100% 334,976 hEREE
NG =
Taiyuan Mixc Medium Term Lease
B S The Mixc 100% 209,987 mc
{2515 Car Park 100% 124,989 f=cp
EEELRN 55% 284,410 R E
Nantong Mixc Medium Term Lease
EZY The Mixc 55% 130,059 [Ele
{285 Car Park 55% 154,351 f=Cp
ITAE=E¥7 5% 198,279 A
Liuzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
EEH The Mixc 55% 122,779 5[
{2845 Car Park 55% 75,500 f=cp
E%}E%%‘U}ﬁ 100% 311,826 RHHE
. Medium Term L
Shijiazhuang Mixc eclum Term tease
BRI The Mixc 100% 182,072 5[
{2515 Car Park 100% 129,754 f=cp
. N 100% 267,325 HEE
EFIE R ° -
Xiamen Mixc Medium Term Lease
EEY The Mixc 100% 131,037 [Ele
[EP9ZE K E Xiamen CR Building 100% 59,598 o
{2835 Car Park 100% 76,690 f=Cp
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ERENERAR
EiEERER

Attributable Beneficial
Interest of China

Investment Properties Resources Land Limited

BRREEEE
Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area

Lease Term

100% 258,969 hERTRE
. Medi
Shenzhen Bay Mixc edium Term Lease
B S The Mixc 100% 80,132 [i5[e
S 835 Car Park 100% 178,837 fFCP
5 E_irﬁ}%i% 100% 93,879 RHTHE
. Medium Term L
Shanghai Times Square ecium Term tease
% Commercial 100% 47,930 mc
BFIE Office 100% 36,843 o
S 835 Car Park 100% 9,106 f=CP
ERE S5 100% 173,781 PHTRE
s ! Medium Term L
Guilin Mixc edium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 100,327 5[
B Car Park 100% 73,454 f®Cp
R & - 55% 329,497 H
P BRIk o R
Jinan Mixc Medium Term Lease
5 The Mixc 55% 193,685 [5[e
{285 Car Park 55% 135,812 12CP
1t BB E 97% 144,484 hETRE
RIS
. Medi
Beulng Galleria edium Term Lease
% Commercial 97% 50,784 HC
B Office 97% 79,019 #o
{285 Car Park 97% 14,681 12CP
1 205 T B 99% 180,193 hERTR &
7N ™
. . Medi
Beulng anghe Hi5 edium Term Lease
FRHIS 99% 105,900 #C
BT Office 99% 11,425 #o
SE35 Car Park 99% 62,868 f=cp
AEE L AR 100% 66,141 R E
. . Medi
Hefei Shushan Hi5 edium Term Lease
A Hi5 100% 48,660 [
{285 Car Park 100% 17,481 f=Cp
o Ak 7= T4 4 100% 136,858 i
R Rk A ° A
. . Medi
NIﬂgbO Yuyao Hi5 edium Term Lease
FFHHI5 100% 83,036 7
{2855 Car Park 100% 53,822 f=Cp
LEmAREN 100% 35,984 TS
i i i Medium Term L
Shanghai Nanxiang Hi5 ecium Term tease
TR HIS 100% 26,078 #C
SE35 Car Park 100% 9,906 f=cp
N i I p——
7%1'%1% %IE 100% 293,414 hEARE
ZIbO MiXC One Medium Term Lease
R IE Mixc One 100% 154,805 [E1e
ST E K& Zibo Sheraton Hotel 100% 42,709 JBEH
{85 Car Park 100% 95,900 f®Cp
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EREHERAT
Bk BHRZEER HEFR
Attributable Beneficial Approximate
Interest of China Total Gross
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited Floor Area Lease Term
SRS T E S R 100% 255,728 hEEE
Shenyang Tiexi Mixc One Medium Term Lease
ERE Mixc One 100% 143,481 C
5 Car Park 100% 112,247 facp
ESENEEE 100% 71,126 THIEE
Changsha Xingsha Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE Mixc One 100% 50,260 mc
B Car Park 100% 20,866 cp
ARESE 100% 134,914 FHEE
Rizhao Mixc One Medium Term Lease
EREE Mixc One 100% 91,571 FIC
{2545 Car Park 100% 43,343 f=cp
IREBEEERE 97% 180,222 BT
REE

Medium Term Lease

Beijing Miyun Mixc One

BERIE Mixc One 97% 107,222 C
{2835 Car Park 97% 73,000 f=Cp
NEE L B RIE 100% 184,330 R
. . M Term L
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Mixc One edium Term Lease
E5[E Mixc One 100% 92,389 #C
{2E#35 Car Park 100% 91,941 f=Cp
EEBTAHERE 100% 108,523 P E
Chongging Danzishi Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RIE Mixc One 100% 58,440 mc
{2835 Car Park 100% 50,083 f=cp
BN TESE 50% 123,579 hEAT &
Suzhou Wujiang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BERIE Mixc One 50% 91,287 mC
{2815 Car Park 50% 32,292 f=Cp
EHMEILESE 51% 170,021 hETRE
Suzhou Kunshan Mix One Medium Term Lease
EBRE Mixc One 51% 101,399 5[
S 835 Car Park 51% 68,622 f=Cp
KR BRI E e 100% 116,370 hHRE
. - Medium Term L
Harbin Songbei Mixc One ecium Term tease
BERE Mixc One 100% 89,280 mc
{2835 Car Park 100% 27,090 f=cp
BT 2 B 100% 171,350 hERE
an
Llnyl MiXC One Medium Term Lease
HRE Mixc One 100% 105,132 [:e
{2845 Car Park 100% 66,218 f2CP
APRERESE 100% 99,080 FhERFR
Hefei Luyang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RIE Mixc One 100% 75,316 C
{2835 Car Park 100% 23,764 fZCP
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ERERERAR

Bk ED BRBREES
Attributable Beneficial Approximate
Interest of China Total Gross
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited Floor Area Lease Term
EONKTT 100% 39,172 hERTRE
Haikou Mixc Medium Term Lease
% Commercial 100% 20,876 HC
S 835 Car Park 100% 18,296 fFCP
E SR E 100% 99,989 RHTHE
£y &
Ningbo Qianhu Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE Mixc One 100% 54,841 mc
{2835 Car Park 100% 45,148 f=cp
%B’%EE%%E 100% 110,270 FEITRE
Shenyang Changbai Mixc One Medium Term Lease
R IE Mixc One 100% 73,205 [:le
{285 Car Park 100% 37,065 f2CP
Ee 33% 281,096 hERTR &
Ningbo Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 33% 159,117 C
2835 Car Park 33% 121,979 f=cp
EEAEOSSE 100% 88,291 PETRE
Chongging Dadukou Mixc One Medium Term Lease
E5[E Mixc One 100% 68,353 #C
B Car Park 100% 19,938 f®Cp
HEBXE 51% 80,445 RHIRE
Nanchang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
EEI The Mixc 51% 33,747 ;e
{2835 Car Park 51% 46,698 f=cp
TR E S R 100% 78,611 hETRE
Xian Mixc World Medium Term Lease
B KM Mixc World 100% 78,611 HC
@Eﬂgﬂé—%lﬁ 51% 88,309 AR E
-
Nanning Wuxiang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RE Mixc One 51% 57,437 mc
{2835 Car Park 51% 30,872 f=cp
SEEE S 51% 243,223 REATR &
Shantou Mixc Medium Term Lease
55 The Mixc 51% 168,074 [:e
{285 Car Park 51% 75,149 f=Cp
ELBgE 100% 189,448 hERTRE
Yantai Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRIE Mixc One 100% 122,417 C
S 835 Car Park 100% 67,031 f=CP
EHE R TE 50% 226,243 FHTRE
Shenzhen Qianhai Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRADE Qianhai Mixc 50% 75,475 5[
B Car Park 50% 150,768 f®Cp
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EREHERAT
Bk BARR SRR HEFR
Attributable Beneficial Approximate
Interest of China Total Gross
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited Floor Area Lease Term
sl ERE 100% 155,966 hEEE
Guiyang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BRE Mixc One 100% 99,282 e
£ B35 Car Park 100% 56,684 fZCp
LR A 100% 54,072 #o PEIEE
Beljlng CR BUI|d|ng Medium Term Lease
IR T E R AL I B IR o o e s
Beijing Runlianhang Xiti Hongshan Medium Term Lease
Office
I PR T (B o 002 o s
Beijing Runlianhang Youshige Medium Term Lease
/%ﬂ”%/%ﬁi‘@j(EBCD@ 100% 204,311 #o hEE
Shenzhen CR Land Building BCD Medium Term Lease
KEE 55% 15,121 o hEEE
Dalian Junshang Center Medium Term Lease
HEHEN20 Gresham StreetT8 B 100% 22557 o AR
London 20 Gresham Street Office Medium Term Lease
RYEE BRI LTS R o 210 e s
Shenzhen CR Qianhai Building T5 Medium Term Lease
ENESREE 50% 94,956 mo hEEE
Guangzhou Runhui Tech Center Medium Term Lease
JE B 100% 62,805 o hEEE
Beijing CR Time Building Medium Term Lease
FEREREE TS E g 51% 137,096 o hEEE
Shanghai Lujiazui Binjiang Center Medium Term Lease
bEEst%h L ETE 50% 47,466 o hEEE
Shanghai Mixc Center Medium Term Lease
/%ﬂ”%/ﬂ**%fﬁ/@g 100% 14,000 JEH hEEE
Shenzhen Luohu Kapok Hotel Medium Term Lease
FIRY AR 100% 3500 i s
Shenzhen Bay Kapok Hotel Medium Term Lease
EJ‘HK%/@E 65% 66,712 JBH hEAE
Huizhou Le Meridien Hotel Medium Term Lease
KBENEE 55% 77,179 JBEH hHEE

Dalian Grand Hyatt Hotel

Medium Term Lease

302 —=——4Z#H%E  ANNUAL REPORT 2021



ZEHERERAH

Bk ED BRREEEE

Attributable Beneficial Approximate

Interest of China Total Gross
Investment Properties Resources Land Limited Floor Area Lease Term
oyt SvE i i 100% 42,000 BH hEIEE
Shimei Bay Le Meridien Hotel Medium Term Lease
|| i+ JE 100% 45,597 BH hEIEE
Shenzhen Andaz Hotel Medium Term Lease
EFEDEE 100% 38,551 BH hEIEE
Xiamen Andaz Hotel Medium Term Lease
b BUA BUOE AR AR JE 80% 57,185 BH hEIEE
Beijing Daxing Airport Kapok Hotel Medium Term Lease
100% 35,999 BH hEEE

PR EBER 22 BARARAE
Chengdu East Lake Kapok Hotel

Medium Term Lease
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

i
AREEE  ABEER BOHALE
BRER (FAR)  AEER(TAR) HrERAH  ERER
Attributable
Beneficial  Approximate
Interest Total Approximately
of the Site Area Unsold Gross Estimated Date

Development Properties City District Group (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) of Completion  State of Completion
BHERL i BHE 100% 100946 212430 f NBETR HEe
Lanzhou Yulanshan Lanzhou High-tech District R Juk23 - Construction in progress
EREBER Bx EfE 28% 141,110 476,298 i/ N9F48  Egd
Nanjing Yuzui Park View Mansion - Nanjing Jianye District RIO Apr-29  Construction in progress
RYEEESHD ) FiRE 100% 28357 min /R NB3%E5H B
Changsha CR Land Center Changsha Kaifu District O/A May-23  Construction in progress
REEEL 28 TEE 60% 40,894 215,806 B/B/1 WBEIR EEA
Kunming CR Center Kunming Guandu District C/O/A Mar-25  Construction in progress
EmmhhERENER £ il 100% 172,569 42829 e/ W6ENR B
Jinan Shizhongqu Jinan Shizhong District RIO Now-26 Construction in progress

Xinglongxin Project
BRI 8% BYE 50% 117,334 316,453 f NBETR B
Jieyang Rongjiangyuefu Jieyang Rongcheng District R Jul-28  Construction in progress
ENELEE EM R 20% 85,33 212,368 f WIEIR BRA
Guangzhou Runyue Huayuan ~ Guangzhou Zenqcheng District R Sep-21 Completed
FEZEN EE E 100% 129274 322,260 f W58 He
Xuchang Ziyunfu Xuchang Weidu District R May-27  Construction in progress
sk i ERHE 60% 112,208 337,878 B/8/D W6ETR Ege
Zhengzhou New Times Zhengzhou Zhengdong C/o/A Jul-26 - Construction in progress

New District

ElEHhRERE Bl RHEE 50% 22593 222,663 E/8/#/1 W5%97 B

HORER
Tangshan Nanhu Center Tangshan Lunan District RICIO/A Sep-25  Construction in progress

Business Region Project
ARELE A% BRI 100% 290,428 316,431 it WAENR B

Xi'an Wanxiangyu Xian Fengdong 0 Now-24  Construction in progress
New District
=3 ELE sk EHE 51% 2801 616,484 E/B/#/E W51 EEF
(R Fuyang Centre Fuyang Yingzhou District RICIOH Now-27  Construction in progress
RBARZH K E5ER 100% 25521 571,063 ft/® NBE4R - B
Chengdu Future City Chengdu Longquanyi District RH Apr-25  Construction in progress
BERRF BE e 51% 40533 389492 f WE4R Hae
Nanning Xiyuan Top Mansion ~ Nanning Jiangnan District R Apr-27  Construction in progress
ElETY i tETE 100% 9,728 883,046 E/8/8#/2 W6E3F B
Lanzhou Future City Lanzhou Qilibe District RIC/O/A Mar-36 Construction in progress
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B
AREEE  ABEER BRERLE
S 2 ERER (Frk)  AEER(THK) RS  BAER
Attributable
Beneficial  Approximate
Interest Total Approximately
of the Site Area Unsold Gross Estimated Date

Development Properties City District Group (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type of Completion  State of Completion

R n# 20 100% 67,715 290433 ft WUFI0/  ERd
Chengdu Dream City Chengdu Pengzhou R Oct-24  Construction in progress
ANEDES am HEHE 60% 104,568 392,023 E/B/E WBEI0R  Egh
Liuzhou Landmark Plaza Liuzhou Liudong New District RICH 0ct-28  Construction in progress
ZESRS il 5B 51% 208506 840,176 E/8/%/1 LS Y I
Shanwei Mixc World Shanwei Cheng District RICIO/A May-27  Construction in progress
HEREAE EE 2FE 100% 254,794 265,398 /881 W3F1R EEt
Yibin Park Land Yibin Cuiping District RIC/IO/A Feb-23  Construction in progress
KRERHR ER EYE 3% 121,730 209,130 /3 W35/ B
Beijing Wanxiang Yuefu Beijing Changping District RO Dec-23 Construction in progress
INERAERILECRR) DN RTHE 50% 879,386 212,59 2 055107 B
Ezhou Wutong Lake International  Ezhou Liangzihu District A 0ct-25  Construction in progress
Community (Binhu)
RBBRZH R ERER 100% 198,806 308618 f WBEINR  ERd
Chengdu Shidai City Chengdu Longquanyi District R Oct-23 Construction in progress
ARG REE BEE 100% 89,033 203,187 f WBF4R EEd
Harbin Top Mansion Harbin Songbei District R Apr-25  Construction in progress
EHER & 24 ERE 60% 51,380 234414 f ABEIA Egw
Kunming Runfu Kunming Guandu District R Sep-23 Construction in progress
REREE A HHFE 100% 168,591 696,943 E/%/2 W5ERR B
Dalian Dalian Bay Dalian Ganjingzi District RIO/A Dec-25  Construction in progress
DTG EE it 25% 382,582 889,875 k/@/2 WIESE Bt
g
Yichang East Station Commercial ~ Yichang Wajiagang District RICIA May-27  Construction in progress
and residential project
ERIE B AZE 100% 135,634 348313 f Wi%58 Bt
Guiyang Youshan Yuejing Guiyang Baiyun District R May-27 Construction in progress
FEELEEH GE EBE 2% 8191 350,709 /%% WHEI[ - ARt
Qingdao Lingshanwan Penonsila  Qingdao Huangdao District RIO/A Mar-25  Construction in progress
afmEEE=4 M ENE 51% 112,619 w318 /BB D 06535 Bt
FaRER
Wenzhou Laogang District Wenzhou Lucheng District RIC/IOMH/A Mar-26 Construction in progress
Phase 2 Complex Project
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

i
AREEE  ABEER BOHALE
BRER (FAR)  AEER(TAR) £l HrERAH  ERER
Attributable
Beneficial  Approximate
Interest Total Approximately
of the Site Area Unsold Gross Estimated Date

Development Properties City District Group (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type of Completion  State of Completion
EH=tms il i 100% 125367 361,599 ft/% W0F38  EER
Lanzhou Twenty-Four City Lanzhou Chengguan District RIA Mar-30 Construction in progress
BHERIER TR B Z2HR 50% 879,386 469,084 fr WUESR EEw

(BZM-74)
Ezhou Wutong Lake International - Ezhou Liangzihu District R May-24  Construction in progress

Community (Guangjiazhou-7#)
AREER N EE 50% 34,861 3175% /% WUFIR  ERd
Taiyuan Ziyunfu Taiyuan Xiaodian District RIO 0ct-24  Construction in progress
ARATAE AR EfiE 50% 133,501 238847 f WUEIR EEH
Taiyuan Park Land Talyuan Wan Ballin District R Sep-24  Construction in progress
REELH b AHE 70% 108533 305,977 e/ WNEIR Ege
Dongguan Mixc Mansion Dongguan Nancheng District RIO Sep-22 Construction in progress
Fig =T R REAR 100% 171,354 651,074 f WUEI[ Ege
Wuhan Twenty-Four City Wuhan Dongxihu District R Mar-24 Construction in progress
ELEMAR Bl RIE 20% 148,794 548,557 /%% WAENR  Epk
Tangshan Xi Lake Project Tangshan Lubei District RIO/A Nov-24  Construction in progress
EEERH EE AR 36% 54,322 233,369 ft/% WBENA  Epk
Jining Mixc Mansion Jining Rencheng District RIC Nov-23 Construction in progress
LB i YFE 51% 154937 769,010 /8 R N5E9R HEe
Liuzhou Jinglan Project Liuzhou Chengzhong District RH/A Sep-25  Construction in progress
ERHINECCONE AR e 70% 154710 B1080  &/E/H/B/R W55 B

FaRER
Xi'an Qujiang New District CCBD ~ Xi'an Yanta District RICIOHIA Nov-25  Construction in progress

232 acres Complex Project
ibite 25 ERE 100% 160,220 27,770 f N5547 B
Shenyang Gorgeous Portal Shenyang Hunnan District R Apr-25  Construction in progress
ERRER &5 SiiE 100% 154,802 248,146 /2 WBF6A EEd
Shenyang Ronghuafu Shenyang Huanggu District RIA Jun-25 Construction in progress
NELER L HiE 100% 118,830 345,699 f WAEIR B
Huizhou Xijiang Park View Mansion Huizhou Huicheng District R Jan-24 Construction in progress
BRELR B HFAR 100% 102,073 211,52 f 255108 B
Shenyang Yuhuafu Shenyang Sujiatun District R 0ct-25  Construction in progress
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B4
AREES  ABEER RORARLE

S 2 ERER (Frk)  AEER(THK) fhtEREA  ERER
Attributable
Beneficial  Approximate
Interest Total Approximately
of the Site Area Unsold Gross Estimated Date
Development Properties District Group (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type of Completion  State of Completion
ERZER ER R 100% 144,406 255,163 ft// WAF6R  EEF
Xi‘an Palace Glorious Xi‘an Bagjao District RIC Jun-24 - Construction in progress
BEBLENR B EBE 40% 13353 235,057 &/%/2 WAESE Bt
Qingdao Inmost Palace Qingdao Huangdao District RIO/A May-24  Construction in progress
BMRHRELHAEE BN e 25% 133319 278,655 f 0B3FN1F EEF
Guangzhou Poly Zhonghai Guangzhou Zengcheng District R Dec-23 Construction in progress
Gemdole Daguojing
TBTES i) T 100% 179,649 500,250 ft WAE8A ERH
Jiangyin Jiangwan City Wi Jiangyin R Aug-24  Construction in progress
DNEEREEHE 0l AR 50% 879,386 288,153 A W0F1A EBe
(Z-108)
Ezhou Wutong Lake International ~ Ezhou Liangzihu District A Jan-29 Construction in progress
Community (Yingbin-104)
DHERREEHE S 276& 50% 879,386 326,360 7 00588 EEA
(0Z-9)
Ezhou Wutong Lake International  Ezhou Liangzihu District A Aug-30 Construction in progress
Community (Yingbin-9#)
SNEEREEHE =l 2R 50% 879,386 610399 ft WUE3R EEA
(BFM-54)
Ezhou Wutong Lake International - Ezhou Liangzhu District R Mar-24  Construction in progress

Community (Guangjiazhou-54)

ORI 0 BLE 100% 46,963 343 ft/% W3ER Bt
Haikou Runshanfu Haikou Qiongshan District RIA Aug-23  Construction in progress
BRI 25 ARE 100% 88,135 898,804 ft/% NBETA  EEH
Shenyang Time City Shenyang Dadong District RIA Jul-28 - Construction in progress
BMNAR b5 B e 60% 199,782 607,372 fr NBESR Eph
Guangzhou Grand Park City Guangzhou Zengcheng District R May-25  Construction in progress
BEATRAE Sl = 100% 273,750 664,843 ft/%/B/1 WEE1E EEA
Gedian City Complex Ezhou Huarong District RICHIA Feb-26  Construction in progress
RRENHOFELLE fE i 50% 196,828 MyT E/8/8 WAE1R  ER%
Shaoxing CR Center Runyueshan ~ Shaoxing Yuecheng District RICH Jan-24 Construction in progress
Mingdi
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

i
AREEE  ABEER BOHALE
BRER (FAR)  AEER(TAR) £l fhatEREA  ERER
Attributable
Beneficial  Approximate
Interest Total Approximately
of the Site Area Unsold Gross Estimated Date
Development Properties City District Group (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type of Completion  State of Completion
BMEEL BN REER 51% 100,000 261,953 f NUETR EpA
Huizhou Runxishan Huizhou Taiya Bay District R Juk24 Construction in progress
BEIEPLER BE 1HE 70% 257,806 623,201 /2 WB5ENR B
Nanning Jiangnan Center Nanning Jiangnan District RIA Dec-25  Construction in progress
HER BE 1FE 100% 53,771 251,766 f W6%537 B
Park Lane Mansion Wuhan Jiang'an District R Mar-26  Construction in progress
ELVE g5 R 100% 151,269 412,531 f N5547 B
Guiyang Jiuyue Project Guiyang Nanming District R Apr-25  Construction in progress
RIBREE el AR 100% 198,501 352,869 f W4E108 B
Shenshan Banshan Runfu Shenzhen Shanwei special R Oct-24  Construction in progress
cooperation zone
in Shenzhen
ENTEBERRSER £Y F2E 100% 94369 31,132 E/8/%/2 055108 B
Bithak
Changsha Yuelu District Zipo Road Changsha Yuelu District RICIO/A 0ct-25  Construction in progress
Commercial and Residential
Building
EhEZE i RERE 100% 234436 676,673 £/ 085107 B
Fuzhou Haiwan Runcheng Fuzhou Changle District RIO 0ct-28  Construction in progress
SRR Ix [E&E 50% 105,144 231,979 f WAENR B
Beijing Light Mansion Beijing Shunyi District R Nov-24  Construction in progress
$ENE RE R 51% 144,073 215310 f WBE5H B
FéE
Bandao Ji Wuhan Donghu New R May-23  Construction in progress
Technology
Development
Zone
RUSTERE A E%E 50% 85,189 558,255 B/ WBECR  EEH
Shenzhen Snow Beer Science ~ Shenzhen Baoan District CIOA Jun-25 Construction in progress
and Technology City
RERER RE BB 100% 100,893 man f W26567 B
Changchun Ronghuatfu Changchun Kuancheng District R Jun-26 Construction in progress
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B4
AREES  ABEER RORARLE

S 2 BRER (Frk)  AEER(THK) fhtEREA  ERER
Attributable
Beneficial  Approximate
Interest Total Approximately
of the Site Area Unsold Gross Estimated Date
Development Properties District Group (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type of Completion  State of Completion
BLIEEERAE 1l B 100% 117,657 339,326 f WB5E4A ERA
Foshan Shunde Runfu Project ~ Foshan Shunde District R Apr-25  Construction in progress
BREENE ER ERHE 100% 76,755 248522 fr WAESA ERA
Xi‘an Peinua Jiuli Xi‘an Xixian New District R May-24  Construction in progress
e Al 5 ER 100% 143,568 289523 fr WIE4A ERA
Shenyang Park Hill Shenyang Hunnan District R Apr-27 Construction in progress
ERTERERER R R 100% 212391 549,998 /% 6528 B4
ffeaion L
Huaian Economic and Huaian Huaian Economic RIC Feb-26  Construction in progress
Technological Development and Technological
District Mingyuan Road Development
Commercial and Residential District
Project
HRNHIABRE R B4R 55% 181,588 %5 &/E/H/B/1 N7%55R B
hABRRER
Nanjing Yuhuatai District Lianggiao Nanjing Yuhuatai District RIC/OM/A May-27 Construction in progress
Central Business District Project
THRRRARREA il #hE 39% 190,387 526,553 E/8/# WBE1R EEH
SHRREAEEE
Hangzhou Yuhang District Future - Hangzhou Yuhang District RIC/O Jan-25  Construction in progress
Science and Technology City
Three Station Interchange
Complex Project
hEENEFE BEE EHE 50% 113,005 329,084 fr WB5ETA EEH
Harbin Jiuli Fanghua Harbin Nangang District R Juk25 Construction in progress
EHILTNE &5 BllE 3% 157,337 371,710 fr NUENR  Eph
Wuxi Shanhe Jiuli Wuxi Xishan District R Now-24  Construction in progress
BRER=H BH BEE 60% 56,089 239,100 f/#/2 WUEAR  EEt
Kunming Park View Mansion Il Kunming Guandu District RIO/A Apr-24 Construction in progress
KEERENES 1 BiE 100% 146,010 389,116 f£/%/8/1 WBE5A ERH
Zhuhai CR Land Plaza Zhuhai High-tech District RIOH/A May-25  Construction in progress
SNHERAREARR Ll UFHE 65% 127,131 55395 f/B/H/B/R 06535 EEt
FaREE
Zhengzhou Zhengdong Zhengzhou Zhengdong RIC/OHIA Mar-26 Construction in progress
New District Jinshui East New District
Road Complex Project
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ERYEBE

SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

i
AREEE  ABEER BOHALE
BRER (FAR)  AEER(TAR) HrERAH  ERER
Attributable
Beneficial  Approximate
Interest Total Approximately
of the Site Area Unsold Gross Estimated Date
Development Properties City District Group (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) of Completion  State of Completion
RERTZA JN: 2R 100% 53,365 366,981 f NBFIR EpA
Dalian Future City Dalian Jinzhou District R Jul28  Construction in progress
EXTELRENEAR k% BLAR 51% 102,565 337,755 E/B/% W6F1A ERh
[iEE
Huaian Qingjiangpu District Huaian Qingjiangpu District RIC/O Now-26 Construction in progress
Economic and Trade Building
FEE L Z EREE 100% 107,629 60503 f&/%&/#/B/1 W8F3F  Hged
Dongguan CR Land Center Dongguan Nancheng Street RIC/OMIA Mar-28  Construction in progress
EREEEE S E8 E8E §% 79428 235753 f WAFLR B
Qingdao Ocean Intelligent Qingdao Huangdao District R Apr-24 Construction in progress
Town Phase 4
BERMMIRALRY B8 ke 34% 119430 401,267 t/%/8 NAEIR Hie
EXERRIREER
Qingdao Shibei District Al Qingdao Shibei District RIOH Sep-24  Construction in progress
Industrial Cluster North Project
AREEER aft AREERE 100% 94,245 212,641 f WBENR Eh
R
Hefei Kunyufu Hefei Hefei Economic and R Dec-23 Construction in progress
Technological
Development
District
TRRESEE IR AER 60% kil 236,739 f NAESR R
Beijing Daxing Oak Bay Beijing Daxing District R May-24  Construction in progress
MR L4 REER 65% 1777420 706,444 /B W6528  HEe
Huizhou Xiaojing Bay Huizhou Taiya Bay District RH Feb-26 Construction in progress
ERREENE BE R 100% 5,0% 554,239 ft/E W6598 B
EfE
Hainan Shimei Bay Jiu Li Wanning Shimei Bay Tourist RH Sep-26 Construction in progress
Resort
FHERERUE eS| SR 100% 84870 234,465 /882 WBENR EEh
Taizhou CR International Taizhou Hailing District RIC/IO/A Now-23 Construction in progress
Community
BagEnl fa RUE 100% 17,308 BB &/E/H/E/D W5ENF EEh
Yantai CR Center Yantai Laishan District RIC/OM/A Nov-25  Construction in progress
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AREEE  ABEER BOHALE
S BRER (Frk)  AEER(THK) fhtEREA  ERER
Attributable
Beneficial  Approximate
Interest Total Approximately
of the Site Area Unsold Gross Estimated Date
Development Properties District Group (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type of Completion  State of Completion
AR IR ETE 59% 4,686 262,641 fb/5 065127 ERF
Beijing Future City Beijing Changping District RO Dec-26  Construction in progress
EELENE EF WINE 100% 200,112 357,034 ft/%/2 07588 ERA
Chongging Park Land Chongging Liangjiang RIO/A Aug-27  Construction in progress
New District
FERZESLR 1 Fill 30% 21332 784,904 B/R 09588 ER4
Zhuhai Hengin Mixc World Zhuhai Xiangzhou District A Aug-29  Construction in progress
RERRR Y-S R 60% 107,54 248301 /3 w3528 8R4
FEE
Wuhan Crown Land Wuhan East Lake New RO Feb-23  Construction in progress
Technology
Development
District
HERELRAR i HEE 100% 162,781 385,551 E/8/% 06527 EEh
FaRER
Hangzhou Gongshu District Hangzhou Gongshu District RIC/O Feb-26  Construction in progress
Huafeng Paper Factory
Complex Project
SNREERNRE L PRE 60% 136,531 594,967 /R W5E7R B
Zhengzhou Kunyufu Zhengzhou Zhongyuan District RIA Juk25 Construction in progress
pN:3lif pN:: il 49% 109,678 230,191 fr NUESR  Eph
Tianjin Lane Mansion Tianjin Hexi District R Aug-24  Construction in progress
ERMIMERERALEE  ER ThE 50% 69,093 237901 E/8/2 5598 ERH
Chongaing Jiangbei District Chongaing Jiangbei District RICIA Sep-25  Construction in progress

Guanyingiao Commercial
and Residential Project
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A AR AR GROUP’S RESULTS
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ARETRT ARETT ARETRE AR®TR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(fmE5) (& E7) (=51
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
Urzs Revenue 212,108,358 179,587,269 148,167,235 121,499,799 101,999,097
BRAE A Profit before taxation 60,365,758 60,172,049 61,144,975 51,911,108 39,410,946
Pt Income tax expenses (22,970,370) (26,081,775 (26,681,970) (24,499,102) (17,673,782)
EREH Profit for the year 37,395,388 34,090,274 34,463,005 27,412,006 21,737,164
AT AT B Attributable to:
ARAHEEA Owners of the Company 32,401,239 29,809,959 28,783,682 24,372,632 19,677,292
KEBRTIABEA Owners of perpetual capital
instruments = 220,569 289,224 287,625 -
FEERR S Non-controlling interests 4,994,149 4,059,746 5,390,099 2,751,749 2,059,872
37,395,388 34,000,274 34,463,005 27,412,006 21,737,164
AEEEENRAE GROUP’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ARETRE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(s &7) (g E=51) (s E=51)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
WE - BB &E Property, plant and equipment 15,427,154 14,095,322 11,130,699 11,048,462 8,689,919
EREEE Right-of-use assets 6,239,461 5,816,935 4,674,492 - -
REWE Investment properties 217,530,118 187,379,425 161,214,781 128,761,308 100,562,444
B AE Intangible assets 76,356 40,913 424,977 407,579 421,662
T A RE Land use rights - - - 3,233,200 2,824,004
S Goodwill 11,544 11,544 11,544 11,544 11,544
RHIGE Long-term investments 63,100,490 54,551,465 41,962,226 32,051,319 13,550,142
BATEFABRZ Financial assets at FVPL
SREE 152,374 150,124 - 49,030 7,022
TSI A Derivative financial instruments - - 12,220 - -
THER Time deposits 2,474,608 - - - -
EmBEERN Prepayments for
WIA non-current assets 1,525,343 2,121,759 3,307,284 1,209,723 777,576
EERBEE Deferred taxation assets 11,214,154 10,306,764 8,640,760 7,191,154 4,897,915
JEL RS R 5 3R Amounts due from related parties 11,992,508 14,297,323 12,216,802 10,399,383 14,921,572
U ST R i 25 2R Amounts due from
non-controlling interests 4,787,416 6,216,637 3,199,816 1,659,818 1,926,192
MEBEE Current assets 615,272,738 574,053,189 523,092,954 463,825,183 334,126,704
MR Total assets 949,804,264 869,041,400 769,888,555 659,847,703 482,716,696
MEEE Current liabilities 464,627,187 443,850,606 394,952,330 350,147,694 240,373,095
REAE Long-term liabilities 163,948,179 144,481,815 119,311,557 111,847,872 84,119,376
ELEFEAE Deferred taxation liabilities 29,152,924 24,466,801 19,833,838 15,426,264 12,397,579
BEE Total liabilities 657,728,290 612,799,222 534,097,725 477,421,830 336,890,050
292,075,974 256,242,178 235,790,830 182,425,873 145,826,646
/NI = DN L) Equity attributable to owners of
% the Company 226,529,270 203,458,128 175,892,392 140,096,939 121,304,854
KEBARTA Perpetual capital instruments - - 10,000,000 5,000,000 -
TR Non-controlling interests 65,546,704 52,784,050 49,898,438 37,328,934 24,521,792
292,075,974 256,242,178 235,790,830 182,425,873 145,826,646
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